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IMPORTANT NOTICE 

This Prospectus has been prepared by the Company in connection with the Listing of the Shares on Euronext Expand and in order to provide information 

about the Group and its business. 

This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75, as amended (the "Norwegian Securities 

Trading Act") and related secondary legislation, including Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on 

the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and as implemented in Norway in 

accordance with Section 7-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). This Prospectus has been prepared solely in the 

English language. This Prospectus has been approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet) (the "Norwegian FSA"), as 

competent authority under the EU Prospectus Regulation. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, 

comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation, and such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the issuer 

or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the 

securities.  

The information contained herein is current as at the date hereof and subject to change, completion and amendment without notice. In accordance with 

Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, significant new factors, material mistakes or inaccuracies relating to the information included in this Prospectus, 

which are capable of affecting the assessment by investors between the time of approval of this Prospectus by the Norwegian FSA and the Listing on 

Euronext Expand, will be included in a supplement to this Prospectus. Neither the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus shall under any 

circumstances imply that there has been no change in the Group’s affairs or that the information herein is correct as at any date subsequent to the date 

of this Prospectus. 

No person is authorized to give information or to make any representation concerning the Group or in connection with the Listing or the Shares other than 

as contained in this Prospectus. If any such information is given or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company or by any 

of the affiliates, representatives, advisors of the foregoing. 

No Shares or any other securities are being offered or sold in any jurisdiction pursuant to this Prospectus. The distribution of this Prospectus in certain 

jurisdictions may be restricted by law. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to purchase, subscribe or sell, any of the securities 

described herein. No one has taken any action that would permit a public offering of the Shares. Accordingly, neither this Prospectus nor any advertisement 

may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. The 

Company requires persons in possession of this Prospectus to inform themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions. In addition, the Shares are 

subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and 

regulations. Investors should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this investment for an indefinite period of time. Any failure 

to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of applicable securities laws. See Section 14 "Transfer restrictions".  

Any reproduction or distribution of this Prospectus, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its content is prohibited. 

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination, and analysis of, and enquiry into the Group, including the 

merits and risks involved. Neither the Company nor any of its representatives or advisers, are making any representation to any offeree or purchaser of 

the Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Shares by such offeree or purchaser under the laws applicable to such offeree or purchaser. Each 

investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares. 

All Sections of the Prospectus should be read in context with the information included in Section 4 "General Information". Investing in the Shares involves 

certain risks. See section 2 "Risk Factors". For definitions of certain other terms used throughout this Prospectus, see Section Error! Reference source 

not found. "Definitions and glossary".  

Fearnley Securities AS (the "Listing Advisor") acts as Listing Advisor in connection with the Listing.  

This Prospectus shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The courts of Norway, with Oslo as legal venue, shall have exclusive 

jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in connection with the Listing or this Prospectus. 

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES 

The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. As a result, the rights of holders of the Shares will be governed 

by Norwegian law and the Company's articles of association (the "Articles of Association"). The rights of shareholders under Norwegian law may differ 

from the rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions.  

The members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board Members" and the "Board of Directors", respectively) and the members of the Company's 

senior executive management team are not residents of the United States of America (the "U.S." or "United States"), and all of the Company's assets 

are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be very difficult for investors in the United States to effect service of process on the Company, 

the Board Members and members of management in the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts against the Company or those 

persons, whether predicated upon civil liability provisions of federal securities laws or other laws of the United Stated (including any State or territory 

within the United States).  

The United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgements (other than arbitral 

awards) in civil and commercial matters. Uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Norway will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including 

the United States, against the Company or its Board Members or members of management under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain 

actions in Norway against the Company or its Board Members or members of management under the securities laws of other jurisdictions. In addition, 

awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may not be enforceable in Norway.  

Similar restrictions may apply in other jurisdictions. 
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1 SUMMARY  

INTRODUCTION 

Warning…………………………… This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus. Any decision 

to invest in the securities should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus 

as a whole by the investor. An investment in the Shares involves inherent risk 

and the investor could lose all or part of its invested capital. Where a claim 

relating to the information contained in this Prospectus is brought before a court, 

the plaintiff investor might, under national law, have to bear the costs of 

translating the Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated. Civil liability 

attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary including any 

translation thereof, but only where the summary is misleading, inaccurate or 

inconsistent, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, or where 

it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, 

key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in 

such securities. 

Securities………………………… The Company has one class of shares in issue. The Shares are registered in book-

entry form with the VPS and have ISIN NO 0010713571. 

Issuer……………………………… The Company's registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business 

Enterprises is 996 819 884 and its Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) is 

529900E9W21TGMWZ7430. The Company's registered office is located at 

Koppholen 25, 4313 Sandnes, Norway. The Company's website can be found at 

www.soiltech.no and its telephone number is +47 480 20 555. 

Competent authority………… The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet), with 

registration number 840 747 972 and registered address at Revierstredet 3, 

0151 Oslo, Norway, and telephone number (+47) 22 93 98 00 has reviewed and, 

on 10 September 2024, approved this Prospectus. 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

Who is the issuer of the securities?  

Corporate information……… The Company is a public limited liability company organised and existing under 

the laws of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. 

The Company was incorporated in Norway on 24 March 2011 as a private limited 

liability company and transformed to a public limited liability company following 

the extraordinary general meeting held on 4 July 2024 and registration of such 

in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, and its registration number in 

the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 996 819 884and its Legal Entity 

Identifier (LEI) is 529900E9W21TGMWZ7430. 

Principal activities……………. Soiltech is a technology company specializing in the treatment, recycling and 

sustainable handling of contaminated water and solid industrial waste at site. 

The Company operates world-wide and is headquartered in Sandnes, Norway. 

The Company has 129 employees. 

Major 

shareholders…………… 

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the 

Company's share capital which is notifiable pursuant to the Norwegian Securities 

Trading Act. Table 1 below sets forth shareholders owning 5% or more of the 

shares in the Company as of 6 September 2024 and before completion of the 

Merger (as defined below). 

Table 1 – Major shareholders 

# Shareholders Number of Shares Percent 

1 HILDR AS 796 150 10.75 

2 WELLEX AS 742 730 10.03 

3 KNATTEN I AS 700 325 9.46 

4 Carnegie Investment Bank AB 661 980 8.94 

5 SKAGENKAIEN INVESTERING AS 541 380 7.31 

6 TVETERAAS INVEST AS 521 710 7.04 
 

http://www.soiltech.no/
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Executive management…… The Company's executive management (the "Management") consists of 3 

individuals. The names of the executive members of the Management and their 

respective positions are presented in Table 2 below.  

Table 2 – Overview of the Management 

Name Current position within the Company 

Jan Erik Tveteraas Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

Tove Vestlie Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 

Glenn Åsland Chief Operating Officer (COO) 

  
 

Independant 

auditor……………… 

The Company's independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS ("PwC"), 

with company registration number 987 009 713 and registered business address 

at Dronning Eufemias gate 71, 0194 Oslo, Norway.  

What is the key financial information regarding the issuer? 

In 2023, the Company decided to convert its financial reporting from Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles ("NGAAP") to StandardsIFRS© Accounting Standards, as adopted by the EU ("IFRS"). As such, the 

Company has prepared audited annual consolidated financial statements for the financial years 31 December 

2023 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 December 

2022 (the "IFRS Financial Statements"). Further, the Company has prepared audited annual consolidated 

financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 in accordance with NGAAP (the 

"2022 NGAAP Financial Statements" and “2021 NGAAP Financial Statements” respectively, and 

together with the IFRS Financial Statements, the "Annual Financial Statements"). 

Moreover, the Company has prepared unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the six-month 

periods ended 30 June 2024 with comparable figures for the same period in 2023 (the "Interim Financial 

Statements", and together with the Annual Financial Statements, the "Financial Statements") in accordance 

with International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", as adopted by the EU ("IAS 34"). 

The Interim Financial Statements for the three and six month period ended 30 June 2024 has been subject to 

a limited scope audit by the Company's auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, in relation to the Listing on 

Euronext Expand.  

Table 3 below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company’s consolidated statement of 

income for the year ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the 

financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December 

2022 and 2021) and for the six-month periods ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 (prepared in accordance with 

IAS 34). 

Table 3 – Key Financials – 

Income Statement 
 

Three-month period 

ended 30 June 

Six-month period 

ended 30 June Year ended 31 December 

(Amounts in NOK thousands)  

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP  

Audited 

Total operating income  69 688 64 470  125 715   104 887   229 279   178 170   178 170   136 646  

Operating profit/loss  6 774 9 403 11 482   12 037  40 170   22 678   22 396   15 557  

Profit/loss before income tax  2 713 7 655 5 794  9 260   32 280   18 803   18 791   14 275  

Profit/loss for the year  2 388 5 618  4 735   7 222  27 411   14 657   14 648   10 888  

 

Table 4 below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company's consolidated balance sheet as 

at 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the financial years ended 31 

December 2023 and 2022 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021) and as at 

30 June 2024 (prepared in accordance with IAS 34). 

Table 4 – Key Financials – Financial Position 
 

As at 30 

June 
As at 31 December 

(Amounts in NOK thousands)  

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP  

Audited 

Total assets   411 914   350 681   269 818   276 492   212 844  

Total equity   175 890   170 565   142 460   142 953   113 249  

Total liabilities   236 023   180 116   127 359   133 539   99 594  

Total equity and liabilities   411 914   350 681   269 818   276 492   212 844  

 

Table 5 below sets out key financial information extracted from the Company’s consolidated statement of cash 

flow for the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021 (prepared in accordance with IFRS for the financial 
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years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 and NGAAP for the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 

2021) and for the six-month periods ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 (prepared in accordance with IAS 34). 

Table 5 – Key Financials – Cash flow 

statement  

Six-month period 

ended 30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

(Amounts in NOK thousands)  

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP  

Audited 

Net cash flow from operating activities   7 221   5 128   36 748   45 716   43 974   12 599  

Net cash flow from investing activities   (27 508)  (28 754) (64 028) (49 117) (49 117) (24 440) 

Net cash flow from financing activities   18 981   204   15 231   3 019   4 761   10 375  

Cash balance start of period   26 783   38 832   38 832   39 232   39 232   40 696  

Cash balance end of period   25 477   15 410   26 783   38 832   38 832   39 232  
 

 

What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer?  

Material risk factors………… 
 

• Clients may terminate purchase orders and work orders for 

convenience, implying that future revenues may be uncertain and/or 

may change substantially from initial expectations or estimates.  
 

• The Company's client concentration exposes the Group to of losing one 

or more of these clients. 
 

• Fluctuations in the Company's order backlog can significantly affect the 

Group's financial performance and operational stability. 
 

• Unexpected malfunctions of the Group's equipment and components 

may significantly affect the intended operational efficiency of the 

equipment. 
 

• Any failures, material delays or unexpected costs related to the 

implementation of the Group's strategies could have a material adverse 

effect on the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, 

financial condition and/or prospects 
 

• Negative publicity related to the Group could, regardless of its 

truthfulness, adversely affect the Group's reputation and goodwill. 
 

• Some of the Group's competitors have more resources which could allow 

them to better withstand industry downturns. 
 

 

• Although the Company has performed due diligence investigations in 

connection with the Merger (as defined below), some risks may not be 

known or disclosed by Oceanteam ASA and its owners, including with 

respect to legal matters such as tax and disputes. 
 

• Unexpected capital investment requirements and downtime in relation 

to the Groupʹs assets, e.g. related to maintenance, replacements or 

upgrades, could negatively impact the net earnings and financial 

position of the Group. 
 

• Changes in oil and gas market conditions (incl. oil prices, investments, 

regulatory changes, natural disasters, regulatory environment (ESG), 

the invasion of Ukraine, and other macro factors could have negative 

impact on the Group’s operation and financial results 
 

• Changes in the tax legislation of the jurisdictions in which the Group 

operates, or in the interpretation thereof, could negatively affect the 

Groupʹ financial position 
 

• Failure to comply with covenants under the Groupʹs financing 

agreements could trigger claims for immediate repayment. 
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KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES  

What are the main features of the securities?  

Type, class and ISIN………. All of the Shares are ordinary shares in the Company and have been created 

under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Shares are registered 

in book-entry form with the VPS and have ISIN NO 0010713571. 

Currency, par value and 

number of securities………… 

The Shares will be traded in NOK on Euronext Expand. As of the date of this 

Prospectus, the Company's share capital is NOK 1,031,339.01 divided into 

7,933,377 Shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.13. 

Rights attached to the 

securities…………………………. 

The Company has one class of shares in issue, and in accordance with the 

Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, all shares in that class provide equal 

rights in the Company, including the rights to dividends. Each of the Shares 

carries one vote. 

Transfer restrictions………… The Shares are freely transferable. The Articles of Association do not provide for 

any restrictions on the transfer of Shares, or a right of first refusal for the Shares. 

Share transfers are not subject to approval by the Board of Directors. 

Dividend and dividend 

policy………………………………… 

The Company is a growth company and is aiming at a continued growth, and 

plans to take advantage of market opportunities and reinvest the generated cash 

in profitable projects and enhanced service capacity. Any decision to distribute 

dividends will be based on the financial development of the Company and its 

financial position at the time a proposal to distribute dividend is put forward. 

Where will the securities be traded?  

The Shares have been trading on Euronext NOTC, a marketplace for unlisted shares operated by Oslo Børs 

since 19 October 2021 under the ticker code "SOIL" with ISIN NO 0010713571. On 26 July 2024, the Company 

applied for the Shares to be admitted to trading and Listing on Euronext Expand. The Company's listing 

application was approved by Oslo Børs on 27 August 2024. Upon Listing, the Shares will be deregistered from 

Euronext NOTC and will be admitted to trading through the facilities of Oslo Børs. Trading in the Shares on 

Euronext Expand is expected to commence on or about 11 September 2024, under the ticker code "STECH". 

What are the key risks that are specific to the securities?  

Material risk factors………… • There may not be an active and liquid market for the Shares and the 

Share price could fluctuate significantly 
 

• Future issuances of Shares or other securities, including through 

exercise of financial instruments, could dilute the holdings of 

shareholders and materially affect the price of the Shares 
 

• Laws and regulations as well as the Company's existing or future debt 

arrangements could limit its ability to declare and distribute dividends 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC AND THE ADMISSION TO TRADING 

ON A REGULATED MARKET 

Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security?  

Admission to trading………… On 26 July 2024, the Company applied for admission to trading and Listing of its 

Shares on Euronext Expand. Oslo Børs approved the listing application on 27 

August 2024. The Company expects commencement of trading in the Shares on 

Euronext Expand on or about 11 September 2024.  

  

Why is this prospectus being produced?  

Reasons for the Listing…… The main reasons for the Listing are as follows:  

• to facilitate greater liquidity in the Shares;  
 

• to attract new prospective shareholders in order to build a more 

diversified shareholder base; 
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• to enhance profile with investors, business partners and customers; and 
 

• improved access to the capital markets for financing of potential growth 

opportunities in the future. 
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2 RISK FACTORS  

An investment in the Company and the Shares involves inherent risk. Investors should carefully consider the risk 

factors and all information contained in this Prospectus, including the financial statements and related notes. The 

risks and uncertainties described in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are the material known risks and uncertainties faced 

by the Group as of the date hereof that the Company believes are the material risks relevant to an investment in 

the Shares. An investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risks associated with this 

type of investment and who can afford to lose all or part of their investment. 

The risk factors included in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are presented in a limited number of categories, where each 

risk factor is sought placed in the most appropriate category based on the nature of the risk it represents. Within 

each category, the risk factors deemed most material for the Group, taking into account their potential negative 

affect for the Company and its subsidiaries and the probability of their occurrence, are set out first. This does not 

mean that the remaining risk factors are ranked in order of their materiality or comprehensibility, nor based on a 

probability of their occurrence. The absence of negative past experience associated with a given risk factor does not 

mean that the risks and uncertainties in that risk factor are not genuine and potential threats, and they should 

therefore be considered prior to making an investment decision. If any of the following risks were to materialize, 

either individually, cumulatively or together with other circumstances, it could have a material adverse effect on the 

Group and/or its business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects, which may cause 

a decline in the value and trading price of the Shares, resulting in loss of all or part of an investment in the Shares. 

 Risks related to the business of the Group and the industry in which it operates 

 The Company relies on existing contracts with clients to carry out its business 

The Company's existing contracts with clients are frame agreements with a typical duration of three to five years 

with extension options.  See Section 8.4 "Clients" and Section 8.11 "Contracts of importance" for certain existing 

customer contracts relevant for the Group's business.  

Under these frame agreements, the clients issue purchase orders or work orders for specific projects, typically with 

a duration subject to the duration of the rig's drilling programme. In line with industry standards, the clients may 

terminate purchase orders and work orders for convenience. In case of termination, the Company shall typically be 

compensated for services performed to date plus any demobilization costs. These terms imply that future revenues 

may be uncertain and/or may change substantially from initial expectations or estimates. Lower revenues can have 

a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or 

prospects.  

 Client concentration risk 

The Company's top three clients, including Equinor, Transocean, and Wellesley account for approximately 53% of 

its revenue based on year-to-date Q2 2024 figures. The revenues stem from ten different projects, each with a 

separate purchase order. Such concentration of clients exposes the Group to risk, including the risk of losing one or 

more of these clients. As previously mentioned, the frame agreements do not guarantee a fixed duration and may 

be terminated without cause. If one of these major clients were to terminate a significant number of purchase orders 

or terminate their frame agreements, without the Company being able to secure contracts with new clients, the 

Company would experience a significant drop in revenues. Any failure by the Company to maintain strong 

relationships with its key clients, while also diversifying its customer base, may have a material adverse effect on 

revenues and future financial performance. 

 The Company is exposed to risk related to reductions or fluctuations in the order backlog 

The Company's order backlog represents the estimated value of orders received but not yet fulfilled. Fluctuations in 

the order backlog can significantly affect the Group's financial performance and operational stability. Several factors 

can cause changes in the order backlog, including but not limited to market conditions, customer demand, project 

delays and cancellations. 

For example, project delays can arise from a variety of factors, such as regulatory hurdles, logistical challenges, 

supply chain disruptions, and unforeseen technical difficulties. The Group's projects often involve complex 

environmental and technical challenges unique to the contaminated water and industrial waste streams handled by 

it. Unforeseen issues, such as contamination levels exceeding initial assessments or unexpected site conditions, can 

cause significant project delays or require changes in scope. These challenges can lead to postponements or 

cancellations, directly impacting the Group's order backlog, which in turn may lead to the postponement of revenue 

recognition and increased costs. Cancellations may result in loss of anticipated revenue and potential penalties or 

costs e.g. incurred from early termination of contracts. 

Economic downturns, changes in environmental regulations or shifts in industry practices can furthermore lead to 

reduced order intake or order cancellations. As a waste management service provider, the Group's operations are 
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heavily influenced by environmental regulations and compliance requirements. Changes in regulatory frameworks, 

the introduction of stricter environmental standards, or the delay in obtaining necessary permits can adversely affect 

the Group's order backlog. Compliance with new regulations might require significant modifications to the Group's 

existing services, causing delays and potential cancellations of orders while trying to adapt to new standards. An 

economic slowdown in the Group's key markets can decrease customers' budgets for environmental services, leading 

to delays or cancellations of orders. Additionally, rapid changes in environmental standards or industry practices 

might render the Group's services less in demand, reducing future orders. 

Significant reductions or fluctuations in the Group's order backlog may, inter alia, adversely affect its revenue, 

operations, financial prospects and reputation.  

 The Group is exposed to operational hazards and risks 

The Group delivers drilling waste management services on location to its customers, including slop treatment 

services, cuttings handling and cleaning services. Such services include various types of equipment which are 

operated by the Group's personnel. The equipment may, upon commencement of operations, suffer unexpected 

malfunctions from time to time and will be dependent on repairs and spare parts to resume operations, which may 

not be available in the short term. Unexpected malfunctions of products and components may significantly affect 

the intended operational efficiency of the equipment. Operational performance and costs can be difficult to predict 

and are often influenced by factors outside of the Group's control, such as environmental hazards and remediation, 

costs associated with decommissioning of equipment, labor disputes and strikes, difficulty or delays in obtaining 

governmental permits, damages or defects in electronic systems, industrial accidents, fire, and natural disasters. 

Should any of these risks or other risks materialize in relation to the Group's services, it may result in the death of, 

or injury to personnel, loss of equipment, damage to treatment facilities, monetary losses, delays and unanticipated 

fluctuations in waste treatment and waste handling, environmental damage, administrative fines, increased 

insurance costs and potential legal liabilities, all which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's reputation, 

business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition or prospects. 

  The Group may not be able to successfully implement its strategies 

The Group aims to be a market leading provider of drilling waste management services with a complete range of 

technologies and aims to strengthen its position further by focusing on three key objectives: (i) expanding delivery 

to existing clients across the Group’s full technology portfolio, (ii) geographical expansion to address global demand 

and (iii) introducing new technologies to enable additional revenue streams. For information about the Group's 

initiatives to achieve these objectives, refer to Section 8.2 "Strategy and objectives". 

Achieving these objectives involves inherent costs and uncertainties. In connection with expansion of the Company’s 

delivery to existing clients, barriers may arise in terms of rig configuration, rig access and tender frequency. Clients' 

rig configurations determine the compatibility, costs, and scalability of new technology, while rig access affects 

logistical feasibility and installation timelines. Additionally, the clients' tender frequency dictates how often new 

technology can be introduced and whether market competition supports or limits its expansion. These factors may 

ultimately constrain the opportunities for the Company's onshore support team and field personnel to broaden its 

scope of work with existing clients.   

With regards to geographical expansion, key challenges include access to qualified local personnel, adaption to local 

requirements, and the establishment of local offices. Talent shortages and high recruitment costs may make it 

difficult to attract and retain qualified local personnel. Adapting the Group's products and services to meet local 

requirements may involve significant costs for modifications and ongoing compliance. Setting up local offices also 

entails substantial expenses for office, warehouse, and yard infrastructure, and utilities. These factors may ultimately 

constrain the Company's opportunities to follow its clients into new geo-markets.  

Introducing new technologies represent several challenges, including the need for Company personnel with 

technology competence, adequate in-house testing facilities, access to client field trials, and achieving approval of 

the new technology by the certification authority. Talent shortages and high demand for technology experts can lead 

to intense competition, driving up salaries and making it difficult to attract qualified personnel. Developing and 

maintaining testing facilities requires significant investment in equipment, technology, and infrastructure. Field trials 

can be resource-intensive, demanding substantial investments in time, personnel, and equipment, which may strain 

Company resources. Certification processes can be lengthy, involving multiple stages of review, testing, and 

documentation, which can delay time to market. These factors may ultimately constrain the Company's opportunities 

for introducing new technologies and expanding its offerings into other industry verticals.  

The Group may therefore be unable to achieve its objectives and scale as planned within its expected timeframe, or 

potentially at all. Additionally, the costs related to the Group's objectives may exceed expected levels. The Company 

has made certain assumptions about the costs and funding requirements to grow and optimize its operations. If the 

Company's estimates are incorrect, it could lead to the need for additional financing sooner than expected and/or 

the Company may not be able to achieve the estimated profitability in accordance with its scaling plan. 
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The Group's strategies may also be affected by factors beyond its control, such as volatility in the world economy 

and in its markets, the capital expenditure and investment by customers and the availability of acquisition 

opportunities. One of the challenges faced by the Group is for example the anticipated decrease in demand for oil 

and gas as it is gradually replaced with renewable energy. Consequently, the demand for the Group’s waste 

management technologies and solutions from the oil and gas industry may decline in the future.  

Any failures, material delays or unexpected costs related to the implementation of the Group's strategies could have 

a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or 

prospects. 

 The Group is dependent on goodwill, reputation and on maintaining good relationships with customers, 

partners, suppliers and employees 

The Group depends on goodwill, reputation and on maintaining good relationships with customers, partners, 

suppliers and employees. Negative publicity related to the Group could, regardless of its truthfulness, adversely 

affect the Group's reputation and goodwill. Although the offshore services provided by the Group are not on critical 

line in the rig operation and not related to well operations as such, negative reputational publicity may arise from a 

broad variety of causes, including incidents and occurrences outside the Group's control which is especially true for 

the oil and gas industry where the risk of health, safety, quality, and environment incidents are more apparent than 

in other sectors. The Group's reputation and goodwill may be affected by negative publicity caused by such incidents, 

which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group. Negative publicity could further jeopardize the 

Group's relationships with customers and suppliers or diminish the Group's attractiveness as a potential investment 

opportunity. In addition, negative publicity could cause any customers of the Group to purchase services from the 

Group's competitors, and thus decrease the demand for the Group's services. Any circumstances that publicly 

damage the Group's goodwill, injure the Group's reputation or damage the Group's business relationships, may lead 

to a broader adverse effect in addition to any monetary liability arising directly from the damaging events by way of 

loss of business, goodwill, customers, partners and employees. 

 Competitive conditions 

The Group operates primarily in the oil and gas industry which is highly competitive and includes several large, 

medium sized and small service companies competing in the markets where the Group operates. For an overview of 

the Group's competitors and the technologies possessed by them, refer to Section 8.5 "Competition and Competitive 

strengths".  

The Company has a well-established position within drilling waste management in Europe (including Norway), with 

a market share of around 59% in the treatment of contaminated water (STT) in Norway. 1 However, outside of 

Europe, it currently holds a small market share, indicating that its operations beyond Europe are particularly 

vulnerable to competitive pressures.  

While the Group offers services that its competitors do not, most of its competitors also provide both cleaning 

services and cuttings handling, which heightens the vulnerability of these offerings to competitive pressures. This 

poses a risk to the Group, as cuttings handling is the second-largest revenue contributor as of 30 June 2024 (around 

24% share of consolidated revenues).2 

Additionally, the Group's main competitors, SLB (Schlumberger) and Halliburton, are among the largest global 

players in the industry. These competitors have significant global market shares and strong brand recognition, 

making it difficult for smaller companies like Soiltech to enter and compete in the global market. The Group's main 

competitors also have greater resources enabling them to better withstand industry downturns, compete more 

effectively based on technology and geographic scope, and retain skilled personnel. The Group's operations may be 

materially adversely affected if its current competitors or new market entrants introduce new technologies or services 

with better features, performance, prices or other characteristics than the Group's products and services. 

Competitive pressures or other factors may also result in significant price competition, particularly during industry 

downturns, which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and financial 

condition. 

 Risks related to the Merger 

All mergers involve a certain degree of risks, and although the Company has performed due diligence investigations 

in connection with the Merger (as defined below), some risks may not be known or disclosed by Oceanteam ASA 

("Oceanteam") and its owners, including with respect to legal matters such as tax and disputes. Through the 

Merger, the Company has as the acquiring company also acquired liabilities and other exposures relating to the 

previous business of Oceanteam and which stems from periods prior to completion of the Merger.  

The Company’s protection against such uncertainties, liabilities and other exposures under the relevant transaction 

 
1 Source: Company and Fearnley Securities (August 2024) 
2 Source: Company information 
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agreements is uncertain, and primarily protected through prior due diligence investigations and any undertakings 

provided in transaction agreements from Oceanteam. Liabilities and other exposures may accordingly have a 

material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, cash flows, financial conditions and/or prospects of 

the Group. Further details regarding the Merger are included in Section 4.3 "The Merger". 

 Risks related to the Group's equipment 

The Group may experience unexpected capital investments related to its equipment, due to age, maintenance status, 

change in regulations, customer requirements or other factors. Such capital investments may include enhanced 

maintenance, replacement or upgrades of the equipment, the cost of which may be higher than expected. Should 

such unexpected investments occur, this may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of 

operations and financial condition. This risk is particularly relevant for the Group as several of the Company's water 

treatment units (STT) are aging, increasing the likelihood of more frequent and costly maintenance, as well as the 

potential for exceeding cost and downtime expectations.  

Additionally, the transport of the Group's equipment between the client rig sites and the Company's warehouse 

presents an increased risk of damage due to frequent lifting operations involving cranes. These operations include 

the transfer of equipment onto rigs, from rigs to supply boats, from supply boats to trucks, and from trucks to the 

Company's warehouse. While the Company carries insurance to mitigate damage costs, less the deductible, repairs 

my take longer than anticipated, and replacement equipment may not always be readily available. This could lead 

to a loss of income or, in the worst case, the termination of contracts. Such outcomes could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company's business, results of operations, and financial condition.  

 Macroeconomic risks 

 The Group is exposed to risk related to the oil and gas price, geopolitical instability and the global energy 

transition  

The Group provides a wide range of waste management technologies and services to the oil and gas industry, making 

it dependent on the demand for these resources. Several factors may influence the demand for oil and gas, including 

energy prices, geopolitical instability, and energy mixt development.  

High oil and gas prices may encourage consumers and industries to seek alternatives, reducing the demand for these 

resources. 

Political instability in key-oil and gas-producing regions can disrupt supply chains, affecting global prices and 

demand. An illustrative example is the Russian military invasion of Ukraine. Although the length, impact and outcome 

of the ongoing war is highly unpredictable, the conflict could lead to significant market and other disruptions, 

including significant volatility in commodity prices, financial markets, supply chain interruptions, and changes in 

consumer or purchaser preferences. Although the Group's operations are not located in either Russia or Ukraine, its 

business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations depend upon commodity prices, especially oil, gas 

and steel prices, which have been affected by the war.  

While the waste management market is generally driven by the increased need to decarbonize operations in the oil 

and gas industry, the shift towards decarbonization and low-carbon economy is driving long-term structural changes 

in energy consumption patterns favoring renewables over fossil fuels.  

Geopolitical instability, global market disruptions, changes in the mix of energy sources and a focus on transitioning 

to lower-carbon energy systems will likely alter the future of the oil and gas industry across the planet. This may 

have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, cash flows, financial conditions and/or 

prospects of the Group. 

 Risks related to laws, regulations and compliance 

 Risks related to tax legislation  

The Group is subject to prevailing tax legislation, treaties, and regulations in the jurisdictions where it operates, 

including those with frequent changes in tax laws, such as Mexico. The Group's income tax expenses are based upon 

its interpretation of the tax laws in effect at the time that the expenses are incurred. If tax laws, treaties, or 

regulations change, or if the Group's interpretation differs from that of relevant tax authorities, e.g. in Mexico, this 

could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition. In 

jurisdictions like Mexico, where tax laws are more prone to changes, the risks are heightened. Any successfull 

challenge by tax authorities to the Group's operational structure, pricing policies or interpretation of local tax 

regulations, or an unfavourable resolution of a tax dispute, could lead to a substantial increase in the Group's 

effective tax rate. Such outcomes could significantly impact the Group's business, earnings, cash flows, and overall 

financial condition. Given the volatility of tax regulations in countries like Mexico, these risks are especially relevant 

for the Group's operations and long-term financial planning.  
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 Risks related to financial matters  

 Current and future debt arrangements could limit the Group's liquidity and flexibility and a breach of 

covenants under related loan agreements impose certain risks 

The Group’s financing agreements consist of a loan facility with Rogaland Sparebank of NOK 115.5 million, a loan 

with Innovasjon Norge of NOK 2.5 million, a financial lease agreement with Sparebank1 SR-Bank of NOK 53.8 million, 

and a financial lease agreement with Nordea Finance Equipment of NOK 2.2 million. Further information regarding 

said financing arrangements have been included in Section 11.7.5 "Financing arrangements". The financing 

agreements impose certain undertakings and covenants upon the Group, including maximum loan to EBITDA, book 

equity and dividend restrictions. Any such existing or future arrangements could limit the Group's liquidity and 

flexibility in obtaining additional financing and/or in pursuing other business opportunities. Further, the Group's 

future ability to obtain bank financing or to access the capital markets for any future debt or equity offerings may 

be limited by the Group's financial condition at the time of such financing or offering, as well as by adverse market 

conditions related to, for example, general economic conditions and contingencies and uncertainties that are beyond 

the Group's control. Failure by the Group to obtain funds for future capital expenditures could impact the Group's 

results, financial condition, cash flows and prospects. 

Should any Group company breach any of the above covenants, a default or cross-default may occur, meaning that 

the Group may have to repay the loan in full. A full redemption of one or more of the facilities may have a material 

adverse effect on the Group's business, results, cash flow, financial condition and prospects.  

 Risks related to the Shares and the Listing 

 There may not be an active and liquid market for the Shares and the Share price could fluctuate significantly 

An investment in the Shares is associated with a high degree of risk and the price of the Shares may not develop 

favorably. The Shares have not been listed on a regulated market prior to the Listing. Prior to the Listing, the Shares 

were admitted to trading on Euronext NOTC, an unregulated marketplace owned and operated by Oslo Børs. There 

can be no assurance that an active and liquid trading market for the Shares will develop or be sustained following 

Listing. If such market fails to develop or be sustained, it could have a negative impact on the price of the Shares. 

Investors may not be in a position to sell their shares quickly, at the market price or at all if there is no active trading 

in the Shares. 

The share prices of companies admitted to trading on Euronext Expand can be highly volatile and the trading volume 

and price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly. Some of the factors that could negatively affect the Share price 

or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of the Shares include, for example, changes in the Group's 

actual or projected results of operations or those of its competitors, changes in earnings projections or failure to 

meet investors' and analysts' earnings expectations, investors' evaluations of the success and effects of the Group's 

strategy, as well as the evaluation of the related risks, changes in general economic conditions or the equities 

markets generally, changes in the industries in which the Group operates, changes in shareholders and other factors. 

Such changes may occur without regard to the operating performance of the Group and due to factors, that have 

little or nothing to do with the Group and may materially affect the pricing of the Shares.  

 Future issuances of Shares or other securities could dilute the holdings of shareholders and could materially 

affect the price of the Shares 

The Company may in the future decide to offer and issue new Shares or other securities to finance new capital-

intensive projects, in connection with unanticipated liabilities or expenses or for any other purposes. This could e.g. 

take place in the form of a private placement and/or offering. The Company may also choose to issue consideration 

shares to fund acquisitions, etc. Depending on the structure of any future offering of shares, certain existing 

shareholders may not have the ability to purchase additional equity securities. An issuance of additional equity 

securities or securities with rights to convert into equity could reduce the market price of the Shares and would 

dilute the economic and voting rights of the existing shareholders if made without granting subscription rights to 

existing shareholders.  

As further described under Section 12.5 "Share incentive programs", the Company has furthermore implemented a 

share option scheme for key personnel and board members which currently comprises up to 1,522,260 options, out 

of which 1,434,700 options have been granted. The 1,434,700 granted options, as well as any new options that may 

be granted, will have a dilutive effect on the Company's shareholders once exercised. In the hypothetical scenario 

that all options are exercised simultaneously on the date hereof, this would have a dilutive effect for the Company's 

shareholders of approximately 18.08%.  

 Laws and regulations as well as the Group's existing or future debt arrangements could limit its ability to 

declare and distribute dividends 

Prevailing Norwegian laws and regulations as well the Group's existing or future debt arrangements could limit the 

Group's flexibility in its ability to declare dividends to its shareholders. Such restrictions and limitations are further 
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described in Section 6 "Dividend and dividend policy", Section 11.7.1 "Sources of liquidity", and Section 11.7.5 

"Financing arrangements". This would entail that dividends may not be distributed to the Company's shareholders 

even though the Company so desires and/or is able to do so, which in turn could reduce the market price of the 

Shares.  
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3 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROSPECTUS  

This Prospectus has been prepared by Soiltech ASA, with business address Koppholen 25, 

4313 Sandnes, Norway, solely in connection with the Listing of the Shares on Euronext Expand as described herein. 

The Board of Directors of Soiltech ASA accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. The 

members of the Board of Directors confirm that the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of their 

knowledge, in accordance with the facts and makes no omission likely to affect its import. 

 

10 September 2024 

The Board of Directors of Soiltech ASA 

 

 
 
 

 

Gunnar Winther Eliassen  
Chair 

Glenn Åsland 
Board member 

 
 
 

 

Eirik Flatebø 
Board member 

Olaf Skrivervik 
Board member 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  Soiltech ASA – Prospectus 

18 
 

4 GENERAL INFORMATION  

 Other important information 

This Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 

2017/1129. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, 

comprehensibility and consistency imposed by Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, and such approval should not be 

considered as an endorsement of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. 

Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

The information contained herein is current as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion and amendment 

without notice. In accordance with Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, significant new factors, material 

mistakes or material inaccuracies relating to the information included in this Prospectus, which may affect the 

assessment of the Offer Shares and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is approved by 

the Norwegian FSA and the listing of the Shares on Euronext Expand, will be mentioned in a supplement to this 

Prospectus without undue delay. Neither the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus, nor the sale of any Offer 

Shares, shall under any circumstance imply that there has not been any change in the Group's affairs or that the 

information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of this Prospectus. 

The Company has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Listing Advisor makes no representation or 

warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy, completeness or verification of the information set forth herein, 

and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a promise or representation in this respect, 

whether as to the past or the future. The Listing Advisor disclaims, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, 

any and all liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which they might otherwise be found to have in 

respect of this Prospectus or any such statement. 

None of the Company or the Listing Advisor, or any of its respective affiliates, representatives, advisers or selling 

agents, is making any representation, express or implies, to any offeree or purchaser of the Shares regarding the 

legality of an investment in the Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, 

tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares. 

Investing in the Shares involves a high degree of risk. See Section 2 "Risk factors". 

 Presentation of financial and other information 

 Financial information 

In 2023, the Company decided to convert its financial reporting from Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles ("NGAAP") to be prepared in accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union ("IFRS").  

As such, the Company has prepared audited consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 

December 2023 in accordance with IFRS, including unaudited comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 

December 2022 (the "IFRS Financial Statements"), appended hereto as Appendix C. Further, the Company has 

prepared audited consolidated financial statements for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 

2021 in accordance with NGAAP (the "2022 NGAAP Financial Statements" and the “2021 NGAAP Financial 

Statements” respectively, and together with the IFRS Financial Statements, the "Annual Financial Statements"), 

appended hereto as Appendix D and Appendix E, respectively.  

Moreover, the Company has prepared interim consolidated financial statements for the six-month period ended 30 

June 2024 (the "Interim Financial Statements", and together with the Annual Financial Statements, the 

"Financial Statements") in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", 

as adopted by the EU ("IAS 34"), appended hereto as Appendix B. The Interim Financial Statements have been 

subject to a limited scope audit review by PwC, as such review is a listing requirement imposed by Oslo Børs for the 

Listing.  

The IFRS Financial Statements and the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements have been audited by PwC. The 2021 

NGAAP Financial Statements have been audited by Revisjon Ryfylke AS ("Revisjon Ryfylke").  

Other than as set out above, neither PwC nor Revisjon Ryfylke has audited, reviewed, or produced any report or any 

other information provided in this Prospectus. 

 Functional currency and foreign currency 

In this Prospectus, all references to "NOK" are the lawful currency of Norway, all references to "USD" are to the 

lawful currency of the United States, all references to "EUR" are to euro, the single currency of member states of 

the EU participating in the European Monetary Union having adopted the euro as its lawful currency, and all 

references to "GBP" are to the Great British Pound, the single currency of the United Kingdom.  
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The Company has NOK as functional currency, and the Financial Statements are presented in NOK.  

 Rounding 

Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments (by rounding to the nearest 

whole number or decimal or fraction, as the case may be). Accordingly, figures shown for the same category 

presented in different tables may vary slightly. As a result of rounding adjustments, the figures presented may not 

add up to the total amount presented. 

 Alternative performance measures 

The Group presents certain alternative measures of financial performance, financial position and cash flows that are 

not defined or specified in IFRS Accounting Standards. The Group considers these measures to provide valuable 

supplementary information for Management, Board of Directors and investors, as they provide useful additional 

information regarding the Group's financial performance and position. As not all companies define and calculate 

these measures in the same way, they are not always directly comparable with those used by other companies. 

These measures should not be regarded as replacing measures that are defined or specified in IFRS Accounting 

Standards but should be considered as supplemental financial information. In this Prospectus, the Alternative 

Performance Measures used by the Group are defined, explained and reconciled to the most directly reconcilable 

line item, subtotal or total presented in the financial statements of the corresponding period. 

The APMs used by the Group are set out below: 

Operating cost:  

Operating cost is defined as the total of cost of materials, personnel expenses and other operating expenses less 

expenses related to onshore personnel and other onshore operating expenses, share incentive program, severance 

payment, legal cost related to IPO and other items defined by the Management to not relate to offshore operations. 

Management defines that Operating cost illustrates the expenses directly related to offshore activities. This measure 

provides additional information for Management, Board of Directors and investors in order to evaluate underlying 

profitability of offshore operating activities and their ability to generate cash.  

SG&A  

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) is defined as the sum of Cost of materials, Personnel 

expenses and other operating expenses less operating costs (as defined above), share incentive program, severance 

payment, legal cost related to IPO and other items defined by management that impact comparability between 

periods. Management defines that SG&A illustrates the expenses directly related to onshore support activities. This 

measure provides additional information for management, board and investors, in order to evaluate underlying 

profitability and their ability to generate cash. 

Gross Profit and Gross profit margin 

Gross Profit is defined as total operating income less Operating cost (as defined above). Gross profit margin is 

defined as gross profit divided by total operating income. Gross profit and Gross profit margin provide additional 

information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to evaluate the underlying profitability generated 

from offshore operating activities. 

EBITDA and EBITDA margin 

EBITDA is defined as Operating profit before other gains, impairment, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA Margin 

is defined as EBITDA divided by total operating income. These measures provide additional information for 

Management, Board of Directors and investors to evaluate underlying profitability of operating activities and their 

ability to generate cash before investments in fixed assets and service of debt.   

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin 

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA (as defined above) adjusted for items affecting comparability such as 

expenses related to share incentive programs, severance payment, legal cost related to IPO and other items defined 

by Management that impact comparability. Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by total 

operating income. These measures provide additional information for Management, Board of Directors and investors 

to evaluate underlying profitability of operating activities and their ability to generate cash before investments in 

fixed assets and service of debt.   

Net interest-bearing debt  

Net interest-bearing debt is defined as the total of non-current borrowings, non-current lease liabilities, current 

borrowings and current lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. This measure provides additional information 
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for Management, Board of Directors and investors to assess the Group's financial indebtedness and as an input to 

assess its capacity to meet its financial commitments. 

Equity ratio 

Equity ratio is defined as total equity divided by total assets. This measure provides additional information for 

Management, Board of Directors and investors to assess the Group's financial position and capital structure. 

For the reconciliation and comparison of alternative performance measures included in this Prospectus, refer to 

Section 11.5 "Alternative Performance Measures". 

 The Merger  

The Company announced on 30 May 2024 that it had signed a merger plan for a staturory merger with Oceanteam 

in accordance with the provisions set out in chapter 13 of the of 13 June 1997 no. 45 (the "Norwegian Public 

Limited Liability Companies Act") (the "Merger"). The Merger involved Oceanteam transferring all its assets, 

including approx. NOK 21 million in cash, rights and obligations to the Company, as the acquiring company. The 

shareholders in Oceanteam received as consideration 0.01543 shares in the Company for each share in Oceanteam. 

After completion of the Merger, the combined company was owned 93.35% by the shareholders of the Company 

while 6.65% was owned by the shareholders of Oceanteam. The Company was the surviving entity following 

completion of the Merger, while Oceanteam was dissolved and liquidated. In aggregate, 527,947 consideration 

shares was issued by the Company as part of the Merger.  

The objective of the Merger was to access a broader shareholder base with competence within the energy transition 

in addition to the potential oppurtunity to retain Oceanteam's listing status on Euronext Oslo Børs. It was the opinion 

of the board of directors of each of the companies that combining the companies would create added value not only 

to the Company, but also its shareholders and other stakeholders. 

The Merger was registered as completed in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises on 10 September 2024.  

 Third-party information 

In this Prospectus, the Group has used industry and market data from independent industry publications and market 

research as set out in footnotes to Section 7 "Industry and Market Overview" and Section 8 "Business of the Group" 

and other publicly available information. While the Group has compiled, extracted and reproduced industry and 

market data from external sources, the Group has not independently verified the correctness of such data. Unless 

otherwise indicated, such information reflects the Group's estimates based on analysis of multiple sources, including 

data compiled by professional organizations, consultants and analysts and information otherwise obtained from other 

third party sources, such as annual financial statements and other presentations published by listed companies 

operating within the same industry as the Group may do in the future. Unless otherwise indicated in the Prospectus, 

the basis for any statements regarding the Group's competitive position in the future is based on the Group's own 

assessment and knowledge of the potential market in which it operates. 

Note that the Prospectus contains non-publicly available data from both the Rystad Energy database, Precedence 

Research and S&P Global. Rystad Energy is an independent energy research and business intelligence company 

which also offers a platform called “CUBE DASHBOARDS” where subscribers can access data on oil and gas production 

levels, supply and demand for different types of energy sources and more. Access to Rystad Energy’s platform 

requires payment through a subscription model. Precedence Research is a research company which provides 

strategic market insights on different types of industries. Access to their market report “Global Drilling Waste 

Management Market (2024)” requires payment. S&P Global is a research company which provides financial 

information and analytics. The data for the global rig count, which is dated 2024, is sourced from S&P Global 

Commodity Insights and payment is required to access the data. 

The Group confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been 

accurately reproduced and that as far as the Group is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by 

these third party providers, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 

misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such information has 

been identified. The Group does not intend, and does not assume any obligations to update industry or market data 

set forth in the Prospectus. 

Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources 

believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. The Group has 

not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the accuracy of market data contained in this 

Prospectus that was extracted from these industry publications or reports and reproduced herein. Market data and 

statistics are inherently unpredictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual market 

conditions. Such statistics are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and subjective judgments 
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by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgments about what types of products and transactions 

should be included in the relevant market. 

The Group cautions prospective investors not to place undue reliance on the above mentioned data. Unless otherwise 

indicated in the Prospectus, any statements regarding the Group's competitive position are based on the Company's 

own assessment and knowledge of the market in which it operates. 

As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information relating to 

markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Prospectus (and projections, 

assumptions and estimates based on such information) may not be reliable indicators of the Group's future 

performance and the future performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are necessarily subject 

to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety of other factors, 

including those described in Section 2 "Risk factors" and elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements 

This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's current views with respect to future 

events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking statements may be identified by the use 

of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can", "could", "estimates", 

"expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", "might", "plans", "projects", "should", "will", "would" or, in each case, their 

negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are not historic facts. 

These forward-looking statements are not historic facts. They appear, among other areas, in the following sections 

in this Prospectus; Section 7 "Industry and market overview", Section 9 "Capitalisation and indebtedness", Section 

10 "Selected financial and other information", and Section 11 "Operating and financial review", and include 

statements regarding the Company's intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, 

financial strength and position of the Group, operating results, liquidity, prospects, growth, the implementation of 

strategic initiatives, as well as other statements relating to the Group's future business development and financial 

performance, and the industry in which the Group operates. 

Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees for future 

performance and that the Company's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and the development 

of the industry in which the Company operates, may differ materially from those made in, or suggested, by the 

forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The Company cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs 

or current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncertainties 

and assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. 

Because of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome may differ materially from 

those set out in the forward-looking statements. For a non-exhaustive overview of important factors that could cause 

those differences, important factors that could cause those differences include, but are not limited to: 

 

• the competitive nature of the business and industry the Group operates in and the competitive pressure 

and changes to the competitive environment in general, including changes in the demand and prices for 

the Group's products; 

• implementation of the Group's strategies; 

• earnings, cash flow, dividends and other expected financial results and conditions; 

• inaccuracy relating to estimates or calculations of costs on large projects; 

• failure by counterparties to meet their obligations; 

• failure to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel; 

• increases in labor cost; 

• legal proceedings; 

• damage to the Group's reputation and business relationships; 

• fluctuations of interest and exchange rates; 

• changes in general economic and industry conditions, including changes to tax rates and regimes; 

• political, governmental, social, legal and regulatory changes; 

• access to funding; and 

• operating costs and other expenses 

 

The risks that could affect the Group's future results and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed 

in the forward-looking statements are discussed in Section 2 "Risk Factors". 

These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date on which they are made. The Company undertakes no 

obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether because of new information, 

future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company 

or to persons acting on the Company's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements 

referred to above and contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
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5 REASONS FOR THE LISTING  

The main reasons for the Listing are as follows:  

• to facilitate greater liquidity in the Shares;  

• to attract new prospective shareholders in order to build a more diversified shareholder base; 

• to enhance profile with investors, business partners and customers; and  

• improved access to the capital markets for financing of potential growth opportunities in the future. 
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6 DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY  

 Dividend policy 

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board of Directors will 

comply with the legal requirements set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act (see Section 6.2 

"Legal constraints on the distribution of dividends") and take into account the Company's capital requirements, 

including capital expenditure requirements, the Company's financial condition, general business conditions and any 

restrictions that its contractual arrangements in place at the time of the dividend may place on its ability to pay 

dividends and the maintenance of appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited circumstances 

set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may not exceed the 

amount recommended by the Board of Directors. 

The proposal to pay a dividend in any year is, in addition to the legal restrictions set out in Section 6.2 "Legal 

constraints on the distribution of dividends", further subject to any restrictions in the Company's borrowing 

arrangements or other contractual arrangements in place at the date of this Prospectus as further described in 

Section 11.7.1 "Sources of liquidity".  

Further, the tax legislation of an investor's Member State and of the Company's country of incorporation (Norway) 

may have an impact on the income received from the Shares, see Section Error! Reference source not found. 

"Norwegian Taxation". 

The Company is a growth company and is aiming at a continued growth, and plans to take advantage of market 

opportunities and reinvest the generated cash in profitable projects and enhanced service capacity. Any decision to 

distribute dividends will be based on the financial development of the Company and its financial position at the time 

a proposal to distribute dividend is put forward. 

The Company has not paid any dividends on its Shares to date.  

 Legal constraints on the distribution of dividends 

Dividends may be paid in cash, or in some instances as dividends in kind. The Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act provides the following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company: 

• Section 8-1 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act provides that the Company may 

distribute dividends to the extent that the Company's net assets following the distribution are sufficient to 

cover (i) the Company's share capital, (ii) the Company's reserve for valuation variances and (iii) the 

Company's reserve for unrealized gains. Any receivables of the Company which are secured through a 

pledge over the Company's Shares and the aggregate amount of credit and security which, pursuant to 

Sections 8-7 through to 8-10 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act fall within the limits 

of distributable equity are to be deducted from the distributable amount; 

 

• the calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet included in the 

approved annual accounts for the previous financial year, provided, however, that the registered share 

capital as at the date of the resolution to distribute dividends shall be applied. Following approval of the 

annual accounts for the last financial year, the general meeting of shareholders may also authorize the 

Board of Directors to declare dividends on the basis of the Company's annual accounts;  

 

• dividends may also be resolved by the general meeting of shareholders based on an interim balance sheet 

which has been prepared and audited in accordance with the provisions applying to the annual accounts 

and with a balance sheet date no older than six months before the date of the general meeting's resolution; 

and 

 

• dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and liquidity following the 

distribution is considered sound in light of the risk and scope of the Company's business. 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises 

depends on what was resolved by the general meeting of shareholders when it resolved to issue new shares in the 

company. A subscriber of new shares in a Norwegian public limited company will normally be entitled to dividends 

from the time when the relevant share capital increase is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business 

Enterprises. The Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act does not provide any time limit after which 

entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various exceptions, Norwegian law provides a limitation period of three 

years from the date on which an obligation is due. There are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures for non-

Norwegian resident shareholders to claim dividends.  
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 Manner of dividend payments 

Any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be made in the currency of the bank account of the relevant 

shareholder registered with the VPS and will be paid to the shareholders through the VPS. Shareholders registered 

in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS with details of their bank account, will not receive payment of dividends 

unless they register their bank account details with DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA (address: Dronning 

Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway) as the Company's VPS registrar ("VPS Registrar"), and transfer fees may 

apply for payments made in such manner. The exchange rate(s) that is applied when denominating any future 

payments of dividends to the relevant shareholder's currency will be the exchange rate of the relevant bank on the 

payment date. Dividends will be credited automatically to the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, or in lieu of 

such registered account, at the time when the shareholder has provided the VPS Registrar with their bank account 

details. Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three years following the resolved payment date for 

those shareholders who have not registered their bank account details with the VPS Registrar. 
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7 INDUSTRY AND MARKET OVERVIEW  

This Section provides an overview of the principal market in which the Group operates. Information concerning 

future market developments, the markets in general, industry trends and similar information, is based on data 

compiled by professional analysts, consultants and other professionals. The Listing Advisor has provided statistical 

information and data, and information is sourced from the Listing Advisor's databases and other professional industry 

sources. 

 Market introduction  

The market for drilling waste management is a large addressable global market, driven by both the need for 

clean/safe water, and decarbonization initiatives in the industry. The Group focuses on the oil and gas market which 

has a substantial need for decarbonizing its operations. The global oil demand is set to increase to approximately 

106 mb/d by 2028, while global gas production is expected to reach 4,443 bcm by 2028.3 

 

The Group is dependent on oil & gas remaining a key part of the global energy mix as they provide services to 

drilling rigs. Consequently, in the event of an adverse development in the demand for oil and gas as the global 

energy mix transitions to renewable energy sources, the market which the Group addresses may be negatively 

impacted. However, oil & gas has historically represented an integral part of the global energy mix, and the Group 

believes it will continue to do so for the foreseeable future. As of 2022, oil and gas represented 55% of the global 

primary energy mix.4 Approximately ~15% of global energy-related greenhouse gas emissions is a result of the 

production, transport and processing of oil and gas. 5 As regulatory demands to reduce emissions for players in the 

oil & gas industry increase,  the Group believes demand for carbon emission-reducing technologies will increase as 

it represents a solution which provides meaningful contribution in the reduction of these emissions. In order to be 

aligned with the 1.5 °C scenario, these emissions must be reduced by more than 60% by 2030. 

 

 The Global drilling waste management market  

The Group addresses the global market for drilling waste management which involves services and technologies 

which are used to collect, treat, reuse and dispose of contaminated fluids, cuttings from drilling and other types of 

by-products. The global drilling waste management market was estimated to be USD 6.19 billion in 2023, and is 

forecasted to increase to USD 8.68 billion by 2028, representing a CAGR of ~7%.6   

The market is generally driven by an increased focus on decarbonizing the oil and gas industry. Key factors affecting 

the demand for waste management services includes stricter environmental regulations, environmental awareness, 

adoption of sustainable practices and increased drilling activities.  

 
3 Source: Rystad Energy, CUBE DASHBOARD (2024) – See section 4.4 
4 Source: Energy Institute, Statistical Review of World Energy (2023) https://www.energyinst.org/statistical-review/home 
5 Source: IEA (2023), The Oil and Gas Industry in Net Zero Transitions, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/reports/the-oil-and-gas-industry-in-net-zero-

transitions 
6  Source: Precedence Research, Drilling Waste Management Market Size, Share and Trends 2024 to 2033 (2024) 

https://www.precedenceresearch.com/drilling-waste-management-market – See section 4.4 
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The geographical split in market share illustrates that the North American region represents the largest region in 

the drilling waste management market with a share of 37%, closely followed by Europe (30%), Asia Pacific (27%), 

Latin America (4%) and lastly Middle East & Africa (2%).7 

 

The global market for drilling waste management is generally split into two segments, onshore drilling and offshore 

drilling, with a respective market share of 72% and 28%.8 Onshore drilling waste involves handling and disposal of 

waste which is created by oil and gas drilling activities on land, whereas offshore drilling waste refers to waste 

generated in oil and gas activities in marine environments. The latter is forecasted to increase at the fastest rate 

the coming years.9  

 
7 Source: Precedence Research, Drilling Waste Management Market Size, Share and Trends 2024 to 2033 (2024) 

https://www.precedenceresearch.com/drilling-waste-management-market – See section 4.4 
8 Source: Precedence Research, Drilling Waste Management Market Size, Share and Trends 2024 to 2033 (2024) 

https://www.precedenceresearch.com/drilling-waste-management-market – See section 4.4 
9 Source: Precedence Research, Drilling Waste Management Market Size, Share and Trends 2024 to 2033 (2024) 

https://www.precedenceresearch.com/drilling-waste-management-market – See section 4.4 
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The Group currently focuses on the drilling waste management market onboard mobile rigs and fixed installations. 

In total, the Group has an addressable market of approximately 500 offshore rigs globally, split into the following 

geographies.10  

Table 6 

 
Region No. of Rigs 

North Sea 37 

US Gulf of Mexico ("GoM") 24 

Mexico 47 

Brazil 29 

West Africa 30 

Middle East 166 

Southeast Asia 34 

Rest of the World 129 

TOTAL 496 
Note: Rig count excludes fixed installations 

 The geographical markets where the Company operates 

The Company’s main market is Norway, which stood for 73% of the Company’s revenues in the first six months of 

2024. However, the Company operates world-wide, and the international share of the Company’s revenues increased 

from 13% in 2021 to 27% as of 30 June 2024. Europe (excl. Norway) stood for a major part of the international 

revenues.  

Table 7 below summarizes the share of revenues by geographic markets from 2021 to Q2 2024. 

Table 7 Share of revenues by geographical market 

Geo-market 2021 2022 2023 YTD Q2 2024 

Norway 87% 84% 74% 73% 

Europe (excl. Norway) 12% 15% 21% 26% 

Rest of the world 1% 2% 5% 1% 

 

The European markets where the Company had operations in 2023-2024 include United Kingdom, The 

Netherlands, Denmark and Cyprus. In the same period the Company had operations outside of Europe in Mexico, 

Colombia, Mauritania, Lebanon and Abu Dhabi.  

 

 Services and technologies provided in the geographical markets where the Company operates 

The Company currently offers drilling waste management services to the offshore market. In Europe (incl. Norway), 

the Company provides services to clients across the full technology portfolio, please refer to chapter 8.3 "Business 

operations" for a description of the technologies. For international operations outside of Europe, the Company 

currently performs services related to Treatment of contaminated water (STT). The Company has an ambition to 

include the full technology portfolio in the offering to all its clients, on the back of the Company’s market position in 

Europe (incl. Norway).  

In the Company’s opinion and experience, the main drivers for an expected increase in the demand for drilling waste 

management services in the international markets where the Company operates, is an increased focus on 

decarbonization and reduction in pollution of the ocean. In terms of competition, most of the Company’s competitors 

 
10 Source: S&P Global Commodity Insights (2024) – See section 4.4 
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are global companies with operations in the same markets as the Company. Please refer to section 8.3 Competition 

and competitive strength, for a discussion of the competitors and the services provided.  

 Regulatory environment  

 Introduction 

As a result of the scope of its operations, the Group is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in different 

countries, including those related to the the energy industry in general and the oil and gas industry in particular. 

These laws and regulations may be interpreted, implemented or amended in a manner that affects the Group's 

business negatively as well as positively. 

The below section sets forth a summary of material laws and regulations relevant to the Group's business operations, 

as well as information regarding any governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or political policies or factors that 

have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or indirectly, the Group's operations. A more detailed 

presentation of the risk factors relating to the regulatory environment is given in Section 2.1.1 "Risks related to 

laws, regulations and compliance" above.  

 Permits and licenses needed for the Group's operations  

There are no general business license and permits required for the business of the Group in the jurisdictions where 

it currently operates. Having this said, the Group is fully dependent on its customers having obtained required 

permits in relation to the drilling operations in which the Group's technologies and services are applied. The primary 

permits the customer (being the operator of the relevant oil / gas field) needs to hold is a drilling permit. Drilling 

permits for exploration and production wells are granted in Norway by the Norwegian Offshore Directorate to the 

operator pursuant to the Regulations relating to resource management in the petroleum activities and in the UK by 

the Department of Energy Security and Net Zero.  It is important to note that the Group as such is not a party to or 

under an obligation to apply for drilling permits. 

 Environmental, health and safety laws and permits 

Separately, the operator also will have to apply for a discharge permit with the relevant environmental authority in 

respect of treated slop water. Again, although the Group carries through the slop water treatment, it is the operator 

and not the Group that obtains and holds such discharge permit. Discharge permits will include a maximum in 

respect of the oil content in water, measured as ppm (parts per million = 0,0001%) or milliliter per cubic meter. 

The ppm requirements vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, from 15 to 30 ppm. Stricter ppm requirements may 

however be imposed from project to project.  The Group supplies as part of its system measuring technology for the 

oil-in-water content. 

For oil-based cuttings, the general rule is that no discharge to sea is allowed, thus such cuttings are placed in 

containers and shipped onshore for further handling by third party waste handlers. The Group’s cutting handling 

system and technologies are configured to ensure this process being completed as effective and safe as possible. It 

can be noted that the Group has no liability or responsibility for the cuttings when shipments leave the drilling rig. 

The transportation to onshore is the responsibility of the operator and the ship owning company, and the further 

handling onshore are subject to specific permits held by the third-party waste disposal supplier. 

General and specific health and safety regulations apply in all jurisdictions where the Group operates. In addition, 

specific health and safety standards are applied both by the relevant customer (operator) and by the rig owner. The 

Group’s personnel operating its equipment offshore is required to hold an offshore health certificate and must have 

completed the offshore safety course (Minimum Industry Safety Training (MIST) in the UK. There are no other 

general permits required to operate the Group's equipment.  

 Other laws, regulations and standards  

The equipment used by the Group in its operations is subject to various laws, regulations and standards. The Group 

and its equipment adhere to the standards set by NORSOK, including NORSO S-001 in respect of technical safety. 

Adherence to NORSOK standards will generally suffice to be compliant with standards applicable in other 

jurisdictions.  

The industry generally adheres to guidelines summarized by the Offshore Energies UK (OEUK) as detailed on their 

environmental legislation website, although strictly speaking only applicable to operations on the UK continental 

shelf. 

 Data protection regulations 

The Group is subject to GDPR and local data privacy laws in the countries the Group operates in and has implemented 

stringent data protection procedures and systems to meet these laws and regulation. The Group primarily handles 

the personal data of its employees, as well as the personnel of the Group's suppliers and customers. This makes the 
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Group exposed to data protection and data privacy laws and regulations it must comply with, which all imposes 

stringent data protection requirements and could impose penalties for noncompliance, related to storing, sharing, 

use, processing, disclosure and protection of personal information and other user data on its platforms.  

 Tax 

The Group is subject to prevailing tax laws in each jurisdiction the Group operates and will be subject to changes in 

tax laws, tax treaties or regulations or the interpretation or enforcement thereof in the various jurisdictions, possibly 

with retrospective effect. The Group has established and conducts operations through a branch office in UK and 

through project related permanent establishments. Procedures and actions are implemented in the Group to adhere 

to applicable tax laws wherever the Group is present and conducts its operations. The Group's overall tax charge is 

dependent on where profits are generated and taxed, where the respective jurisdictions have different tax systems 

and tax rates.  

 International sanctions, export/import control and anti-money-laundering laws and regulations 

The Group's international operations make the Group exposed towards international sanctions laws and regulations, 

in particular sanctions on trade and import/export, and anti-money laundering laws through its operations in and 

trade across multiple jurisdictions. Furthermore, sanctions imposed on certain countries, companies or individuals 

by international and regional bodies including those administered by the United Nations, the European Union and 

the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control could materially adversely affect the Group's ability to establish its 

operations in or trade with sanctioned countries or companies and/or individuals linked with such countries. The 

Group has policies, procedures and processes in place that aim to ensure that any cross-border transfer of our 

people, products, services, technology and funds are properly screened against all relevant sanctions lists and 

programs, as well as procedures to prevent and detect red flags related to sanctions, export controls, money 

laundering and terrorist financing.   

 Anti-bribery/anti-corruption laws and regulations 

Operating an international business requires the Group to comply with the laws and regulations of various 

jurisdictions. In particular, the Group's international operations are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, 

such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the FCPA) of 1977 and the United Kingdom Bribery Act of 2010. The 

Group is of the view that it has the necessary governance and implemented procedures in place to work in a manner 

that effectively deals with the corruption risks that are associated with delivery of services in the areas that the 

Group operates.  

 National and international policies, including Covid-19 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group is not aware of any national or international policies or factors that will 

materially affect the Group's operation. The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus, has, however, led to temporary 

change in law in countries that the Group has operations in, and in countries that the Group sources equipment and 

services from. Although the Group is not aware of any future policies or measures that will have a material impact 

on its operations, it cannot not be ruled out that changes in governmental, fiscal, monetary or political policies could 

materially affect, directly or indirectly, the Group's operations.  
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8 BUSINESS OF THE GROUP  

 Introduction to the Group  

The Group is a waste management service provider specializing in treating, recycling and sustainable handling of 

contaminated water and solid industrial waste streams in the oil and gas industry. The Group currently offers drilling 

waste management services to the offshore market. The Group's waste management solutions and services include 

treatment of contaminated water, cuttings handling, cleaning services and associated services. The Group designs, 

builds, owns and operates its operative units in close co-operation with the customer on the respective customer's 

site.  

The figure below displays which parts of the value chain in the oil and gas industry the Group operates in.11 

 

 Strategy and objectives  

The Group aims to be a market leading provider of drilling waste management services with a complete range of 

technologies and aims to strengthen its position further by focusing on three main objectives:  

(i) Expanding its delivery to existing clients across the Group’s full technology portfolio,  

(ii) Geographical expansion to address global demand, and  

(iii) Introducing new technologies to enable additional revenue streams.  

The Group focuses on delivering good operational results for its clients in terms of treatment efficiency, waste 

reduction, waste recovery and reuse, as well as a high operational uptime and safe operations. The Company has 

built up a competence system focusing on training of its personnel and sharing lessons learned across all its 

operations. Semi-annual professional exchange days for all field personnel held at the Company’s office is an 

important arena for sharing knowledge and lessons learned across the operations. Customer feedback and valuation 

of the Company’s services is requested on a regular basis, providing valuable feedback for improvements. 

 Expanding the Group's delivery to existing clients across its full technology portfolio 

Once the Company has installed one of its technologies on a client’s rig, the onshore support team works actively 

together with the Company’s field personnel to identify opportunities for increasing the scope of work. These 

opportunities are often summarized in a proposal to the client presenting the business case and focusing on the 

benefits for the client by having the Company providing the full drilling waste management scope. In tender 

processes, the Company focuses on demonstrating its full capabilities. 

 Geographical expansion to address global demand  

The Company’s clients consist of oil & gas companies and drilling companies which largely have operations in many 

countries. Once client relationships and track records are established in one geo-market, opportunities to follow the 

client into new geo-markets may arise. Many of the rigs where the Company’s technologies are installed are mobile 

rigs that travel between various geo-markets, providing opportunities for following the client. In selected markets, 

the Company may consider opening local offices to actively market its technology portfolio for both onshore and 

offshore application. The Company also participates in selected international industry exhibitions to market its 

technologies globally. 

 Introducing new technologies to enable additional revenue streams 

Experience gained from ongoing operations give opportunities for continuous improvement of existing technologies 

and introducing new technologies. Active communication with clients and specific meetings and demonstrations of 

new technologies are also arenas for technology development. The demand for oil and gas as an energy source is 

expected to decrease over time due to a gradual increase in the demand for renewable energy sources. Consequently, 

the demand for the Group’s waste management technologies and solutions may decline in the future. However, the 

 
11 Source: Company information 
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Group believes that oil and gas will remain a key component of the global energy mix for the foreseeable future. 

Over time, the Group intends to address this issue by expanding its offering to other industry verticals. 

 Business operations  

The Group has developed a complete range of waste management services. The service offering is split into four 

parts: (1) Treatment of contaminated water, (2) Cuttings handling, (3) Cleaning services, and (4) Associated 

services. The largest revenue contributor as of 30 June 2024 is Treatment of contaminated water (~61% share of 

consolidated revenues), followed by Cuttings handling (~24% share of consolidated revenues). 12 

Table 8 below summarizes total revenues by service category from 2021 to Q2 2024 

Table 8  Total revenues by service category 

Service category 2021 2022 2023 YTD Q2 2024 

Treatment of 

contaminated water 
74% 68% 69% 61% 

Cuttings handling 21% 23% 19% 24% 

Cleaning services 2% 5% 7% 10% 

Associated services 3% 4% 5% 5% 

 

 

The Group operates under a Design-Build-Own-Operate model. The waste treatment equipment is typically designed 

by the Company, built by Third parties, owned by the Company and operated by the Company’s personnel. All 

revenues come from the provision of services on the Client’s rig location, offshore and onshore. The services typically 

consist of rental of equipment and personnel to operate the equipment and are compensated through daily rates for 

equipment and personnel, and reimbursement of mobilization and installation cost. 

 Treatment of contaminated water  

The Group will continue its focus on offering the treatment of contaminated water as it serves as a door opener for 

new clients, with the technology being acknowledged by many. The Group will continue to develop and improve this 

technology, as it represents a competitive edge for the Company. 

For treatment of contaminated water, the Group offers its market leading Slop Treatment Technology® ("STT"). In 

Norway, the STT is installed on 10 out of 17 mobile rigs, equal to a 59% market share.13 

The STT is a mechanical technology which is used on location, treating water contaminated with oil and particles, 

with a capacity of 20m3/hr. Utilizing the STT, the Group has of date treated 650 000 m3 (4,100,000 bbls) of oily 

water/slop/sludge from drilling operations.14 

Instead of using chemicals, which is the most common way in the industry, the Company uses a mechanical system 

to treat the contaminated water. When chemicals are used in the treatment process, they can create a secondary 

waste stream with unknown properties, which may be highly hazardous. Although the oil and particles may be 

removed from the water, the resulting "new" waste stream could pose significant hazards to the environment. The 

combination of chemicals from the original waste stream with the newly introduced chemicals could result in a 

secondary waste stream with potentially harmful properties. 

 
12 Source: Company information 
13 Source: Company and Fearnley Securities (August 2024) 
14 Source: Company information 



  Soiltech ASA – Prospectus 

32 
 

The STT is provided in terms of a 20-foot container which is placed on the rig, at a designated location. The water 

treatment equipment is installed inside the container. The contaminated water is pumped to the STT unit where the 

contaminated water is separated into three separate waste streams: oil, water and solids waste. After treatment, 

the oil is sent back to the rig for reuse, the cleaned water is discharged to sea within the prevailing discharge 

parameters or returned to the rig for reuse, whereas the solids waste is sent to shore on supply boat for disposal. 

The wastewater is reduced with up to 95%, compared to sending the contaminated water to shore for treatment 

and disposal.15 The treated wastewater is discharged to sea in accordance with discharge regulations. The waste 

reduction is measured as the waste volume treated / total available waste volume on the rig. The measurement is 

made by the Company's personnel on the rig daily and recorded in the Company's management system. The 

statistics are sent to the client on request.  

   

 

 Cuttings handling 

During drilling operations, drilling is performed through various subsea formations, typically consisting of clay, 

limestone or slate. The diameter of the borehole sections typically varies between 8.5” – 26” in diameter. The crushed 

rock (drill cuttings) is contaminated with drilling fluids and is brought to the surface and placed in containers and 

tanks for intermediate storage on the rig, before transport to shore with supply boat for treatment. 

The Group offers a complete cutting handling system on the rig which is designed to handle large amounts of cuttings 

in the most efficient and safe manner.  

To effectively transfer and pump the drilling cuttings on the rig into intermediate storage tanks on the rig, and from 

there to receiving tanks on the supply boat, the Group uses a high-capacity cuttings blower which is a multi-purpose 

blower unit with gravity feed. This is a proven and versatile cuttings blower operated by air for transferring the drill 

cuttings. The unit can transfer cuttings over long distances, up to 400m, on the rig.  

The drill cuttings may also be placed in smaller waste carriers (cutting skips) on the rig which are then lifted onto 

the supply boat by the rig’s cranes for transport to shore. The Group has developed a modular-based skip working 

station with no limitation to the number of skips. The skip working station can be used as a singular working station 

or in a combined setup. The skip working station is fitted with a two-level setup for the safety of the operator and 

personnel around the working area. 

The company has developed a remote-control system for cuttings handling. The system can be remotely operated 

from the rigs control room and onshore monitoring is under installation. The remote system controls the transfer, 

volume and weight of drill cuttings from receipt on rig to the rig storage tanks or skips, and from there transfer of 

the cuttings to the receiving tanks on the supply boat.  

   

   

 
15 Source: Company data 

  

Slop treatment technology (STT) 

   

Skip working station Cuttings blower Cuttings storage tanks 
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 Cleaning services 

During drilling operations tanks, or pits, as they may sometimes be called, are used for temporary storage of 

contaminated water. These rig tanks need to be cleaned regularly. 

The Group delivers high quality tank, pit and rig cleaning services that follow strict procedures regarding personal 

protective equipment to ensure safety, integrity and the environment. As a part of its delivery, the Group offers an 

automated tank cleaning service, which entails that tanks may be cleaned without physical entry of personnel. This 

improves the safety in these operations. Combining the handling of the waste collected from tank cleaning with the 

STT, enables waste reduction and treatment and discharge to sea of the volume generated, according to discharge 

regulations, thereby reducing the need for backload to shore.  

 

 

 Associated services 

The Group provides a wide range of equipment to complement its service, including: 

• STT Purifier: The Group offers technologies for treating produced water which is water produced as a 

biproduct during oil and natural gas development. Produced water contains soluble and non-soluble 

oil/organics, suspended solids, dissolved solids, and various chemicals used in the production process. The 

STT Purifier is a technology developed by the Group which is used to reduce total hardness, chlorides and 

total dissolved solids in the water. The STT Purifier is also suitable for applications aiming at reducing the 

content of arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, lead, mercury, selenium and silver in water. 

 

 

 
• Swarf removal: The Group's Swarf removal system is assumed to be a field proven technology for 

optimized processing and minimizing exposure and personnel onboard. The unit handles all drilling fluids 

and swarf (steel particles) from milling operations, enabling the drilling fluids to be reused in the drilling 

process.  

 

 

 

The Group also offers other services such as rental of cutting skips, filter units and mud centrifuges. 

 

Remote Operated Robot Cleaner  

 

STT Purifier 

 

Swarf removal system 
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 Clients 

The Group’s clients typically consist of oil and gas companies and drilling contractors. While contracts may vary 

between oil and gas companies and drilling companies, it is always the ‘end-user’, i.e. oil and gas companies that 

make the final decision on the waste management solution for the rig. The Company has ongoing contracts with the 

clients listed below, which are typically large and solid companies. The Group’s largest client is Equinor, with 

contracts on several installations.  

 

The Group's revenue mainly derives from the sale of services related to treatment of contaminated water (i.e. slop), 

cuttings handling, cleaning services and other related services, for customers within the oil & gas industry. The key 

element of the service deliveries is the deployment of and supervision of treatment and handling equipment at the 

client's site, to meet the specific purification targets defined in the contracts.  

The contract consideration is composed mainly of agreed daily rates for equipment and personnel, respectively, and 

reimbursement of costs plus a markup. Rates vary depending on whether the equipment is in active use during 

ongoing operations or in standby, for example when the equipment is on location but not in operation. Typically, the 

contract deliveries follow the operation of the rig.  

The Company's existing contracts with clients are frame agreements with a typical duration of three to five years 

with extension options. Under these frame agreements, the clients issue purchase orders or work orders for specific 

projects, typically with a duration subject to the duration of the rig's drilling program. In line with industry standards, 

the clients may terminate purchase orders and work orders for convenience. In case of termination, the Company 

shall typically be compensated for services performed to date plus any demobilization costs. 

The Company's current contracts include: 

Norway: 

• A long-term frame agreement with Equinor as further described in Section 8.11 "Contracts of 

importance" 

• Contracts with Equinor for the provision of drilling waste management services on the fixed 

installations Askeladden, Askepott, Oseberg B, Oseberg Sør, Heidrun, and Visund 

• A contract with Equinor for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the floating storage unit 

Njord Bravo 

• Contracts with Noble Drilling for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rigs Noble 

Invincible and Noble Voyager 

• Contracts with Odfjell Drilling for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rigs Deepsea 

Aberdeeen, Deepsea Atlantic, and Deepsea Stavanger 

• A contract with Transocean for drilling waste management services on the rigs Transocean 

Spitsbergen, and Transocean Enabler 

• A contract with COSL Drilling for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rig 

COSLPromoter 

• A contract with Shelf Drilling for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rig Shelf Drilling 

Barsk 

• A contract with Odfjell Technology for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the fixed 

installation Brage 

• A contract with Well Expertise for drilling waste management services on the rig Deepsea Yantai 



  Soiltech ASA – Prospectus 

35 
 

• A contract for fluid treatment from pipe cleaning at an oil refinery in Europe 

International: 

• Contracts with Harbour Energy for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rigs Swift 10 

in the Netherlands and on Ran in Mexico 

• A contract with Petrogas E&P for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on Noble Resolute in 

the Netherlands 

• Contracts with Shell (via TMWA) for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rigs Ocean 

Endeavor and Valaris 121 in the UK 

• A contract with Odfjell Technology for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the fixed 

installation Mariner in the UK 

• A contract with Petrogas for the provision of drilling waste management services on the rig Noble 

Resilient in the UK 

• A contract with Tullow Oil for the treatment of contaminated water (STT) on the rig Island Innovator 

in Mauritania 

• A contract with Pipetech for fluid treatment from pipe cleaning on the Fawley oil refinery in the UK 

 Competition and competitive strength 

The Group offers a complete range of technologies and services for waste reduction, recovery and reuse in the geo-

markets in which it operates. The Group has identified other companies which also offers waste management services 

to the oil and gas industry, of which the main competitors are SLB (Schlumberger) and Halliburton. Other competitors 

in the geo-markets where the Group Operates include Baker Hughes, TWMA, Onsite Treatment Services (OTS) and 

Norwegian Technology.  As far as the Group is aware, the technologies these companies possess are listed below:16 

  

The Group has a perceived competitive strength due to its ability to provide a full-service offering, including 

treatment of contaminated water, cleaning services, and handling of solid waste (cuttings handling), in addition to 

environmentally friendly solutions by avoiding the use of chemicals in the water treatment process. The Group aims 

to remain competitive by capitalizing on its experience within the waste management market, and in particular 

towards the oil and gas industry.  

The Group is continuously working to develop and improve current and new technologies and services, including 

onshore cuttings treatment. For information about the Group's technology initiatives, refer to Section 8.12 "Research 

and development". 

 Sustainability, environment and social responsibility  

The Company will strive to listen to stakeholders and continue to shape its business in a sustainable direction. The 

Company acknowledges UN’s 17 Sustainable development goals and will contribute to reach them by fostering 

innovation within the Group to further develop its technologies.  

The Company has specifically identified Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure and Climate Action as two of 

the sustainable goals where it can make a difference.   

 
16 Source: Company information 
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) related to Industry, innovation, infrastructure and Climate action are included in 

the Company’s HSEQ Key Performance Program. Please see a relevant section of the Company’s HSEQ objectives 

for 2024 below. The program is a cornerstone of the Group’s management system. Quarterly KPI results are 

communicated to the management and organization. For example, targets for waste reduction are informed to 

onshore project managers and offshore field personnel and the results related to waste reduction and waste recovery 

are measured and reported daily and communicated by the Company to the client. The KPI results and any deviations 

from targets are reviewed in operational meetings and top management meetings. Corrective actions, if any, are 

discussed and implemented.17 

 

 Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure 

The Company has a focus on innovation and continuous improvement of its technologies for waste treatment, with 

an emphasis on waste reduction, recovery and reuse, and intend in this way to contribute to the sustainable waste 

management practices within the oil and gas industry. Much of the innovation is based on feedback and practical 

experience from the Company’s operations. For example, the Company’s technology for treating contaminated water 

(STT) has been improved and enhanced with respect to its treatment capacity (from 10 m3 to 20 m3/hr), with the 

same energy consumption. Furthermore, the technology’s ability to treat water and recover waste fluids with higher 

content of oil and particles has been improved, resulting in less waste sent to shore for treatment and reduced CO2 

emissions due to less transport. The Cutting handling system has been enhanced with the ability to include remote 

operations on the rig, resulting in safer operation due to less manual work. 18 

 Climate Action  

The Company aims to utilize its competence and technology for water treatment to reduce emissions to sea and air. 

Through its on-rig-location technology for treatment of contaminated water (STT), emissions to air caused by 

transport to shore is reduced, thereby supporting the industry’s efforts for decarbonization. The Group’s mechanical 

water treatment process, without the use of chemicals, contributes to reduced emissions to the sea of potentially 

harmful pollutions.  

 History and important events  

Table 9 below provides an overview of key milestones in the Group’s history: 

 
17 Source: Company internal report  
18 Source: Company data 

Strategic objectivesHSEQ Key Performance Indicators (KPI)

Description of KPI
Yearly 

Objective
Result Q1 Result Q2

Total end 
year

Last year 
result

Oil In Water (OIW) above 
discharge limit

0
(per 1000 h)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Spill to environment
-Air
-Soil
-Water

0
(per 1000 h)

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Waste 
Management 

Waste Sorting Company 
headoffice, yard and 
warehouse

>80 % 78 % 82 % 80 % 76 %

* Life cycle focus /Sustainability
* Waste is sorted in shared containers on yard. 
* Coollaboration with all recidence required and done via Samhandlingsgruppa Company 
headoffice

With refreence to ISO 14001  Environmental Management Systems (EMS)

Improve product 
design and 
optimise process

Improvement suggestions / 
opportunities

>1,5
(per 1000 h)

1.76 1.48 1.62 1.19

* Encourage all employees to suggest improvements and opportunities
* Agree goals related to improvement suggestions in check-in conversations between 
employee and line manger

With reference to ISO 9001:2015 Quality management systems

Be flexible and 
effective

Optimization of offshore 
resources

90%
(of FTEs)

90 % 90% 90 % 95 %

* Ensure optimization of internal resources by planning 
* Overview of "man-year" hours regards schedule
* According to law and compliance (AML)

With reference to ISO 9001:2015 Quality management systems

Quality

Environment

Zero damage to 
environment

* According to law and dicharge permits
* Perform measurements of treated fluids
* Risk Management
* Plan jobs to achieve desired result
* Focus on proper training
* Pre-job meetings
* Scheduled HSEQ Meetings to communicate lesson learned and improvements

With refreence to ISO 14001 Environmental Management Systems (EMS)

Soiltech`s HSEQ objectives 2024

Measures and Controls in place to achieve objectives
UN Sustainable Development 

Goals
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Table 9 – Overview of key milestones  

Year Event 

 

2011 Incorporation  

2012 First commercial contract; for treatment of contaminated water (STT) with bp (now Aker BP) 

2013 P&A operations; at Ekofisk 

2016 First contract with Statoil (now Equinor) at Sleipner field 

2019 First contract with ADNOC Drilling for treatment of contaminated water (STT) for operation on artificial 

islands 

2021 International break-through, with clients like TotalEnergies, Wintershall Dea and Shell 

2021 Listing of the Company at Euronext NOTC 

2021 Company revenues exceed NOK 100 million 

2022 First contract for cuttings handling with rig storage tanks for Shell on Ormen Lange in Norway 

2023 Company reaches 100+ employees 

2023 Signed frame agreement with Equinor in 2023 with duration until 2034 including options.  

2023 Company revenues exceed NOK 200 million 

2024 Completion of the Merger with Oceanteam 

2024 Application for listing on Euronext Expand  

 Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant & equipment consists of slop treatment units, equipment for cuttings handling, cleaning services and 

swarf removal, skips and various equipment. 

 Material contracts  

As at the date of this Prospectus, neither the Company nor any other Group company has entered into any material 

contracts, outside those entered into in the ordinary course of its business, or any other contracts entered into 

outside the ordinary course of business which contains any provision under which the Company or any other Group 

company has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Group. 

 Legal and regulatory proceedings  

The Group is not, nor has been, during the preceding twelve months, involved in any legal, governmental or 

arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the Group's financial 

position or profitability. The Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened.  

 Contracts of importance  

The Company has a frame contract with Equinor entered in 2022, with a duration of up to 11 years until 2034, 

including options for extension. First options with a duration of two years were exercised in 2024. Under the contract, 

Soiltech provides its full technology portfolio of innovative and sustainable waste management solutions, including 

slop treatment, cuttings handling, swarf treatment and cleaning services. The technologies are installed and operated 

by Soiltech on Equinor’s fixed installations, and on mobile drilling units working for Equinor. Although the frame 

contract is important for the Company, the Company is not dependent on it. The Company's various other customer 

contracts are further described in Section 8.4 "Clients".  

No single industrial, commercial or financial contract, patent or license or new manufacturing process are deemed 

material to the Group's business or profitability. 

 Research and development  

Although the Company does not undertake specific research or development activities, it has a strong focus on 

innovation and is continuously focusing on improving existing technologies and developing new solutions, based on 

experience from operations and market needs.  The Group is currently executing several new technology initiatives 

which will support its strategy to increase the attractiveness of its offering, including:  

Cuttings Treatment Technology (CTT): The Company has developed a new technology for treating drill cuttings 

contaminated with drilling fluids. The cuttings treatment technology (CTT) is a non-thermal, mechanical technology. 

The CTT will be introduced to the onshore market. The treatment process has no ignition sources and has a lower 

energy consumption, and reduced CO2 emissions compared to existing thermal solutions. The treated cuttings may 

be reused in cement production or road fills. The treated water and oil may be recovered for reuse in the treatment 

process or for building new drilling fluids.19 

 
19 Source: Company data 
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Biodegradable chemicals: In connection with the acquisition of Sorbwater, the Company acquired patent rights 

for certain biodegradable chemicals. These biodegradable chemicals may be used in various applications for treating 

contaminated water, amongst other for cleaning produced water in the oil and gas industry. Produced water is water 

that comes out of the well together with the oil during production. Produced water contains soluble and non-soluble 

oil/organics, suspended solids, dissolved solids, and various chemicals used in the production process. The 

biodegradable chemicals may be delivered as a complementary service to the Company’s Slop treatment technology 

(STT).  

Other potential industries where biodegradable chemicals may be used for treatment of contaminated water includes 

mining, municipal and aquaculture. 

The above technologies are ready for operation and in process of being commercialized to various clients. There is 

thus no further capital needed for development. 

 

Cuttings Treatment Technology 
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9 CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS  

 Introduction 

The financial information presented below has been extracted from the Interim Financial Statements and should be 

read in conjunction with the other parts of the Prospectus, in particular Section 10 "Selected Financial Information 

and Other Information" and Section 11 "Operating and Financial Review". 

This Section 9 "Capitalisation and indebtedness" provides information about the unaudited consolidated capitalisation 

and net financial indebtedness on an actual basis as at 30 June 2024 and, in the "Adjustment amount" column, the 

estimated impact to the Group's consolidated capitalisation and net financial indebtedness of the events described 

below. 

Adjustments for estimated effects of the following events: 

• On 10 September 2024, the Company merged with Oceanteam, involving Oceanteam transferring all its 

assets, rights and obligations to the Company, as the acquiring company. The shareholders in Oceanteam 

received as consideration 0.01543 shares in the Company for each share in Oceanteam. In aggregate, 

527,947 consideration shares were issued by Company as part of the Merger at a subscription price of 

approximately NOK 41.058 per share, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.10. For further information, see 

Section 4.3 "The Merger". 

• Conditional upon the Merger, the Company has increased its share capital through bonus share issue to 

comply with the Norwegian Public Companies Act’s minimum share capital requirement for public limited 

companies. The capital increase was carried out through an increase of the par value of the Company’s 

shares by NOK 0.03 per share, from NOK 0.10 to NOK 0.13 per share. The share capital increased with 

NOK 238 thousand, from NOK 793 thousand to NOK 1,031 thousand. For further information, see Section 

13.3 "Share capital and share capital history". 

Other than as set forth above, there has been no material change to the Group's consolidated capitalisation and net 

financial indebtedness since 30 June 2024. 

 Capitalisation 

The following Table 10 sets forth information about the Company's unaudited consolidated capitalisation as at 30 

June 2024: 

Table 10 - Capitalisation    

 
As at 

30 June 2024 (a) 

Adjustment  

amount(b) 

As adjusted as of the 

date of the 

Prospectus 

(In NOK thousands)    

    

Total current debt:    

Guaranteed

 ...............................................................................................  - - - 

Secured

 ...............................................................................................  35,974(1) - 35,974 

Unguaranteed / unsecured

 ...............................................................................................  43,443(2) - 43,443 

Total current debt:

 ...............................................................................................  
79,417 - 79,417 

    

Total non-current debt:    

Guaranteed

 ...............................................................................................  - - - 

Secured

 ...............................................................................................  155,990(3) - 155,990 

Unguaranteed / unsecured

 ...............................................................................................  616(4) - 616 

Total non-current debt

 ...............................................................................................  
156,607 - 156,607 

Total indebtedness

 ...............................................................................................  
236,024 - 236,024 

    

Shareholders' equity    

Share capital

 ...............................................................................................  741(5) 291(7) 1,031 

Legal reserve(s

 ...............................................................................................  - - - 

Other reserves

 ...............................................................................................  175,150(6) 21,386(8) 196,536 
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Total shareholders' equity

 ...............................................................................................  
175,891 21,677 197,567 

Total capitalisation

 ...............................................................................................  
411,914 21,677 433,590 

 

(a) The data set forth in this column are derived from the Interim Financial Statements for the six-month period 

ended 30 June 2024: 

1) Secured current debt of NOK 35,974 thousand comprises the current financial statement line-item Borrowings of 

NOK 23,298 thousand secured in the Group's Property, plant & equipment and Trade receivables. The remaining 

part of NOK 12,676 thousand relates to the current financial statement line litem Lease liabilities, which is secured 

in the underlying leased assets.  

2) Unguaranteed/unsecured current debt of NOK 43,443 thousand consists of the financial statement line-item Trade 

payables of NOK 20,271 thousand and Other current liabilities of NOK 23,172 thousand.  

3) Secured non-current debt of NOK 155,990 thousand comprises the non-current financial statement line-item 

Borrowings of NOK 94,822 thousand, secured in the Group's Property, plant & equipment and Trade receivables, 

and the non-current financial statement line litem Lease liabilities of NOK 61,168 thousand, secured in the underlying 

leased assets.  

4) Unguaranteed/unsecured non-current debt of NOK 616 thousand consists of the financial statement line-item 

Other non-current liabilities.  

5) Share capital of NOK 741 thousand represents the share capital of the Company.  

6) Other reserves of NOK 175,150 thousand comprises the financial statement line items Other paid-in equity of NOK 

83,948 thousand, Other reserves of NOK 2,416 thousand and Retained earnings of NOK 88,786 thousand.  

 

(b) Adjustment amount: 

7) The adjustment amount of NOK 291 thousand comprises (i) the increase in share capital following the Merger of 

NOK 53 thousand and (ii) the increase in share capital of NOK 238 thousand following the bonus share issue. The 

latter was carried out through an increase of the par value of the Company’s shares by NOK 0.03 per share, from 

NOK 0.10 to NOK 0.13 per share. 

8) The adjustment amount of NOK 21,386 thousand comprises (i) the increase in share premium following the Merger 

of NOK 21,624 thousand, as well as (ii) the transfer of NOK 238 thousand from the Company’s unrestricted equity 

to share capital following the bonus share issue. 

 Net financial indebtedness 

The following Table 11 set forth information about the Company's consolidated net financial indebtedness as at 30 

June 2024: 

Table 11 – Net financial indebtedness    

(In NOK thousands) 

As at 

30 June 2024 (a) 

Adjustment  

amount (b) 

As adjusted as of 

the date of the 

Prospectus 

    

 
   

(A) Cash 25,477(1) 21,398 (5) 46,875 

(B) Cash equivalents…………………………………………………………………. - - - 

(C) Other current financial assets…………………………………………….. - - - 

(D) Liquidity (A)+(B)+(C)…………………………………………. 25,477 21,398 46,875 

(E) 

 

Current financial debt (including debt instruments, but 

excluding current portion of non-current financial debt)…… 2,810(2) - 2,810 

 

(F) Current portion of non-current financial debt……………………. 35,974(3) - 35,974 

(G) Current financial indebtedness (E + F)……………………….. 38,784 - 38,784 

(H) Net current financial indebtedness (G – D)……………. 13,307 (21,398) (8,091) 

(I) 

Non-current financial debt (excluding current portion and 

debt instruments)………………………………………………………………… 155,990(4) - 155,990 

 

(J) Debt instruments…………………………………………………………………. - - - 

 

(K) Non-current trade and other payables……………………………….. - - - 
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Table 11 – Net financial indebtedness    

(In NOK thousands) 

As at 

30 June 2024 (a) 

Adjustment  

amount (b) 

As adjusted as of 

the date of the 

Prospectus 

    

(L) Non-current financial indebtedness (I+J+K)…………. 155,990 - 155,990 

 

(M) Total financial indebtedness (H+L)………………………. 169,297 (21,398) 147,899 

  

 

(a) The data set forth in this column are derived from the Interim Financial Statements for the six-month period 

ended 30 June 2024: 

1) Cash of NOK 25,477 thousand consists of the financial statement line-item Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and 

cash equivalents comprises ordinary bank deposits of NOK 23,573 thousand and restricted cash of NOK 1,904 

thousand. 

2) Current financial debt of NOK 2,810 thousand comprises the portion of the financial statement line-item Other 

current liabilities related to Currency forward contracts. 

3) Current portion of non-current financial debt of NOK 35,974 thousand comprises the current financial statement 

line items Borrowings of NOK 23,298 thousand and Lease liabilities of NOK 12,676 thousand.  

4) Non-current financial debt (excluding current portion and debt instruments) of NOK 155,990 thousand comprises 

the non-current financial statement line items Borrowings of NOK 94,822 thousand and Lease liabilities of NOK 

61,168 thousand. 

 

(b) Adjustments:  

5) The adjustment amount of approximately NOK 21,398 thousand represents the increase in cash following the 

Merger (as further described in Section 4.3 "The Merger").  

  Working capital statement 

The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for the Group's present 

requirements, for the period covering at least 12 months from the date of this Prospectus. 

 Contingent and indirect indebtedness 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group had the following material contingent or indirect indebtedness not 

presented in Section 9.3 “Net financial indebtedness”: 

• The Group has entered into lease agreements for equipment not yet delivered. Hence the liability is not 

recognised in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The lease agreements amount to NOK 54 

million. The equipment is expected to be delivered in Q4 2024.  

Other than set out above, the Group does not have any material contingent or indirect indebtedness. 
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10 SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER INFORMATION  

 Introduction and basis for preparation 

The Company has prepared the audited annual consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 

December 2023 in accordance with IFRS, with unaudited comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 

December 2022. Further, the Company has prepared audited annual consolidated financial statements for the 

financial years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 in accordance with NGAAP.  

Moreover, the Company has prepared unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six-month period ended 

30 June 2024 in accordance with IAS 34, which has been subject to a limited audit review by PwC.  

The IFRS Financial Statements is included as Appendix C, the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2022 is included as Appendix D, and the 2021 NGAAP Financial Statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2021 is included as Appendix E to this Prospectus. The IFRS Financial Statements and the 

2022 NGAAP Financial Statements have been audited by PwC. The 2021 NGAAP Financial Statements have been 

audited by Revisjon Ryfylke. The auditor's reports do not contain any modifications of emphasis on matters. 

 Summary of accounting policies and principles  

For information regarding accounting policies and principles, see the individual notes of the IFRS Financial 

Statements, attached hereto as Appendix C.  

For the IFRS Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 the Company converted from NGAAP to 

IFRS. Date of transition is 1 January 2022, and all comparative figures have been restated accordingly. The primary 

effect of the transition relates to implementation of IFRS 16 – Leasing. For further details of effects of the transition 

per transition date and for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 please refer to note 26 in the IFRS Financial 

Statements, attached hereto as Appendix C.  

 Consolidated statement of profit and loss 

Table 12 below sets out selected data from the Company's consolidated profit and loss for the six-month period 

ended and the three-month period ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, derived from the Interim Financial Statements, 

as well as the Company’s consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, derived from 

the IFRS Financial Statements.  

 

Table 12 – Consolidated 

statement of profit or loss 
 

Three-month period 

ended 30 June 

Six month period 

ended 30 June 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Revenue  69 667 64 149 125 662 104 524 229 112 177 073 

Other operating income  21 321 53 363 167 1 097 

Total operating income  69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887  229 279   178 170 

Costs of materials  (14 648) (16 324) (20 314) (23 780) (39 696) (33 499) 

Personnel expenses  (33 136) (27 830) (66 558) (49 853) (115 990) (90 104) 

Depreciation and amortization  (5 265) (4 663) (9 936) (8 744) (17 930) (16 032) 

Impairment  - - - - (5 050) - 

Other operating expenses  (9 865) (6 250) (17 426) (10 473) (25 442) (15 857) 

Total operating expenses  (62 914) (55 067) (114 233) (92 850) (204 109) (155 492) 

Other gains  - - - - 15 000 - 

        

Operating profit  6 774 9 403 11 482 12 037 40 170 22 678 

Net foreign exchange gains (losses)  (423) 138 722 946 186 (138) 

Financial income  17 112 - 262 296 539 

Financial expenses  (3 655) (1 998) (6 460) (3 985) (8 371) (4 277) 

Net financial items  (4 061) (1 748) (5 688) (2 777) (7 890) (3 876) 

        

Profit before tax  2 713 7 655 5 794 9 260 32 280 18 803 

Income tax expense  (326) (2 037) 1 058 (2 037) (4 869) (4 146) 

Profit for the period  2 388 5 618 4 735 7 222 27 411 14 657 

 

Table 13 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated profit or loss for the years ended 31 

December 2022 and 2021, derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements. 
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Table 13 – Consolidated statement of 

profit or loss, NGAAP  

 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Revenue from contracts with customers  177 073 136 545 

Other revenue  1 097 101 

Total revenue  178 170  136 646 

Raw materials and consumables used  (35 220) (30 340) 

Employee benefits  (88 383) (62 210) 

Depreciation and amortization  (14 799) (11 791) 

Impairment  - 1 205 

Other operating expenses  (17 372) (17 954) 

Total operating expenses  (155 775) (121 089) 

    

Operating profit  22 396 15 557 

Interest income  539 191 

Interest expenses  (3 950) (1 564) 

Other financial income  675 270 

Other financial expenses  (869) (179) 

Net financial items  (3 604) (1 282) 

    

Profit before tax  18 791 14 275 

Income tax expense  (4 143) (3 388) 

Profit for the period  14 648 10 888 

 

 Statement of financial position 

Table 14 below sets out selected data from the Company’s unaudited consolidated statement of financial position as 

at 30 June 2024, derived from the Interim Financial Statements, as well as the Company’s consolidated statement 

of financial position as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, derived from the IFRS Financial Statements. The 

development in the balance sheet is commented further in Section 11 "Operating and financial review". 

 

Table 14 – Consolidated 

statement of financial position, 

IFRS  

 

 

As at 30 June As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Deferred tax assets  10 325 10 403 15 272 

Intangible assets  2 412 1 811 6 795 

Property, plant & equipment  199 880 181 117 130 300 

Right-of-use assets  98 431 71 140 40 352 

Investments in subsidiaries  - - - 

Other non-current assets  797 762 738 

Total non-current assets  311 844 265 234 193 457 

     

Inventories  159 159 238 

Trade receivables  56 764 44 195 29 244 

Cash and cash equivalents  25 477 26 783 38 832 

Other current assets  17 670 14 310 8 047 

Total current assets  100 070 85 447 76 362 

TOTAL ASSETS  411 914 350 681 269 818 

     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Equity     

Share capital  741 741 741 

Other paid-in equity  83 948 83 948 83 948 
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Table 14 – Consolidated 

statement of financial position, 
IFRS  

 

 

As at 30 June As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Other reserves  2 416 1 826 1 132 

Retained earnings  88 786 84 050 56 639 

Total equity  175 890 170 565 142 460 

     

Non-current liabilities     

Borrowings  94 822 68 913 38 892 

Lease liabilities  61 168 41 847 16 742 

Deferred tax liabilities  - - - 

Other non-current liabilities  616 669 15 796 

Total non-current liabilities  156 606 111 429 71 430 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade payables  20 271 13 153 9 017 

Borrowings  23 298 16 860 13 325 

Lease liabilities  12 676 10 409 8 820 

Tax payable  - - - 

Other current liabilities  23 172 28 265 24 767 

Total current liabilities  79 417 68 687 55 929 

Total liabilities  236 023 180 116 127 359 

     

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  411 914 350 681 269 818 

 

Table 15 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2022 and 2021, derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements. 

 

Table 15 – Consolidated statement of 

financial position, NGAAP  

 

 

As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

INTANGIBLE ASSETS    

Patents/other intangible assets  1 745 461 

Deferred tax assets   15 133 - 

Goodwill  5 090 - 

Total intangible assets  21 968 461 

    

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS    

Leased assets  47 126 33 508 

Property, plant and equipment  110 584 84 700 

Newbuilds  19 716 4 268 

Total intangible assets  177 426 122 476 

    

FINANCIAL ASSETS    

Investments in subsidiaries  - - 

Restricted cash  738 171 

Other assets  - 123 

Total financial assets  738 294 

    

Total non-current assets  200 132 123 231 

    

Current assets    

RECEIVABLES    

Trade receivables  22 288 28 945 

Other current assets  15 003 21 435 
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Table 15 – Consolidated statement of 

financial position, NGAAP  

 

 

As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Trade receivables Group  - - 

Total receivables  37 291 50 381 

    

INVENTORIES    

Inventories  238 - 

Total inventories  238 - 

    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

Cash and cash equivalents  38 832 39 232 

Total cash and cash equivalents  38 832 39 232 

    

Total current assets  76 362 89 613 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  276 492 212 844 

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Equity    

PAID-IN CAPITAL    

Share capital  741 720 

Share premium  83 948 68 914 

Other paid-in equity  1 132 1 131 

Total Paid-in capital  85 820 70 675 

    

RETAINED EARNINGS    

Retained earnings  57 132 42 485 

Total retained earnings  57 132 42 485 

    

TOTAL EQUITY  142 953 113 249 

    

Liabilities    

PROVISIONS    

Deferred tax  - 6 040 

Other provisions  796 911 

Total provisions  796 6 951 

    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Liabilities to financial institution  61 795 40 106 

Other non-current liabilities  18 081 55 

Total non-current liabilities  79 876 40 161 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade payables  9 178 13 321 

Trade payable Group  - - 

Tax payable  - 931 

Public duties payable  7 896 7 293 

Current portion of long-term debt  21 254 16418 

Other current liabilities  14 541 14 520 

Total current liabilities  52 868 52 483 

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  133 593 99 594 

    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  276 492 212 844 

 Statement of cash flow 

Table 16 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the six-month 

period ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, derived from the Interim Financial Statements, as well as the Company’s 
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consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, derived from the IFRS 

Financial Statements. 

 

Table 16 – Consolidated 

statement of cash flows 

 

 

Six-month period 
ended 30 June 

Year ended 
31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Cash flows from operating 
activities 

     

Profit before tax  5 794 9 260 32 280 18 803 

Income taxes paid  (980) - - (933) 

Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment 

 
9 936 8 744 22 980 16 032 

Interest expense  5 883 3 013 7 757 4 221 

Other gains  - - (15 000) - 

Profit/(loss) on investing activities  - - - (982) 

Changes in trade receivables, contract 

assets/liabilities 
 

(12 725) (15 872) (14 533) 6 555 

Changes in trade payables  13 203 6 523 2 186 (4 596) 

Changes in other accruals and 
prepayments 

 
(13 889) (6 540) 1 078 6 617 

Net cash flow from operating 

activities 
 

7 221 5 128 36 748 45 716 

      

Cash flow from investing activities      

Purchase of property, plant & 

equipment & Intangible assets 
 (27 508) (28 754) (64 028) (49 900) 

Sale of property, plant and equipment  - - - 1 250 

Investment in subsidiary net of cash 

acquired 
 - - - (467) 

Net cash flow from investing 

activities  (27 508) (28 754) (64 028) (49 117) 

      

Cash flow from financing activities      

Proceeds from new borrowings  39 700 15 200 45 561 25 301 

Repayments on borrowings  (8 105) (6 649) (13 226) (10 371) 

Payment of principle portion of lease 

liabilities 
 (7 487) (5 306) (10 567) (7 518) 

Interest paid  (5 131) (3 041) (6 537) (4 448) 

Proceeds from capital increase  - - - 55 

Net cash flow from financing 

activities 
 18 981 204 15 231 3 019 

      

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  (1 306) (23 422) (12 049) (400) 

Cash and Cash equivalents 31.12  25 477 15 410 26 783 38 832 

 

Table 17 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 

31 December 2022 and 2021, derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements. 

 

Table 17 – Consolidated statement of 

cash flows, NGAAP 

 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit before tax  18 791 14 275 

Income taxes paid  (933) - 

Ordinary depreciation/impairment fixed 
assets 

 
14 799 10 585 

Profit & loss on investing activities  (982) - 

Interest expense  3 950 1 564 

Change in restricted cash  (499) - 

Changes in trade receivables  6 555 (18 647) 

Changes in trade creditors  (4 596) 19 778 
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Table 17 – Consolidated statement of 

cash flows, NGAAP 

 

 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Changes in other current balance sheet items  6 889 (14 954) 

Net cash flow from operating activities  43 974 12 599 

    

Cash flow from investing activities    

Sale of property, plant and equipment  1 250 - 

Purchase of property, plant & equipment  (49 900) (24 440) 

Loans to related party  - - 

Investment in subsidiary net of cash 
acquired 

 (467) - 

Net cash flow from investing activities  (49 117) (24 440) 

    

Cash flow from financing activities    

New long-term debt  25 301 11 200 

Net proceeds from issue of shares  55 9 339 

Repayments of long-term debt  (10 371) (6 115) 

Payment of lease liabilities  (6 047) (2 487) 

Payment of interest  (4 117) (1 561) 

Net cash flow from financing activities  4 761 10 375 

    

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  (401) (1 465) 

Cash and cash equivalents 01.01  39 232 40 696 

Cash and Cash equivalents 31.12  38 832 39 232 

 Statement of changes in equity 

Table 18 below sets out selected data from the Company’s unaudited consolidated statement of changes in equity 

for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024, derived from the Interim Financial Statements, as well as the 

Company’s audited consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, 

derived from the IFRS Financial Statements. 

 

Table 18 – Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity 

  

 

    

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

Share capital 

Other paid-in 

equity 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings Total equity 

       

Balance at 1 January 2024  741 83 948 1 826 84 051 170 566 

Profit for the period  - - - 4 735 4 735 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  741 83 948 1 826 4 735 4 735 

       

Transactions with owners       

Share-based payment  - - 590 - 590 

Contribution of equity  - - - - - 

       

Balance at 30 June 2024  741 83 948 2 416 88 785 175 890 

       

Balance at 31 December 2022 (NGAAP)  741 83 948 1 132 57 132 142 953 

Effects of transition to IFRS  - - - (493) (493) 

Balance at 1 January 2023  741 83 948 1 132 56 639 142 460 

Profit for the period  - - - 27 411 27 411 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  - - - 27 411 27 411 

       

Transactions with owners       

Share-based payment  - - 694 - 694 

Contribution of equity  - - - - - 
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Table 18 – Consolidated statement of 

changes in equity 

  

 

    

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

Share capital 

Other paid-in 

equity 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings Total equity 

Balance at 31 December 2023  741 83 948 1 826 84 051 170 565 

       

Balance at 31 December 2021 (NGAAP)  720 68 914 1 131 42 485 113 249 

Effects of transition to IFRS  - - - (502) (502) 

Balance at 1 January 2022  720 68 914 1 131 41 983 112 747 

Profit for the period  - - - 14 657 14 657 

Other comprehensive income  - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income  - - - 14 657 14 657 

       

Transactions with owners       

Exercise of share options  1 55 - - 55 

Share-based payment  - - 1 - 1 

Consideration shares business combination  20 14 980 - - 15 000 

       

Balance at 31 December 2022  741 83 948 1 132 56 639 142 460 

 

Table 19 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years 

ended 31 December 2022, derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements. 

 
Table 19 – Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, NGAAP 

  

 

    

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

Share capital 

Share 

premium 

Other paid-in 

equity 

Retained 

earnings Total equity 

       

Balance at 1 January 2022  720 68 914 1 131 42 485 113 249 

Increase in share capital  21 15 035 - - 15 055 

Other paid-in capital – option program  - - 1 - 1 

Profit for the year  - - - 146 48 14 648 

       

Balance at 31 December 2022  741 83 948 1 132 57 132 142 953 

 

Table 20 below sets out selected data from the Company’s consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years 

ended 31 December 2021, derived from the 2021 NGAAP Financial Statements. 

 
Table 20 – Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, NGAAP 

  

 

   

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

Share capital Share premium 

Other paid-in 

equity Total equity 

      

Balance at 1 January 2021  660 60 766 31 597 93 023 

Increase in share capital  60 8 148 - 8 208 

Other paid-in capital – option program  - - - 1 131 

Profit for the year  - - 10 888 10 888 

      

Balance at 31 December 2021  720 68 914 42 485 113 249 
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11 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

This operating and financial review should be read together with Section 0 "General Information", Section 8 "Business 

of the Group", Section 10 "Selected Financial and Other Information" and the Financial Statements, including related 

notes, included in Appendix B (IAS 34 2024 and 2023), Appendix C (IFRS 2023 and 2022), Appendix D (NGAAP 

2022) and  Appendix E (NGAAP 2021) of this Prospectus. This operating and financial review contains forward-

looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but are rather based on the Group's 

current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections about the Group's industry, business, strategy and 

future financial results. Actual results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking 

statements because of a number of factors, including those discussed in Section 2 "Risk factors" and Section 4.5 

"Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements" of this Prospectus, as well as other sections of this 

Prospectus. 

 Key factors affecting the Group's results of operations and financial performance 

The Group’s results of operations and financial performance have been, and are expected to continue to be, 

influenced by several key factors. These factors have varying degrees of impact on the Group's operations, and in 

some instances, they may counterbalance each other. The key factors that Management believes have had a material 

effect on the Group's results of operations during the period under review, as well as those considered likely to have 

a material effect on its results of operations in the future, are described below. 

 Oil and gas market conditions 

The Group's financial performance is influenced by the conditions in the oil and gas market. The Group's technologies 

and services are primarily targeted towards clients in the oil and gas sector, making the Group’s revenues sensitive 

to changes in oil and gas prices and investment levels in the industry. World economic growth rates and geopolitical 

events may influence the oil and gas prices. For instance, the recent invasion of Ukraine led to increased volatility 

in the prices. When oil and gas prices are high, oil and gas companies are more likely to invest in exploration and 

production activities. This may lead to higher revenues and potentially improved profitability for the Group. 

Conversely, a downturn in the oil and gas market, characterized by low oil and gas prices and reduced investments, 

could lead to a decrease in demand for the Group's technologies and services, negatively impacting its revenues and 

profitability. 

 Environmental regulations 

As a provider of drilling waste management services with a focus on providing environmentally friendly solutions, 

the Group's operations and financial performance are significantly influenced by environmental regulations. Stricter 

regulations to carbon emissions and requirements for waste reduction, waste recovery and reuse may increase the 

demand for the Group's technologies and services. For example, regulations that impose penalties for pollution and 

carbon emission could incentivize oil and gas companies to utilize the Group's technologies and services, thereby 

increasing the Group's revenues. However, stricter regulations may also lead to increased investments and higher 

operational costs, since the Group must continue to develop and invest in technologies and processes to ensure 

compliance and meeting the customers’ demand for sustainable waste treatment solutions. 

 Attracting and retaining key personnel 

The Group's ability to attract and retain skilled personnel is important for its operations and financial performance 

as the cost of personnel is the most significant operating expense for the Group. Historically, the Group has invested 

in personnel for future growth, while increasing the average number of employees from 67 in 2021 to 125 in 2023. 

If the Group succeeds to attract and retain such personnel, the Group may maintain operational efficiency, in terms 

of consistent service delivery and customer satisfaction, and potentially, as a result, growth in revenues. Should the 

Group fail to attract and retain skilled personnel, the Group may experience operational inefficiencies, which could 

lead to reduced customer satisfaction, lower demand for its services, and ultimately, decreased revenues. 

 Technology development 

Technology development is a key factor that affects the Group's financial performance. The Group's ability to develop 

and implement innovative technologies gives the Group a competitive edge and have contributed to its financial 

performance. For instance, the Group's STT and cuttings handling system have enabled the Group to offer 

competitive solutions to its clients, leading to increased market share and higher revenues.20 However, rapid 

technological advancements are expected in the sector. If the Group is unable to keep pace with these 

advancements, it could lose its competitive edge, leading to decreased demand for its services and lower revenues. 

 Customer concentration 

 
20 Company information. 
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The Group's financial performance is influenced by its customer concentration. The Group's top four customers 

account for approximately 63% of its revenue based on Q2 2024 figures. For each of these customers, the Group 

has several ongoing contracts. The customer concentration has provided steady revenue growth for the Group. 

However, it may also expose the Group to risk. Should one of these customers reduce their orders or terminate their 

relationship with the Group, the Group will experience a reduction in revenues.  The Group's ability to maintain 

strong relationships with its key customers and continue the diversification of its customer base, is a key factor for 

the Group’s financial performance. 

 Recent developments and trends 

The Company is not aware of any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably 

likely to have a material effect on the Company's prospects for the current financial year.  

 Segment and revenue information 

The Group has only one operating and reportable segment in accrodance with IFRS 8, being the Group as a whole.  

The Group generates revenues in the following main geo-markets: Norway, Europe (excluding Norway) and Rest of 

the World. Europe primarily consist of United Kingdom, Netherlands, Romania and Cyprus. 

Table 21 below presents revenues for each of the Group's geographic areas of activity for the six-month periods 

ended 2024 and 2023 and the years ended 31 December 2023, 2022 and 2021.  

Table 21 – Consolidated revenue by geographic 

area  Six-month period ended 

30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

(Amounts in NOK thousands)  

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

2022 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

2021 

NGAAP  

Unaudited 

Norway  91 275  80 944   167 007   147 289   147 289   118 945  

Europe (excl. Norway)  33 671  19 193   49 965   27 775   27 775   16 011  

Rest of the world  769  4 750   12 307   3 106   3 106   1 690  

Total operating income  125 715  104 887   229 279   178 170   178 170   136 646  

 

 Results of operations 

 Results of operations for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 compared to the six-month period ended 

30 June 2023 

Table 22 and the descriptions below set forth the results of operations for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 

prepared in accordance with IAS 34, compared to the results of operations for the six-month period ended 30 June 

2023 prepared in accordance with IAS 34 derived from the Interim Financial Statements. 

Table 22 – Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
 

Six-month period ended 

 30 June 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited Change in % 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

Revenue  125 662 20 % 104 524  

Other operating income  53 (85) % 363  

Total operating income  125 715 20 % 104 887 

Costs of materials  (20 314) (15) % (23 780)  

Personnel expenses  (66 558) 34 % (49 853)  

Depreciation and amortization  (9 936) 14 % (8 744) 

Impairment  - n.m. -    

Other operating expenses  (17 426) 66 % (10 473)  

Total operating expenses  (114 233) 23 % (92 850) 

     

Operating profit  11 482 (5) % 12 037 

Net foreign exchange gains (losses)  772 (18) % 946 

Financial income  - (100) % 262  

Financial expenses  (6 460) 62 % (3 985)  

Net financial items  (5 688) 105 % (2 777) 

     

Profit before tax  5 794 (37) % 9 260  
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Table 22 – Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
 

Six-month period ended 

 30 June 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited Change in % 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

Income tax expense  (1 058) (48) % (2 037)  

Profit for the period  4 735 (34) % 7 222 

 

Revenue  

Revenue for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 was NOK 125.7 million compared to NOK 104.5 million for 

the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. The increase was primarily due to higher activity, with an increase in the 

number of projects from the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings handling services. The Group succeeded 

in selling more of its technology portfolio to several clients with projects for both treatment of contaminated water 

and cuttings handling. The Group experienced increased international activity for the first half of 2024 compared to 

the first half of 2023, particularly in Europe. 

 

Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 were NOK 114.2 million compared to NOK 

92.9 million for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. The increase was primarily due to increase in personnel 

expenses and increase in other operating expenses. The increase in personnel expenses was primarily due to 

increased activity mainly as the number of employees increased to approximate 129 compared to 100. In addition, 

the increase in other operating expenses was primarily due to legal and advisors' costs related to the listing process 

on Euronext Expand, and an increase in cost due to implementation of new software solutions. The increase in 

operating expenses was partly offset by a decrease in cost of materials primarily due to a shift in the Group’s use of 

labour as the Group utilized more hired employees, as explained above, which resulted in less reliance on contracted 

labour.  

 

The increase in depreciation and amortisation was a result of the addition of property, plant and equipment during 

the first half of 2024, primarily related to investment in equipment for the treatment of contaminated water and 

cuttings handling equipment. 

 

Operating profit/(loss) 

The Operating profit/(loss) for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 was NOK 11.5 million compared to NOK 

12.0 million for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. The change in Operating profit/(loss) was primarily due 

to the factors described above. 

 

Net financial items 

Net financial items for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 were NOK (5.7) million compared to NOK (2.8) 

million for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. The change was mainly due to an increase in interest expenses 

due to an increase in borrowings and increased interest rates. 

 

Income tax expense 

Income tax expense for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 was NOK 1.1 million compared to NOK 2.0 million 

for the six months period ended 30 June 2023. 

 Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 compared to the year ended 31 December 

2022 

Table 23 and the descriptions below set forth the results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 

2023 prepared in accordance with IFRS, compared to the results of operations for the financial year ended 31 

December 2022 prepared in accordance with IFRS derived from the IFRS Financial Statements.   

Table 23 – Consolidated 

statement of profit or 
loss 

 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK 

thousands) 

 

 
2023 

IFRS 

Audited Change in % 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Revenue  229 112 29 % 177 073 

Other operating income  167 (85) % 1 097 

Total operating income   229 279   29 % 178 170 

Costs of materials  (39 696) 18 % (33 499) 

Personnel expenses  (115 990) 29 % (90 104) 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

 (17 930) 12 % (16 032) 

Impairment  (5 050) 0 % - 
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Table 23 – Consolidated 

statement of profit or 

loss 

 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK 

thousands) 

 

 
2023 

IFRS 

Audited Change in % 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Other operating expenses  (25 442) 60 % (15 857) 

Total operating 

expenses  (204 109) 31 % (155 492) 

Other gains  15 000 - - 

     

Operating profit  40 170 77 % 22 678 

Net foreign exchange gains 
(losses) 

 186 (235) % (138) 

Financial income  296 (45) % 539 

Financial expenses  (8 371) (96) % (4 277) 

Net financial items  (7 890) (104) % (3 876) 

     

Profit before tax  32 280 (72) % 18 803 

Income tax expense  (4 869) 17 % (4 146) 

Profit for the period  27 411 87 % 14 657 

 

Revenue  

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 were NOK 229.1 million compared to NOK 177.1 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to higher activity, with an increase in the number of 

projects for the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings handling services. The Group succeeded in selling in 

more of is technology portfolio to several clients. The Group experienced increased higher international activity in 

2023 compared to 2022, particularly in Europe, with projects for both treatment of contaminated water and cuttings 

handling.  

 

Other operating income  

Other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2023 were NOK 0.2 million compared to NOK 1.1 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the sale of certain equipment to a customer 

in 2022, which is not deemed as part of the ordinary business.  

 

Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the year ended December 2023 were NOK 204.1 million compared to NOK 155.5 million 

for the year December 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in Personnel expenses and Cost of 

materials, primarily due to the increased activity. The number of employees increased to 125 as of 31 December 

2023 compared to 94 as of 31 December 2022 contributing to the increase.  

 

The increase in Other operating expenses is mainly due to an increase in travel expenses, partly re-chargeable to 

clients, and legal advisor costs. In 2023, the Group incurred cost related to the listing process on Euronext Expand, 

including cost for legal and financial advisors, and an increase in cost due to the implementation of new software 

solutions. The increase in depreciation and amortization was a result of the addition of property, plant and equipment 

during 2023, primarily related to investment in equipment for the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings 

handling equipment.  

 

In 2023, the Group made an impairment related to goodwill of NOK 5.0 million. The goodwill was recognised in 2022 

in connection with the acquisition of Sorbwater, see note 22 in the IFRS Financial Statements for further information. 

The impairment was related to a delay in the expected synergies from the Sorbwater transaction and a subsequent 

revision of the business plan. Since the timing of the realization of such synergies is uncertain, the goodwill was 

impaired in full. 

 

Other gains 

Other gains for the year ended 31 December 2023 were NOK 15 million compared to zero for the year ended 31 

December 2022. A contingent consideration of NOK 15 million was recognized as part of the consideration when 

acquiring Sorbwater in 2022. The expected synergies from Sorbwater's patented biodegradable chemicals are 

delayed and the business plan was therefore revised. Since achieving certain thresholds under the Sorbwater share 

purchase agreement is uncertain, the contingent consideration of NOK 15 million that was recognized as part of the 

consideration in 2022 has been reversed and recognized as other gain in 2023. 

 

Operating profit/(loss) 

The Operating profit/(loss) for the year ended 31 December 2023 was NOK 40.2 million compared to NOK 22.7 for 

the year ended 31 December 2022. The change in Operating profit (loss) was primarily due to the factors described 

above. 
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Net Financial items 

Net Financial items for the period ended 31 December 2023 were net NOK (7.9) million, compared to NOK (3.9) 

million for the year ended December 2022. The change was mainly due to an increase in interest expense due to an 

increase in borrowings and increased interest rates.  

 

Income tax expense 

Income tax for the year ended December 2023 was NOK 4.9 million compared to NOK 4.1 million for the year ended 

31 December 2022 of NOK 4.9 million. 

 Results of operations for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended 31 December 

2021 

Table 24 and the descriptions below set forth the results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 

2022 prepared in accordance with NGAAP, compared to results of operations for the financial year ended 31 

December 2021 prepared in accordance with NGAAP derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements.   

Table 24 – Consolidated statement of 

profit or loss, NGAAP  
Year ended 

 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited Change in % 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Revenue from contracts with customers  177 073 30 % 136 545 

Other revenue  1 097 986 % 101 

Total revenue  178 170  30 % 136 646 

Raw materials and consumables used  (35 220) 16 % (30 340) 

Employee benefits  (88 383) 42 % (62 210) 

Depreciation and amortization  (14 799) 26 % (11 791) 

Impairment  - (100) % 1 205 

Other operating expenses  (17 372) (3) % (17 954) 

Total operating expenses  (155 775) (29) % (121 089) 

     

Operating profit  22 396 44 % 15 557 

Interest income  539 313 % 191 

Interest expenses  (3 950) 182 % (1 564) 

Other financial income  675 153 % 270 

Other financial expenses  (869) 181 % (179) 

Net financial items  (3 604) 44 % (1 282) 

     

Profit before tax  18 791 32 % 14 275 

Income tax expense  (4 143) 22 % (3 388) 

Profit for the period  14 648 35 % 10 888 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 31 December 2022 were NOK 177.1 million compared 

to NOK 136.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher activity, with 

an increase in the number of projects for the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings handling services.  The 

Group experienced a minor increase in international activity in 2022 compared to 2021, due to increased activity in 

Europe, both for the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings handling. 

Other revenue 

Other revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 were NOK 1.1 million compared to NOK 0.1 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to the sale of certain equipment to a customer in 

2022, which is not deemed as part of the ordinary business. 

Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 were NOK 155.8 million compared to NOK 121.1 

million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to increase in Employee benefits and 

Raw materials and consumables used due to increased activity. The number of employees increased to 72 as of 31 

December 2022 compared to 52 as of 31 December 2021.  

Other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 was mostly in line with the year ended 31 December 

2021.  
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The increase in depreciation and amortization was a result of the addition of property, plant and equipment during 

2022, primarily related to investment in equipment for the treatment of contaminated water and cuttings handling 

equipment.  

 

Operating profit 

The Operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was NOK 22.4 million compared to NOK 15.5 as of 31 

December 2021. The change in Operating profit was primarily due to the factors described above. 

Net financial items 

Net financial items for the period ended 31 December 2022 were NOK (3.6) million, compared to NOK (1.3) million 

for the year ended 31 December 2021. The change is mainly due to an increase in interest expenses due to increased 

amount of borrowings and increased interest rates. The Group entered into the Loan Facility in 2022 and made an 

initial drawing under tranche 1. Please refer to Section 11.7.5 "Financing arrangements" for more information.  

Income tax expense 

Income tax for the year ended December 2022 was NOK 4.1 million compared to NOK 3.3 million for the year ended 

31 December 2021. 

 Alternative Performance Measures 

Table 25, Table 26, Table 27, Table 28, Table 29, and Table 30 below set out certain APMs presented by the Group 

in this Prospectus. Table 25, Table 26, Table 27, Table 28, Table 29, and Table 30 below show the relevant APMs on 

a reconciled basis, to provide investors with an overview of the basis of calculation of such APMs.  

Table 25  
Three-month period ended 

30 June 
Six-month period ended 

30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

  
 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 

  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

        

Cost of materials  
14 648 16 324 20 314 23 780 39 696 33 499 

Personnel expenses  
33 136 27 830 66 558 49 853 115 990 90 104 

Other operating expenses  
9 865 6 250 17 426 10 473 25 442 15 857 

Less:   
      

Onshore expenses   
12 051 10 960 24 163 20 629 42 929 33 904 

Share incentive program  
(1 380) (31) (1 340) 1 096 1 500 865 

Severance payment  
- - - - - 5 763 

Legal costs – IPO   
3 518 - 3 968 - 1 542 - 

Operating cost   
43 460 39 475 77 507 62 380 135 157 98 928 

 

Table 26  
Three-month period ended 

30 June 
Six-month period ended 

30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

  

 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 

  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

              

Cost of materials  
14 648 16 324 20 314 23 780 39 696 33 499 

Personnel expenses  
33 136 27 830 66 558 49 853 115 990 90 104 

Other operating expenses  
9 865 6 250 17 426 10 473 25 442 15 857 

Less:  
      

Operating cost 
  43 460 39 475 77 507 62 380 135 157 98 928 

Share incentive program 
  (1 380) (31) (1 340) 1 096 1 500 865 

Severance payment 
  - - - - - 5 763 

Legal cost IPO  
  3 518 - 3 968 - 1 542 - 

SG&A   12 051 10 955 24 163 20 625 42 929 33 904 

 

Table 27  
Three-month period ended 

30 June 
Six-month period ended 

30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

   
2024 2023 2024 2023 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 
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  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

        

(a) Total operating income  
69 688 64 470 125 715 104 877 229 279 178 170 

Operating cost  
(43 460) (39 475) (77 507) (62 380) (135 157) (98 928) 

(b) Gross profit   26 228 24 995 48 208 42 506 94 122 79 242 

(b/a) Gross profit margin   38 % 39 % 38 % 41 % 41 % 44 % 

 

Table 28  
Three-month period ended 

30 June 
Six-month period ended 

30 June 
Year ended 31 December 

  

 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 

  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

          

Operating profit  
6 774 9 409 11 481 12 042 40 170 22 678 

Other gains  
- - - - (15 000) - 

Impairment  
- - - - 5 050 - 

Depreciation and amortization  
5 265 4 662 9 936 8 744 17 930 16 032 

(a) EBITDA   
12 039 14 072 21 417 20 786 48 150 38 710 

Adjusted for:  

      

Share incentive program 
  (1 380) (31) (1 340) 1 096 1 500 865 

Severance payment 
  - - - - - 5 763 

Legal cost – IPO  
  3 518 - 3 968 - 1 542 - 

(b) Adjusted EBITDA   
14 177 14 040 24 045 21 882 51 192 45 338 

(c) Total operating income 
  69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887 229 279 178 170 

(a/c) EBITDA margin   
17 % 22 % 17 % 20 % 21 % 22 % 

(b/c) Adjusted EBITDA Margin   
20 % 22 % 19 % 21 % 22 % 25 % 

 

Table 29  As at 30 June As at 31 December 

  

 

2024 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 

  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

          

Non-current Borrowings  
94 822 68 913 38 892 

Non-current Lease liabilities  
61 168 41 847 16 742 

Current Borrowings  
23 298 16 860 13 325 

Current Lease liabilities  
12 676 10 409 8 820 

Cash and cash equivalents  
(25 477) (26 783) (38 832) 

Net interest-bearing debt   
166 487 111 246 38 947 

 

Table 30  As at 30 June As at 31 December 

  

 

2024 2023 2022 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) IAS 34 IFRS IFRS 

  Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited 

          

(a) Total equity  
175 890 170 565 142 460 

(b) Total assets  
411 914 350 681 269 818 

(a/b) Equity ratio   
43 % 49 % 53 % 

 

See Section 4.2.4 "Alternative performance measures" above for a further description of the APMs presented below. 

 Financial position 

 Financial position as of 30 June 2024 compared to 31 December 2023 
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Table 31 and the descriptions below set forth the financial position as of 30 June 2024 prepared in accordance with 

IAS 34, compared to the financial position as of 31 December 2023 prepared in accordance with IFRS derived from 

the Interim Financial Statements.   

Table 31 – Compare financial position  

30 June 2024 vs 31 December 2023  
As at 30 June  As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited Change in % 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

ASSETS     

Total non-current assets  311 844 18% 265 234 

     

Total current assets  100 070 17% 85 447 

     

TOTAL ASSETS  411 914 17% 350 681 

     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Total equity  175 890 3% 170 565 

     

Total non-current liabilities  156 606 41% 111 429 

     

Total current liabilities  79 417 16% 68 687 

     

Total liabilities  236 023 31% 180 116 

     

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  411 914 17% 350 681 

 

Total non-current assets 
As of 30 June 2024, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 311.8 million compared to NOK 265.2 as of 31 
December 2023. The increase was primarily due to additions of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets. The additions were related to slop treatment equipment, cuttings handling equipment and other waste 
management equipment. 
 
Total current assets 
As of 30 June 2024, the Group’s total current assets were 100.1 million compared to NOK 85.4 million as of 31 

December 2023. The increase was primarily due to an increase in trade receivables of NOK 12.6 million mainly due 
to increased operating activity.  
 
Total equity 
As of 30 June 2024, the Group’s total equity was NOK 175.9 million compared to NOK 170.6 million as of 31 
December 2023. The increase was primarily due to profit for the period of NOK 4.7 million. Please refer to discussions 
in section 11.4.1 "Results of operations for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 compared to 31 December 
2023" for more information.  
 

Non-current liabilities 
As of 30 June 2024, total non-current liabilities were NOK 156.6 million compared to NOK 111.4 million as of 31 
December 2023. The increase is primarily due to proceeds from borrowings of NOK 39.7 million as part of the 
financing of the investments in the Group’s property, plant and equipment. In addition, the Group experienced an 
increase in lease liabilities of NOK 29.1 million related to new lease agreements. The increase in borrowings was 
partly offset by repayments on borrowings of NOK 8.1 million and the increase in lease liabilities was partly offset 
by lease payments of NOK 7.5 million. 
 

Current liabilities 
As of 30 June 2024, total current liabilities were NOK 79.4 million compared to NOK 68.7 million as of 31 December 
2023. The increase is primarily due to increase in trade payables of NOK 7 million due to increased operational 
activity and increase in current portion of borrowings of NOK 6.4 million as a result of increased draw up on the 
borrowing facility with Rogaland Sparebank. The increase is partly offset by decrease in other current liabilities of 
NOK 5.1 million.  

 Financial position as of 31 December 2023 compared to 31 December 2022 

Table 32 and the descriptions below set forth the financial position as of 31 December 2023 prepared in accordance 

with IFRS, compared to the financial position as of 31 December 2022 prepared in accordance with IFRS derived 

from the IFRS Financial Statements.   

Table 32 – Compare financial position 2024 vs 

2023 
 As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited Change in % 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Assets:     
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Table 32 – Compare financial position 2024 vs 

2023 
 As at 31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited Change in % 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Total non-current assets  265 234 37% 193 457 

     

Total current assets  85 447 12% 76 362 

     

Total assets  350 681 30% 269 818 

     

Equity and liabilities     

Total equity  170 565 20% 142 460 

     

Total non-current liabilities  111 429 56% 71 430 

     

Total current liabilities  68 687 23% 55 929 

     

Total liabilities   180 116 41%  127 359  

Total equity and liabilities   350 681 30 % 269 818 

 

Total non-current assets 
As of 31 December 2023, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 265.2 million compared to NOK 193.5 
million as of 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to additions of property, plant and equipment and 
right-of-use assets of NOK 63.8 million and NOK 36.3 million respectively. The additions were related to slop 
treatment equipment, cuttings handling equipment and other waste management equipment. The additions were 
partly offset by depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right of use assets of NOK 12.0 million and NOK 
5.8 million respectively. In addition, the Group made an impairment of goodwill of NOK 5.0 million related to 
Sorbwater.  
 
Total current assets 
As of 31 December 2023, the Group's total current assets were NOK 85.5 million compared to NOK 76.4 million as 
of 31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to an increase in trade receivables of NOK 14.9 million mainly 
due to increase in operating activity and minor delays in payments which were settled in 2024. In addition, other 
current assets increased by NOK 6.3 million primarily due to an increase in accrued mobilization cost to fulfill a 
customer contract of NOK 4.0 million and a tax refund related to research and development on various projects of 
NOK 1.9 million. The increase was offset by a decrease in cash of NOK 12.0 million, refer to section 11.8.3 for more 
information.   
 
Total equity 
As of 31 December 2023, the Group's total equity was NOK 170.6 million compared to NOK 142.5 million as of 31 
December 2022. The increase was primarily related to profit for the period of NOK 27.4 million. Please refer to 
discussion in section 11.5.2 for more information.  
 
Non-current liabilities 
As of 31 December 2023, Total non-current liabilities were NOK 111.4 million compared to NOK 71.4 million as of 
31 December 2022. The increase was primarily due to increase in borrowings of NOK 45.6 million as part of the 
financing of the investments in the Group’s property, plant and equipment. In addition, the Group experienced an 
increase in lease liabilities of NOK 36.3 million related to new lease agreements of slop treatment equipment and 
office space. The increase in borrowings was partly offset by repayments on borrowings of NOK 13.2 million and the 
increase in lease liabilities was partly offset by lease payments of NOK 13.5 million. Furthermore, Other non-current 
liabilities decreased by NOK 15 million, due to a reversal of contingent consideration of NOK 15 million being 
recognized as part of the consideration when acquiring Sorbwater. The expected synergies from Sorbwater's 

patented biodegradable chemicals were delayed and it was uncertain whether certain thresholds under the share 
purchase agreement would be met, and consequently, this contingent consideration were reversed and recognized 
as other gains in 2023. 
 
Current liabilities 
As of 31 December 2023, total current liabilities were NOK 68.7 million compared to NOK 55.9 million as of 31 
December 2022. The increase was primarily due to increase in trade payables and other current liability mainly due 
to increased operational activity.  

 Financial position as of 31 December 2022 compared to 31 December 2021 

Table 33 and the descriptions below set forth the financial position as of 31 December 2022 prepared in accordance 

with NGAAP, compared to the financial position as of 31 December 2021 prepared in accordance with NGAAP derived 

from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements.   
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Table 33 – Compare financial position 2024 vs 2023 
 

 

As at 31 December 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited Change in % 

2021 

NGAAP 

Audited 

Assets:     

Total non-current assets  200 132 62% 123 231 

     

Total current assets  76 362 (15)%     89 613 

     

Total assets  276 492 30% 212 844 

     

Equity and liabilities     

Total equity  142 953 26% 113 249 

     

Total non-current liabilities  79 876 96% 40 161 

     

Total current liabilities  52 868 (10)% 52 483 

     

Total liabilities   133 539 34%  99 594  

Total equity and liabilities   276 492 30 % 212 844 

 

Total non-current assets 
As of 31 December 2022, the Group's total non-current assets were NOK 200.1 million compared to NOK 123.2 
million as of 31 December 2021. The increase was primarily due to additions of property, plant and equipment and 
newbuilds of NOK 29.6 million and NOK 19.7 million respectively. The additions were related to slop treatment 
equipment, cuttings handling equipment and other waste management equipment. The additions were partly offset 
by depreciation of property, plant and equipment of NOK 10.9 million. In connection with the acquisition of Sorbwater 
in 2022, the Group recognized property, plant and equipment of NOK 3.2 million, deferred tax assets of NOK 25.3 
million (which is recognized net of deferred tax liability) and goodwill of NOK 5.3 million as of the transaction date.  
 
Total current assets 
As of 31 December 2022, total current assets were 76.4 million compared NOK 89.6 million as of 31 December 
2021. The decrease was primarily due to decrease in Trade receivables of NOK 6.6 million that relate mainly to delay 
of payments related to 2021 which was settled in 2022 and a decrease in Other current assets of NOK 6.4 million 
was related to a prepayment in 2021.  
 
Total equity 
As of 31 December 2022, the Group's total equity was NOK 143.0 million compared to NOK 113.2 million as of 31 
December 2021. The increase is due to the issuance of consideration shares related to the acquisition of Sorbwater 
of NOK 15.1 million and the profit for the year of NOK 14.6 million (Please refer to discussion in section 11.5.3 for 
more information). 
 
Non-current liabilities 
As of 31 December 2022, Total non-current liabilities were NOK 79.8 million compared to NOK 40.2 million as of 31 
December 2021. The increase is primarily due to increase in borrowings of NOK 25.3 million as part of the financing 
of investments in the Group’s property, plant and equipment which was partly offset by repayment of borrowings of 

NOK 10.4 million. In addition, the Group recognized a non-current liability related to the contingent consideration of 
NOK 15.0 million as part of the acquisition of Sorbwater.  
 
Current liabilities 
As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s total current liabilities were mostly in line with as of 31 December 2021 with 
NOK 52.9 million and NOK 52.5 million respectively.  

 Liquidity and capital resources 

 Sources of liquidity 

The Group manages its financing structure and cash flow requirements in response to the Group's strategy and 

objectives, deploying financial and other resources related to those objectives. The Group's main sources of liquidity 

are through borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and revenues from operating activities. As of 31 August 2024, 

the Group has NOK 30.2 million in cash or cash equivalents whereas NOK 6.8 million is restricted and NOK 39.6 

million unused on its loan facility with Rogaland Sparebank (the "Loan Facility"). The cash and cash equivalents 

are primarily held in NOK, USD and GBP. Under the Loan Facility, any group contribution or dividend payment 

requires approval from Rogaland Sparebank. The Group's liquidity requirements arise primarily from the requirement 

to fund operating expenses, working capital, capital expenditures and to service debt. 

As of 30 June 2024, the Group's Net interest-bearing debt was NOK 166.5 million. Please see Section 4.2.4 

"Alternative Performance Measures" for a description of the Company’s net interest-bearing debt.   

The Group's ability to generate cash from operations depends on its future operating performance, which is in turn 

dependent on general macroeconomic, financial, competitive and market regulatory conditions, many of which are 
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beyond the Group's control, as well as other factors described in Section 2 "Risk Factors" and Section 11.1 "Key 

factors affecting the Group's results of operations and financial performance" above.  

 Cash flow for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 compared to the same period ended 2023 

Table 34 and the descriptions below set forth the cash flows for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 prepared 

in accordance with IAS 34, compared to the cash flows for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023 prepared in 

accordance with IAS 34, derived from the Interim Financial Statements.   

Table 34 
 

Six-month period ended 

 30 June 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2024 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

2023 

IAS 34 

Unaudited 

Net cash flow from operating activities  7 221 5 128 

    

Net cash flow from investing activities  (27 508) (28 754) 

    

Net cash flow from financing activities  18 981 204 

    

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  (1 306) (23 422) 

    

Cash and Cash equivalents 30.06  25 477 15 410 

 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Net cash flows from operating activities increased by NOK 2.1 million, to an inflow of NOK 7.2 million for the six-

month period ended 30 June 2024 from an inflow of 5.1 million for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. The 

increase in operating cash flow is mainly due to favourable movements in the working capital as the Group 

experienced some delays in payments of trade receivables from year end 2023 which was settled in early 2024. 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Net cash flows from investing activities decreased by NOK 1.2 million, to an outflow of NOK 27.5 million for the six-

month period ended 30 June 2024 from an outflow of NOK 28.8 million for the six-month period ended 30 June 

2023. There is no material change. Please see Section 11.9.1 "Historical investments for more information".  

Cash flow from financing activities 

Net cash flows from financing activities increased by NOK 18.7 million, to an inflow of NOK 19.0 million for the six-

month period ended 30 June 2024 from an outflow of NOK 0.2 million for the six-month period ended 30 June 2023. 

The increase in cash flow from financing activities is mainly due to proceeds from borrowings for the purposes of the 

Group as part of the financing of investments in cuttings handling equipment, equipment for the treatment of 

contaminated water and equipment for cleaning services. The increase is partly offset by repayments on borrowings 

and lease liabilities. 

 Cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2023 compared to the year ended 31 December 2022 

Table 35 and the descriptions below set forth the cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 prepared 

in accordance with IFRS, compared to the cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 prepared in 

accordance with IFRS, derived from the IFRS Financial Statements.   

Table 35 
 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2023 

IFRS 

Audited 

2022 

IFRS 

Unaudited 

Net cash flow from operating activities  36 748 45 716 

    

Net cash flow from investing activities  (64 028) (49 117) 

    

Net cash flow from financing activities  15 231 3 019 

    

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  (12 049) (400) 

    

Cash and Cash equivalents 31.12  26 783 38 832 
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Cash flow from operating activities 

Net cash flows from operating activities decreased by NOK 9.0 million, to an inflow of NOK 36.7 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 from an inflow of NOK 45.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease 

in operating cashflow is mainly due to some delays in payments from trade receivables which were settled in early 

2024. 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Net cash flows from investing activities increased by NOK 14.9 million, to an outflow of NOK 64.0 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 from an outflow of NOK 49.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase 

in investing activities is mainly due to increased investments in cuttings handling equipment, equipment for the 

treatment of contaminated water and equipment for cleaning services. Please see Section 11.10.1 Historical 

investments for more information.  

Cash flow from financing activities 

Net cash flows from financing activities increased by NOK 12.2 million, to an inflow of NOK 15.2 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2023 from an inflow of NOK 3.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in 

cash flow from financing activities is mainly due to proceeds from borrowings for the purposes of the Group as part 

of the financing of investments in cuttings handling equipment, equipment for the treatment of contaminated water 

and equipment for cleaning services.  

 Cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2022 compared to the year ended 31 December 2021 

Table 36 and the descriptions below set forth the cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 prepared 

in accordance with NGAAP, compared to the cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 prepared in 

accordance with NGAAP, derived from the 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements.   

Table 36  
 

Year ended 

31 December 

 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

 

2022 

NGAAP 

Audited 

2021 

NGAAP 

Unaudited 

Net cash flow from operating activities  43 974 12 599 

    

Net cash flow from investing activities  (49 117) (24 440) 

    

Net cash flow from financing activities  4 761 10 375 

    

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD  (401) (1 465) 

    

Cash and Cash equivalents 31.12  38 832 39 232 

 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Net cash flows from operating activities increased by NOK 34.4 million, to an inflow of NOK 44.0 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 from an inflow of NOK 12.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase 

in operating cashflow is primarily due to increased operating activity and minor delays in payments from trade 

receivables for 2021 that was settled in early 2022. 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Net cash flows from investing activities increased by NOK 24.7 million, to an outflow of NOK 49.1 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 from an outflow of NOK 24.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase 

in investing activities is mainly due to increased investments in cuttings handling equipment, equipment for the 

treatment of contaminated water and equipment for cleaning services. Please see Section 11.9.1 "Historical 

investments" for more information. 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Net cash flows from financing activities decreased by NOK 5.6 million, to an inflow of NOK 4.8 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2022 from an inflow of NOK 10.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease 

in financing activities is primarily due to proceeds from issue of shares of NOK 9.4 million in 2021. In addition, the 

Group experienced increased interest payments and repayments of borrowings and lease liabilities in 2022. The 

increased cash outflow was offset by increased proceeds from borrowings in 2022 for the purposes of the Group as 

part of the financing of investments in cuttings handling equipment, equipment for the treatment of contaminated 

water and equipment for cleaning services.   

 Financing arrangements 
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The Group’s financing agreements consist of the Loan Facility with Rogaland Sparebank, a loan with Innovasjon 

Norge, financial lease agreements with Sparebank1 SR-Bank, and a financial lease agreement with Nordea Finance 

Equipment. Further information regarding said financing arrangements have been included below. 

The Loan Facility 

The Loan Facility carries a floating interest of 3 months Norwegian Inter-Bank Borrowing Rate (NIBOR) plus a margin 

of 2.5% per annum.  

The Loan Facility consist of three tranches: (i) NOK 75 million in 2022, (ii) NOK 73 million in 2023 and (iii) NOK 30 

million in 2024. Each tranche of the Loan Facility has a maturity of 7 years with amortization over the loan period. 

As of 30 June 2024, the unused portion of the Loan Facility was NOK 45.6 million. The Group is not able to draw up 

tranches which are already utilized and paid. 

The Loan Facility includes the following covenants that shall be tested at the end of each quarter:  

o Net-interest bearing debt (NIBD)/Earnings before interest taxes, depreciation and amortization 

(EBITDA) 12 month rolling < 421 

o Book equity > 30 % 

o Approval from the bank in the event of dividends/group contributions 

o Approval from the bank in the event of sale of assets financed by the bank 

The Group was not in breach of any of the above covenants as of 30 June 2024. 

Loan with Innovasjon Norge 

The loan with Innovasjon Norge carries a fixed interest rate of 7,7% p.a. and mature in full in 2025. As of 30 June 

2024, NOK 2 583 thousand was outstanding under this loan.  

The loan agreement regulating the loan with Innovasjon Norge contains a change of control clause, but the Company 

has received a written waiver stating that Soiltech may complete the Merger and Listing without triggering any rights 

to full redemption of the loan with Innovasjon Norge. The Loan Facility and the loan with Innovasjon Norge is subject 

certain cross-default clauses through an intercreditor agreement, but considering the aforementioned waiver, no 

cross default will thereto be triggered in relation to the Listing and Merger.  

Financial lease with SpareBank 1 SR-Bank 

The financial lease agreements with Sparebank1 SR-Bank totalled NOK 53 769 thousand as of 30 June 2024. The 

agreements carry floating interest rates of 3 months NIBOR+3.25% - 3.55%, with a term of 5–7 years, maturing in 

2027-2031. 

Financial lease with Nordea Finance Equipment 

The financial lease agreement with Nordea Finance Equipment amounted to 2 219 thousand as of 30 June 2024. 

The agreement carries a floating interest rate of 3 months NIBOR+2.5%, with a term of 5–7 years, maturing in 

2027-2031. 

Table 37 below sets forth the Group's significant interest-bearing loans as of 30 June 2024: 

Table 37   

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 

 

Outstanding amount as of 
30 June 2024 

   
Interest-bearing loans  

 
 

Innovasjon Norge 
 

2 583 

Rogaland Sparebank 
 

115 537 

Total interest-bearing loans  
 

118 120 

 

The maturity profile in Table 38 below shows contractual maturities of the main borrowings of the Group as of 30 

June 2024:  

 
21 Reported on a NGAAP-basis and thus deviates from the Company’s APM Net interest-bearing debt 
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Table 38 
 

Estimated payment profile 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) 
 

Next year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 years 

Innovasjon Norge  2 763 - - - 

Rogaland Sparebank  26 211 24 833 66 235 20 568 

Lease liabilities  18 067 18 050 36 861 23 478 

Total 
 

47 041 42 883 103 096 44 046 

 

For loans with floating interest rates, future amounts are estimated using prevailing interest rate at the balance 

sheet date. 

 Financial risk and capital management 

For a description of the Group's management of credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risk, see Note 

18 of the IFRS Financial Statements, included as Appendix C to this prospectus. 

 Investments 

 Historical investments 

An overview over the Group's investments in the jurisdictions it operates for the years indicated below (up to the 

date of this Prospectus) is set out in Table 39 below. Figures are in NOK thousands.  

Table 39 
 

Historical investments 

(Amounts in NOK thousands) YTD 2024 (a) 2023 (b) 2022 (c) 2021 (d) 

Acquisition of Sorbwater Technology AS  - - 30 0001 - 

 

Total acquisitions 
- - 30 000 - 

     

Water treatment equipment 2 733 8 568  20 655  6 941  

Cuttings handling equipment 19 237 46 713  23 890  13 536  

Cleaning equipment 709 4 005  438  265  

Associated equipment 4 829 4 742  4 917  3 698  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 27 508 64 028 49 900 24 440 

     

Total 27 508 64 028 79 900 24 440 

1) The acquisition of Sorbwater Technology AS did not have any cash outflow effect 

 
(a) YTD 2024: The Group’s investments consist mainly of payments related to cuttings handling equipment and a 

remote-control system which was ordered in 2023. The Group also invested in spare equipment for its slop treatment 

technology. 

(b) 2023: In 2023, the Group ordered cuttings handling tanks, blowers and other cuttings handling equipment. The 

Group made its first investment in a remote-control system for remote control of cuttings handling concerning 

operations offshore. Also, the Group equipment for treatment of contaminated water  

(c) 2022: The Group invested in various cuttings handling, tanks, cuttings skips, blowers and other cuttings handling 

equipment. Also, equipment for treatment of contaminated water were ordered. On 2 September 2022, the Group 

acquired 100% of the shares in Sorbwater. The total consideration was NOK 30 million out of which NOK 15 million 

consisted of share consideration and NOK 15 million in contingent consideration. In 2023, the Group assessed that 

the thresholds for the contingent consideration are uncertain to be met and the contingent consideration has been 

reversed and recognized as other gain. As part of the transaction, the Group recognized goodwill of NOK 5.1 million.  

(d) 2021: On a general level this is the first year the Group starts investing in cuttings-handling equipment. Cuttings 

handling tanks (MDT) were ordered, this is used for intermediate storage of drilling waste. This investment 

constitutes an important part of Soiltech's strategy to expand delivery to existing clients. Cutting skips were ordered 

together with several blowers and other cuttings-handling equipment. In addition, equipment for treatment of 

contaminated water were ordered 

 Investments in progress or for which firm commitments have been made 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group has no material investments in progress or for which firm commitments 

have been made.  
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 Joint venture and undertakings 

As of the date of the Prospectus, the Group does not hold any investments in any joint ventures or undertakings. 

 Financing, contractual cash obligations and other commitments 

Please refer to Section 11.7.5 "Financing arrangements" for a description of the Group's financing arrangements.  

The Group has no other significant cash obligations or other similar commitments. 

 Related party transactions 

The Group's related parties include the related parties to the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as to the members 

of the Board of Directors, and the members of Management. Related parties also include companies in which the 

individuals mentioned in this paragraph have significant influence. 

Other than with the members of the Board of Directors and the members of Management, the Group does not have 

any other related party transaction during the period covered by the historical financial information. 

 Trend information 

The Group has experienced growth both in Norway and internationally for the last three years. Further growth is 

expected in Norway through offering increased technology scope to existing and new clients. International growth 

in both new and existing geographic areas is expected to continue, as the Management observe more and more 

countries tightening existing regulations relating to, inter alia, the amount of oil allowed to be discharged into the 

sea, serving as potential growth opportunities for the Group's STT as well as the other technologies. 

Other than the stated above, the Group is not aware of any recent significant changes in the trends related to 

production, sales or inventory, costs or selling prices in the period between 31 December 2023 and the date of this 

Prospectus. Nor is the Group aware of any significant changes to the Group's financial performance in the period 

between 30 June 2024 and the date of this Prospectus. 

 Significant changes in the issuer's financial position 

Other than with respect to the Merger as further described in Section 4.3 "The Merger", there has been no significant 

change in the Group's financial position which has occurred since 30 June 2024 to the date of this Prospectus.  

 Environmental issues affecting the Group's utilization of the tangible fixed assets 

Other than as set out in Section 7.3.2 "Permits and licenses needed for the Group's operations", and as of the date 

of this Prospectus, the Company is not aware of any environmental issues that may have an effect on the utilization 

of any of the existing tangible fixed assets. Please refer to note 19 in the IFRS Financial Statement, included as 

Appendix C to this prospectus, for information regarding climate risk. 
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12 BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, EMPLOYEES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

 Introduction 

The Company's highest decision-making authority is the general meeting of shareholders. All shareholders in the 

Company are entitled to attend or be presented by proxy and vote at general meetings of the Company and to table 

draft resolutions for items to be included on the agenda for a general meeting. 

The overall management of the Company is vested in the Company's Board of Directors and the Management. In 

accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other things, supervising the 

general and day-to-day management of the Company's business ensuring proper organization, preparing plans and 

budgets for its activities, ensuring that the Company's activities, accounts and assets management are subject to 

adequate controls and undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties.  

The Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in accordance with 

Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other responsibilities, the Company's CEO, 

is responsible for keeping the Company's accounts in accordance with prevailing Norwegian legislation and 

regulations and for managing the Company's assets in a responsible manner. 

 Board of Directors 

 Overview 

The Company's Articles of Association provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of between 3 to 7 board 

members elected by the Company's shareholders. Please find details regarding the members of the Board of 

Directors in Table 40 below: 

Table 40 – Overview of the members of the Company's Board of Directors 

Name Position Served since Term expires Shares Options 

Gunnar Winther 

Eliassen 
Chair 

Dec. 2023 Dec. 2025 0 150 000 

Mona Hodne 

Steensland 
Freuchen* 

Board Member 

Sept. 2024 Sept. 2026 541 380** 0 

Eirik Flatebø Board Member 
Nov. 2015 Apr. 2025 230 961*** 75 000 

Olaf Skrivervik Board Member 
Nov. 2012 Apr. 2025 5 000 10 000 

Karin Govaert**** Board Member 
Sept. 2024 Sept. 2026 70 000***** 0 

Glenn 
Åsland****** 

Board Member 
Nov. 2011 Sept. 2024 742,730*****

** 
86,130******

* 

 

* With effect from completion of the Merger  

**Indirectly through ownership in Skagenkaien Investering AS 

***Directly and indirectly through Pima AS and Pharos Invest I AS. 

**** With effect from completion of the Merger 

***** The shares listed is owned by Rivermaas B.V., who in turn is ultimately owned 50% by Karin Govaert.  

****** Upon completion of the Merger, Mr. Åsland will cease to be a Board Member 

******* Shares and options held through Wellex AS, an investment company controlled by Mr. Glenn Åsland. 

The Company's registered office at Koppholen 25, 4313 Sandnes, Norway, serves as the business address for the 

members of the Board of Directors in relation to their positions in the Company. 

 Brief biographies of the Board of Directors 

The following sets out a brief introduction to each of the members of the Board of Directors set out in Table 40 

above: 

Gunnar Winther Eliassen– Chair 

Mr. Eliassen has served as Chair of the Board of Directors of the Company since December 2023. From 2016 to 

2023 Mr Eliassen served as an Investment Director with Seatankers Services (UK) LLP where he was responsible for 

overseeing and managing various public and private investments. Mr. Eliassen has also previously served as director 

of Valaris Ltd and KLX Energy Services. Mr. Eliassen has served as the Chief Executive Officer of ST Energy Transition 

I Ltd. (NYSE: STET), a special purpose acquisition company targeting energy transition and clean energy technology, 

until 2023. Prior experience also includes Director of Seadrill Ltd, Seadrill Partners Ltd, Northern Drilling Ltd, 

Quintana Energy Services Inc, Deep Sea Metro Ltd as well as CEO of Northern Drilling Ltd. Prior to joining Seatankers, 

Mr. Eliassen was a Partner at Pareto Securities in New York. 

Mr. Eliassen holds a Master of Science from Norwegian School of Economics. 
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Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Prosafe SE, Deputy Chair 
Scana ASA, Chair 
KLX Energy Services, Director 
Vantage Drilling Ltd, Director 
Venture Offshore Holdings Ltd, Chair  
Management position(s):  
SNC Winther Holdings Ltd, Founder and Chair  

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships:  
Noram Drilling, Director 
Seadrill Partners Ltd, Director 
Seadrill Ltd, Director 
Northern Drilling Ltd, Director 
Quintana Energy Services, Director  
Management position(s):  
ST Energy Transition, CEO  

 

Mona Hodne Steensland Freuchen – Board Member 

Ms. Hodne Steensland Freuchen has been CEO and Chair of Skagenkaien Holding since 2019. She previously 

worked in Clarkson Platou as controller from 2015 to 2019. She has previous experience from Clarkson Norway and 

Boxton Maritime AS. 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Retail Office Stavanger AS, Director  
Skagenkaien Holding AS, Director  
Skagenkaien Investering AS, Director  
Skaenkaien Eiendom AS, Director  
Nøtterøy Helsesenter AS, Director  
Søregaten 9 ANS, Director  
Tasta Brygge AS, Director  
Skagenkaien Finans AS, Director  
Olavskleivå DA, Director  
Nedre Standgate AS, Director  
Næringslivets Hus ANS, Director  
Nedre Strand Gate 33 ANS, Director  
 
Management position(s):  
Skagenkaien Investering AS, CEO 
Nøtterøy Helsesenter AS, CEO 
Sørengaten 9 ANS, CEO  

Previous directorships and management positions held 

during the last five years  

Directorships:  

MPS Bilskade Haugesund AS  
 
Management position(s):  
Skagenkaien Finans AS, CEO]  

 

Eirik Flatebø – Board Member 

Mr. Flatebø has 15 years of experience from equity sales at Pareto Securities. Founding partner at Pharos advisors 

investing in early growth companies, with more than 20 years of experience from the finance industry. His combined 

strategic, financial and industry experience facilitates value creation. 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Greenphones AS, Chair 
Rørvik Eiendomsutvikling AS, Chair 
Pharos Invest i AS, Chair 
Skjell Invest AS, Chair 
Pharos Group AS, Chair 
Pharos Forvaltning AS, Chair 
Pharos Advisors AS, Chair 
Forte Fondsforvaltning AS, Chair 
Green Transition Holding AS, Chair  
Pima AS, Chair 
Norwegian Rig AS, Chair 
Aitos Gasification Technology AS, Director 
Ocean-Power AS, Director 
Carbon Circle Holding AS, Director  
Management position(s):  
N/A 

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships:  
Esgian AS, Director  
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Management position(s):  
N/A 

 

Olaf Skrivervik – Board Member 

Mr. Skrivervik has 40 years of experience from the oil and gas industry. His previous experience includes 20 years 

as operation and rig manager for Transocean, establishment of Songa Offshore's offices in Stavanger and the role 

as country manager for Songa Offshore in Norway and UK. 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
N/A 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

Previous directorships and management positions held 

during the last five years  

Directorships:  

Norwegian Rig Company AS, Director  
 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

 

Karin Govaert – Board Member 

Ms. Govaert is a sector specialist with over 25 years of experience in the maritime and logistics sector. She is CEO 

and founder of Rivermaas, an investment firm in the maritime industry. She is board member of Samskip (NL), 

Marlow (CY) and a previous board member of Oceanteam. 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Oceanteam, Director 
Management position(s): 

Rivermaas B.V., CEO  
Management position(s):  
N/A 

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships: N/A 
Management position(s): N/A 

 

Glenn Åsland – Board Member  

See Mr. Åsland's biography in Section 12.3.2 "Biographies of the members of Management" below.  

 Remuneration of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors receive remuneration for the period between each annual general meeting of the Company, 

normally April to April for each period. In this period, the current Chair of the Board, Gunnar Winther Eliassen, who 

was appointed by the annual general meeting on 20 December 2023, received a cash remuneration of NOK 75,000. 

In the same period (i.e. from April 2023 to April 2024), current board members Eirik Flatebø and Olaf Skrivervik 

each received a remuneration of NOK 100,000.  

 Management 

 Overview 

The Management of the Company consists of 3 individuals. Please find details regarding the Management, as at the 

date of this Prospectus, in Table 41 below: 

Table 41 – Overview of the members of the Management 

Name Position Employed since Shares Options 

Jan Erik Tveteraas Chief executive officer ("CEO") 2012 700,325* 147,440 

Glenn Åsland Chief operating officer ("COO") 2012 742,730** 86,130** 

Tove Vestlie Chief financial officer ("CFO") 2022 18 000 100,000 

* Shares held through Knatten I AS, an investment company controlled by Mr. Jan Erik Tveteraas. 

** Shares and options held through Wellex AS, an investment company controlled by Mr. Glenn Åsland. 

 

 

The Company's registered office, at Koppholen 25, 4313 Sandnes, Norway, serves as the business address for the 

members of the Management in relation to their positions in the Company. 

 Biographies of the members of Management 
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The following sets out a brief introduction to each of the members of the Management: 

Jan Erik Tveteraas – CEO 

Mr. Tveteraas is the CEO of the Company with around 40 years of experience from the oil & gas industry, including 

his strong experience within the drilling sector. He is a co-founder of Soiltech. His previous experience includes the 

role as CEO and co-founder of Sevan Marine ASA (now known as Magnora ASA), CEO and co-founder of Sevan 

Drilling ASA, CFO of Navis ASA and CFO at Transocean Drilling AS.  

He holds a Master of Business Administration from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH). 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Soiltech Offshore Services AS, Chair 
Sorbwater Technology AS, Chair 
Knatten I AS, Chair 
Norwegian Rig AS, Chair 
Coinsensus AS, Chair 
Ocean-Power AS, Chair 
Carbon Circle Holding AS, Director 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships:  
Soiltech AS, Chair  

Andraste AS, Chair 
Norwegian Rig Company AS, Chair 
Thorstvedt Industriservice AS, Director 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

 

Glenn Åsland – COO 

Mr. Åsland has 25 years of experience from the oil & gas industry and holds the role as chief operating officer 

(COO) of the Company. He is a co-founder of Soiltech. He has previously held the role as VP of sales & operations 

of the Company. Other previous experience includes operation manager at Baker Hughes within waste management, 

assistant rig manager at Dolphin Drilling, vice president at SAR AS, project manager at MI Swaco. 

He is an educated electrician and chemical process technician.  

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
N/A 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships:  
N/A 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

 

Tove Vestlie – CFO 

Ms. Vestlie has the role as CFO of the Company. Her previous experience includes more 6 years from auditing in 

Ernst and Young (EY) and 11 years from the oil and gas industry after that. Other previous experience includes the 

role as senior associate in Ernst and Young (EY), accounting and tax manager in Seadrill ASA/North Atlantic AS, 

accounting and tax manager in LOTOS E&P Norge AS.  

Tove holds a Master of Finance from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH). 

Current other directorships and management 
positions  

Directorships:  
Henriksen Oljetransport AS, Director 
Management position(s):  
Soiltech Offshore Services AS, CEO 
Sorbwater, CEO 

Previous directorships and management positions held 
during the last five years  

Directorships:  
N/A 
Management position(s):  
N/A 

 

 Remuneration of the Management 
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Table 42 below sets forth the amount of remuneration paid by the Company to its Management for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2023.   

 

 Employees 

The Group had 125 direct employees as of 31 December 2023.  

Table 43 below shows the development in the number of employees in the Group for the years ended 31 December 

2023, 2022, and 2021. The Company does not report on full-time employees by category of activity.  

Table 43 – Employees As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021 

Group 125 94 52 

 

Table 44 below shows the number of full-time employees of the Group by geographic location.   

Table 44 - Geographic location As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021 

Norway 106 81 42 

UK 13 7 4 

Other 6 6 6 

Total 125 94 52 

 

 Share incentive programs 

The Company has implemented a share option plan for employees and board members. The share option plan is 

regarded as equity settled share-based payments and the purpose of such share option plan is to attract and retain 

key personnel.  

On 20 April 2023 , a general meeting of the Company authorised the Board to issue up to 172 260 share options as 

a part of a long-term incentive plan and on 20 December 2023 an extraordinary general meeting of the Company 

authorised the Board to issue up to 1 350 000 share options as a part of the long-term incentive scheme, in total 1 

522 260 share options. The strike price of the options shall be the market price at the time of award. The vesting 

requires continued employment or association with the Company. A total number of 1 434 700 share options have 

been granted under the incentive plan, and 1/3 of such options will vest each year over a total vesting period of 3 

years. Each option will, when exercised, give the right to receive one share in the Company with a variable strike 

price depending on the date of grant. Options granted under the share option program will expire five years after 

the grant date. However, on 30 March 2020 a general meeting of the Company extended the expiry date for options 

granted prior to the date of said general meeting with six years from the date of the general meeting, until 30 March 

2026. In the hypothetical event that all options under the plan are granted and exercised, the shareholdings of the 

Company's shareholders will be diluted by approximately 18.08%.  

A full overview of granted options as per the date on or about the date of this Prospectus are included in Table 45 

below, illustrating award date, number of options, vesting schedule and last year of exercise.  

Table 45 

 Award date Number of 

options 

Strike 

price 

(NOK) 

Active Vested Not 

vested 

Vesting 

in 2024 

Vesting 

in 2025 

Vesting 

in 2026 

Vesting 

in 2027 

Last 

year of 

exercise 

1.  02.04.2012 86 130  12 Yes 86 130   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

2.  02.04.2012 86 130  12 Yes 86 130   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

3.  12.12.2013 5 000  11 Yes 5 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

4.  14.03.2017 50 000  35 Yes 50 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

5.  19.09.2017 35 000  35 Yes 35 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

6.  07.06.2018 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

7.  07.06.2018 25 000  35 Yes 25 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

8.  14.03.2019 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

9.  14.03.2019 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

10.  14.03.2019 15 000  35 Yes 15 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

11.  20.03.2020 147 440  35 Yes 147 440   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

Table 42 – Remuneration of the Management 

(In NOK thousands) 

Name and position Position Salary 
Benefits in 

kind 
Bonus 

Pensions 

costs 

Total 

remuneration 

Jan Erik Tveteraas CEO 2,131 162 - 93 2,386 

Glenn Åsland  COO 2,119 162 - 93 2,374 

Tove Vestlie CFO 1,340 142 - 93 1,575 
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12.  20.03.2020 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

13.  20.03.2020 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

14.  20.03.2020 15 000  35 Yes 15 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

15.  20.03.2020 30 000  35 Yes 30 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

16.  20.03.2020 30 000  35 Yes 30 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

17.  20.03.2020 15 000  35 Yes 15 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

18.  11.03.2021 30 000  35 Yes 30 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

19.  11.03.2021 5 000  35 Yes 5 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

20.  11.03.2021 10 000  35 Yes 10 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

21.  11.03.2021 5 000  35 Yes 5 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

22.  11.03.2021 5 000  35 Yes 5 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

23.  11.03.2021 5 000  35 Yes 5 000   -     -     -     -     -    2026 

24.  01.09.2021 15 000  35 Yes 10 000   5 000   5 000   -     -     -    2026 

25.  23.09.2021 100 000  45 Yes 66 667   33 333   33 333   -     -     -    2026 

26.  23.09.2021 75 000  45 Yes 50 000   25 000   25 000   -     -     -    2026 

27.  23.09.2021 75 000  45 Yes 50 000   25 000   25 000   -     -     -    2026 

28.  23.09.2021 10 000  45 Yes 6 667   3 333   3 333   -     -     -    2026 

29.  17.03.2022 30 000  65 Yes 20 000   10 000   -     10 000   -     -    2027 

30.  17.03.2022 15 000  65 Yes 10 000   5 000   -     5 000   -     -    2027 

31.  17.03.2022 15 000  65 Yes 10 000   5 000   -     5 000   -     -    2027 

32.  17.03.2022 15 000  65 Yes 10 000   5 000   -     5 000   -     -    2027 

33.  17.03.2022 15 000  65 Yes 10 000   5 000   -     5 000   -     -    2027 

34.  09.06.2022 15 000  62.5 Yes 10 000   5 000   -     5 000   -     -    2027 

35.  02.09.2022 35 000  75 Yes 23 333   11 667   -     11 667   -     -    2027 

36.  02.09.2022 35 000  75 Yes 23 333   11 667   -     11 667   -     -    2027 

37.  01.06.2023 15 000  80 Yes 5 000   10 000   -     5 000   5 000   -    2028 

38.  17.04.2023 30 000  82 Yes 10 000   20 000   -     10 000   10 000   -    2028 

39.  01.09.2023 30 000  80 Yes -  30 000   10 000   10 000   10 000   -    2028 

40.  01.09.2023 15 000  80 Yes -  15 000   5 000   5 000   5 000   -    2028 

41.  01.10.2023 30 000  80 Yes -  30 000   10 000   10 000   10 000   -    2028 

42.  01.10.2023 15 000  80 Yes -  15 000   5 000   5 000   5 000   -    2028 

43.  01.10.2023 10 000  80 Yes -  10 000   3 333   3 333   3 333   -    2028 

44.  01.10.2023 10 000  80 Yes -  10 000   3 333   3 333   3 333   -    2028 

45.  01.12.2023 15 000  80 Yes -  15 000   5 000   5 000   5 000   -    2028 

46.  01.01.2024 15 000  80 Yes -  15 000   -     5 000   5 000   5 000  2029 

47.  28.06.2024 150 000  54 Yes - 150 000   -     50 000   50 000   50 000  2029 

 Total 

options 

granted 

1 434 700   964 700 470 000 133 333 170 000 111 667 55 000  

            

 Total 
options in 

program 

1 522 260          

 Benefits upon termination 

The CEO shall be entitled to severance pay for a period of 12 months after the expiry of the agreed notice period, 

which is 6 months.  

The COO shall be entitled to severance pay for a period of 9 months after the expiry of the 6-month notice period if 

the contract is terminated by the Company, and the termination is not deemed appropriate by the court, or as a 

result of a merger or acquisition.  

There are no benefits upon termination to other members of the administration besides agreed notice periods which 

is between 3 and 6 months. 

 Pension and retirement benefits 

The Group has a defined contribution plan for pension for its employees, as such there are no obligation accrued in 

the Financial Statements.   

 Committees 

 Nomination committee 

The Company's Articles of Association provide for a nomination committee elected by the general meeting. The 

Company's nomination committee consists of Øivind Thorstensen (committee chair) and Kristian Falnes (committee 

member).  

The nomination committee shall present proposals to the general meeting regarding election of the chair of the 

Board, board members and any deputy members of the Board and election of members of the nomination committee.  

The nomination committee shall also present proposals to the general meeting for remuneration of the Board and 

the nomination committee. 

 Audit committee 

The Board of Directors has established an audit committee. The appointed members of the audit committee are 

Gunnar Winther Eliassen (committee chair) and Mona Hodne Steensland Freuchen. The composition of the audit 

committee fulfils the requirement for qualifications and competence in accounting and auditing under the Norwegian 

Public Limited Liability Companies Act.  
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The function of the audit committee is to prepare matters to be considered by the Board of Directors and to support 

the Board of Directors in the exercise of its management and supervisory responsibilities relating to financial 

reporting, statutory audit and internal control.  

The audit committee reports to the Board for the execution of its tasks and the work of the audit committee in no 

way reduces the responsibilities of the Board and its individual members. 

 Remuneration committee 

The Board of Directors has established a remuneration committee. The appointed members of the remuneration 

committee are Gunnar Winther Eliassen (committee chair) and Karin Govaert.  

The purpose of the remuneration committee is to evaluate and propose the compensation of the Company's 

executive management team and issue an annual report on the compensation of the executive management team, 

which shall be included in the Company's annual accounts pursuant to applicable rules and regulations, including 

accounting standards, promulgated from time to time. 

The remuneration committee shall report and make recommendations to the Board of Directors, but the Board of 

Directors retains responsibility for implementing such recommendations. 

 Corporate Governance 

The Company has adopted and implemented a corporate governance regime which complies with the Norwegian 

Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, dated 14 October 2021 (the "Corporate Governance Code"), with the 

following exeptions:  

• Since the Company is a growth-company, certain Board Members have been granted options. The Company 

does not believe that the options granted to the Board Members weakens the Board of Directors' 

independence. 

Neither the Board of Directors nor the Company's general meeting of shareholders have adopted any resolutions 

which are deemed to have a material impact on the Group's corporate governance regime. 

 Conflict of interests and other matters 

The Company and SNC Winther Holdings Limited, a company controlled by Chairman of the Board, Gunnar Winther 

Eliassen, entered into a consultancy agreement on 3 January 2024. Pursuant to said agreement, the services shall 

without limitation include the following: Performance of any relevant tasks, functions, meetings, knowledge sharing, 

and duties as agreed with the Company from time to time and in coordination with the CEO of the Company, related 

to business development, investor follow-up including investor presentations and advice regarding the financing of 

the Company (including debt financing). As compensation for services rendered, the consultant shall receive a fixed 

compensation per month of NOK 75,000.  

Furthermore, Karin Govaert was elected as Board Member in relation to the Merger with Oceanteam ASA, where she 

previously acted as board member.  

During the last five years preceding the date of this Prospectus, none of the Board Members or the members of the 

Management has, or had, as applicable: 

• any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 

• been involved in any bankruptcies, receiverships, liquidations or companies put into administration where 

he/she has acted as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body of a company, nor 

as partner, founder or senior manager of a company; or  

• received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities (including 

designated professional bodies), nor been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the 

administrative, management or supervisory bodies of an issuer or from acting in the management or 

conduct of affairs of any issuer. 

There are currently no other actual or potential conflicts of interest between the Company and the private interests 

or other duties of any of the members of the Management or the Board of Directors, including any family relationships 

between such persons. 
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13 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARES  

This section includes a summary of certain information relating to the Company’s shares and certain shareholder 

matters, including summaries of certain provisions of applicable law in effect as of the date of this Prospectus. The 

mentioned summaries do not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the Company’s Articles of 

Association (attached hereto as Appendix A) and Norwegian law. 

 Company corporate information  

The Company's registered legal and commercial name is Soiltech ASA. The Company is a public limited liability 

company organized and existing under the laws of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act. The Company's registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 996 819 

884 and the Company's Legal Entity Identifier code (LEI-code) is 529900E9W21TGMWZ7430. 

The Company was incorporated in Norway on 24 March 2011 as a private limited liability company and converted 

into a public limited liability company following the extraordinary general meeting held on 4 July 2024. 

The Shares have been created under the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act. The Shares are registered 

in book-entry form with the VPS under ISIN NO 0010713571. The Company's register of shareholders in the VPS is 

administrated by the VPS Registrar (address: Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway). 

The Company's registered office is located at Koppholen 25, 4313 Sandnes, Norway and the Company's main 

telephone number is +47 480 20 555. The Company's website can be found at www.soiltech.no. The content of the 

Company's website is not incorporated by reference into, nor otherwise forms part of, this Prospectus. 

 Legal structure 

The Company functions as the ultimate parent company of the Group. Table 46 sets out information about the 

Company's (directly or indirectly owned) subsidiaries: 

Table 46 - Group structure     

Subsidiary / Operating division 
Share-

holding 

Voting 

rights 

Country of 

incorporation 
Description 

Soiltech Offshore Services AS 100% 100% Norway Crew company providing offshore personnel to the Company 

Sorbwater Technology AS 100% 100% Norway 

Company with patented technology for green chemicals that 

provides solutions for cleaning produced water from the oil 

and gas industry as well as treating contaminated water 

from the aquaculture industry 

Soiltech AS (UK Branch) 100% 100% 
United 

Kingdom 

A branch hiring in UK offshore crew for international 

operations 

 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company is of the opinion that its holdings in the entities specified above are 

likely to have a significant effect on the on the assessment of its own assets and liabilities, financial position or 

profits and losses. 

 Share capital and share capital history 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company's share capital is NOK 1,031,339.01 divided into 7,933,377 Shares, 

each with a nominal value of NOK 0.13. All Shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. 

The Company has only one class of Shares. Accordingly, there are no differences in the voting rights among the 

Shares. Each Share carries one vote, and all Shares carry equal rights in all respects, including rights to dividends.  

Table 47 below shows the development in the Company's share capital for the period covered by the historical 

financial information in the Financial Statements, i.e. from 1 January 2021 and up to the date of this Prospectus: 

Table 47 – Development in Share capital 

Date registered Type of change 
Share capital 

increase (NOK) 
Share capital 

(NOK) 

Subscription 
price 

(NOK/share) 

Par value 
(NOK/share) 

Issued shares Total shares 

01.07.2021 

Share capital 
increase in 
relation to private 
placement - 
option exercise 

                                
34,451  

                       
694,230  

12 1 
                           

34,451  
                        

694,230  

01.07.2021 

Share capital 
increase in 
relation to private 
placement - 
option exercise 

                                
20,670  

                       
714,900  

11 1 
                           

20,670  
                        

714,900  

01.07.2021 

Share capital 
increase in 
relation to private 
placement - 
option exercise 

                                   
5,143  

                       
720,043  

35 1 
                              

5,143  
                        

720,043  

13.08.2021 Share Split 
                                            

-    
                       

720,043  
 0.1 

                                       
-    

                    
7,200,430  

http://www.soiltech.no/
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03.03.2022 

Share capital 
increase in 
relation to private 
placement - 
option exercise 

                                       
500  

                       
720,543  

11 0.1 
                              

5,000  
                    

7,205,430  

04.10.2022 

Share capital 
increase in 

relation to 
contribution in 
kind (in relation to 
acquisition of 
Sorbwater 
Technology AS) 

                                
20,000  

                       
740,543  

75 0.1 
                        

200,000  
                    

7,405,430  

10.09.2024 

Share capital 
increase through 
bonus share issue 
(increase of par 
value) 

                             
238,001  

1,031,339   0.13 
                                       

-    
                    

7,933,377  

10.09.2024 

Share capital 
increase 
pertaining to 
issuance of 
consideration 
shares in 
connection with 
the Merger] 

52,794.70 1,031,339.01 40.95873 0.13 527,947 7,933,377 

 Lock-up 

The Company is not aware of any lock-up arrangements restricting the disposal of shares of either the Company, 

members of the Management and Board of Directors or major shareholders. 

 Admission to trading 

The Shares have been admitted to trading on Euronext NOTC, a market operated by Oslo Børs since 19 October 

2021 under the ticker code "SOIL" with ISIN NO 0010713571. On 26 July 2024, the Company applied for the Shares 

to be admitted to trading and Listing on Euronext Expand. The Company's listing application was approved by Oslo 

Børs on 27 August 2024. In conjunction with the Listing, the Shares will be deregistered from Euronext NOTC and 

will be admitted to trading through the facilities of Oslo Børs. Trading in the Shares on Euronext Expand is expected 

to commence on or about 11 September 2024, under the ticker code "STECH". Other than above, the Company has 

not applied for admission to trading of the Shares on any other stock exchange or regulated market.  

 Board authorisation to issue shares 

The Company has provided the Board of Director with a general authorization to increase the share capital with up 

to NOK 206,267.75, corresponding to around 20% of the current share capital, which is equivalent to a maximum 

of 1,586,675 new Shares. The authorization was granted by the Company's general meeting on 4 July 2024 for the 

purposes of, inter alia, issuing shares in connection with operations, acquisitions, mergers and similar. The 

authorization furthermore applies to share capital increases against cash contribution, contribution in kind and with 

rights to charge the Company with special obligations as well as share capital increases in connection with mergers.  

The authorization is valid until the ordinary general meeting in 2025 but will at the latest expire after 30 June 2025.   

 Authorization to acquire treasury Shares 

The Board of Directors are authorized to acquire Shares with a nominal value of up to NOK 74,000, provided that 

the Company's holding of treasury Shares does not exceed 10% of Shares outstanding at any given time. 

 Other financial instruments 

Please refer to Section 12.5 "Share incentive programs" concerning the options plan for key personnel of the 

Company, which, if exercised partially or in full prior to expiration of such options, will have a dilutive effect on the 

Company's shareholders.  

 Shareholder rights 

The Company has one class of Shares on issue, and in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act, all Shares in that class provide equal rights in the Company, including the rights to dividends. Each 

of the Company's Shares carries one vote. The rights attaching to the Shares are described in Section 13.14 "The 

articles of Association and certain aspects of Norwegian law". 

 Takeover bids and forced transfer of shares 

Prior to the Listing, the Company has not been subject to the Norwegian Securities Act regulation concerning public 

takeovers.  

 Change in control 

As of the date of this Prospectus, and to the knowledge of the Company, there are no arrangements or agreements, 

which may at a subsequent date result in a change in control in the Company. 
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 Transferability of the Shares 

The Shares are freely transferable pursuant to the Articles of Association, meaning that a transfer of Shares is not 

subject to the consent of the Board of Directors or rights of first refusal. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the 

Shares shall be registered in the VPS. 

 Ownership structure 

As of 6 September 2024 and prior to completion of the Merger, the Company had a total of 105 registered 

shareholders in the VPS. All Shares in the Company, including Shares held by the Company's major shareholders, 

have equal voting rights. 

An overview of shareholders holding 5% or more of the Shares of the Company as of 5 September 2024 and prior 

to completion of the Merger, is set out in Table 48 below: 

Table 48 – Overview of major shareholders 

# Shareholder No. of Shares Percentage 

1 Hildr AS 796 150 10.75 

2 Wellex AS 742 730 10.03 

3 Knatten I AS 700 325 9.46 

4 Carnegie Investment Bank AB 661 980 8.94 

5 Skagenkaien Investering AS 541 380 7.31 

6 Tveteraas Invest AS 521 710 7.04 

 

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the Company's share capital which is notifiable 

pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. See Section 15.8 "Disclosure obligations" for a description of the 

disclosure obligations pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. As at the date of this Prospectus, 6 

shareholders holds 5% or more of the Shares of the Company.  

The Company is not aware of any persons or entities who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, will exercise or 

could exercise control over the Company. The Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of which 

may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company. 

No particular measures are initiated to ensure that control is not abused by large shareholders. Minority shareholders 

are protected from abuse by relevant regulations in inter alia the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act 

and the Norwegian Securities Act. See Section 13.14.2 "Certain aspects of Norwegian law" and 13.14.3 "Additional 

issuances and preferential rights" for further information. 

 The Articles of Association and certain aspects of Norwegian law 

 The Articles of Association 

The Articles of Association are set out in Appendix A to this Prospectus. Below is a summary of certain of the 

provisions of the Articles of Association (office translation).  

Company name  

Pursuant to Section 1 of the Articles of Association, the Company's name is Soiltech ASA.  

Registered office 

Pursuant to Section 2 of the Articles of Association, the Company's business address is in the municipality of Sandnes.  

Purpose of the Company 

Pursuant to Section 3 of the Articles of Association, the Company's business is provision of cleantech solutions for 

treating, recycling and to responsible handle contaminated water and industrial waste streams.  

Share capital and nominal value  

Pursuant to Section 4 of the Articles of Association, the Company's share capital is NOK 1,031,339.01 divided on 

7,933,377 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.13. The Shares shall be registered with the Norwegian Central 

Securities Depository ASA (VPS). 
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Transfer of shares 

Pursuant to Section 5, the Shares are freely tradable. 

Board of Directors 

Pursuant to Section 9, the Board of Directors shall consist of between 3 to 7 Board Members elected by the general 

meeting.  

General meetings 

Pursuant to Section 6 of the Articles of Association, the general meeting shall address and decide:  

• Approval of the annual accounts and report of the Board of Directors, including distribution of dividends; 

• Election of Board Members and auditor (if these are to be elected); 

• Any other matters which shall be dealt with avvording to law or the Articles of Association.  

 

When documents regarding matters which are to be dealt with at the general meeting have been made available on 

the internet site of the Company, the requirements in the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act which 

state that these documents shall be sent to the shareholders, shall not apply. This exemption is also applicable with 

regards to documents which according to statutory law shall be included in or attached to the notice of the general 

meeting. 

 

The Board of Directors may decide that shareholders may cast written votes in advance on matters that are to be 

considered at general meetings of the Company. Such votes may also be cast by use of electronic communication. 

The possibility to vote in advance is conditional upon a satisfactory method for authenticating each user being 

available. The Board of Directors decides whether such a method is available in advance of each general meeting. 

The Board of Directors may determine further guidelines for voting in advance. The notice for the general meeting 

shall state whether it is permitted to vote in advance and the guidelines, if any, that apply to such voting. 

 

Electronic communication 

Pursuant to Section 7 of the Articles of Association, the Company may utilize electronic communication when it is to 

provide messages, notices, information, documents etc. pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act to the shareholders. 

Signature 

The chair of the Board of Directors and the CEO, individually.  

Nomination committee 

Pursuant to Section 10 of the Articles of Association, the Company shall have a nomination committee, which shall 

consist of between two and four members. 

The nomination committee shall present proposals to the general meeting regarding (i) election of the chair of the 

Board of Directors, Board Members and any deputy members, and (ii) election of members of the nomination 

committee. The nomination committee shall also present proposals to the  general meeting for remuneration of the 

Board of Directors and the nomination committee, which is to be determined by the general meeting. The general 

meeting shall adopt instructions for the nomination committee. 

Change of control 

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing 

a change in control of the Company. 

 Certain aspects of Norwegian law 

13.14.2.1 General Meetings 

Through the general meeting, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian company. In accordance with 

Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held each year on or prior to 30 June. 

Norwegian law requires that a written notice of annual general meetings setting forth the date and time of, the 

venue for and the agenda of the meeting, is sent to all shareholders with a known address no later than 21 days 

before the date of the annual general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company listed on a stock 

exchange or a regulated market shall be held, unless the articles of association stipulate a longer deadline. The latter 

is currently not the case for the Company. 
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A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy appointed at its own discretion. Pursuant 

to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a proxy voting form shall be appended to the notice of the general meeting 

for a Norwegian public limited liability company listed on a stock exchange or a regulated market unless such form 

has been made available to the shareholders on the company's website and the notice calling for the meeting 

includes all information the shareholders need to access the proxy voting forms, including the relevant Internet 

address. 

Under Norwegian law, a shareholder may only exercise rights that pertain to shareholders, including participation in 

general meetings of shareholders, when it has been registered as a shareholder in the company's register of 

shareholders maintained with the VPS. Unless the articles of association explicitly states that the right to attend and 

vote at a general meeting may only be exercised by a shareholder if it has been entered into the company's register 

of shareholders five working days prior to the general meeting, all shareholders who are registered as such on the 

date of the general meeting have the right to attend and exercise its voting rights at that meeting. This is the case 

for the Company i.e. the record date for shareholders to participate at a General Meeting is five working days prior 

to the date of the relevant general meeting. 

Apart from the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if the board of 

directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders must also be convened if, in 

order to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders representing at least 5% of the share capital demands 

this in writing. The requirements for notice of and admission to the annual general meeting also apply to 

extraordinary general meetings. However, the annual general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company 

may with a majority of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well as at least two- thirds of 

the share capital represented at a general meeting resolve that extraordinary general meetings may be convened 

with a 14 days' notice period until the next annual general meeting provided that the company has procedures in 

place allowing shareholders to vote electronically. This has currently not been resolved by the Company's General 

Meeting. 

13.14.2.2 Voting rights – amendments to the articles of association 

Each Share carries one vote. In general, decisions that shareholders of a Norwegian public limited liability company 

are entitled to make under Norwegian law or the articles of association may be made by a simple majority of the 

votes cast. In the case of elections or appointments (e.g. to the board of directors), the person(s) who obtain(s) the 

most votes cast are elected. However, as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to 

waive preferential rights to subscribe for shares in connection with any share issue in the Company, to approve a 

merger or demerger of the Company, to amend the articles of association, to authorize an increase or reduction of 

the share capital, to authorize an issuance of convertible loans or warrants by the Company or to authorize the 

Board of Directors to purchase Shares and hold them as treasury shares or to dissolve the Company, must receive 

the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share 

capital represented at the general meeting in question. Moreover, Norwegian law requires that certain decisions, i.e. 

decisions that have the effect of substantially altering the rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, 

receive the approval by the holders of such shares or class of shares as well as the majority required for amending 

the articles of association. 

Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company's shareholders in respect of dividend 

payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require that at least 90% of the 

share capital represented at the general meeting in question vote in favor of the resolution, as well as the majority 

required for amending the articles of association. 

Only a shareholder registered as such with the VPS is entitled to vote for shares of a Norwegian public limited liability 

company listed on a stock exchange or regulated market. Beneficial owners of the shares who are registered in the 

name of a nominee are also entitled to vote under Norwegian law, but any person who is designated in the VPS 

register as the holder of such Shares as a nominee is not entitled to vote under Norwegian law unless being instructed 

with a proxy by the beneficial owner. A nominee may not meet or vote for shares registered on a nominee account. 

A shareholder holding Shares through a nominee account must, in order to be eligible to register, meet and vote for 

such Shares at the general meeting, notify the company two days prior to the date of the relevant general meeting 

(unless the board of directors prior to sending the notice for the General Meeting has decided on a shorter notification 

deadline). 

There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company. 

 Additional issuances and preferential rights 

If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Company's articles of association must be 

amended, and must thus receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well 

as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting in question. In addition, under 

Norwegian law, the Company's shareholders have a preferential right to subscribe for new Shares issued by the 

Company. The preferential rights may be deviated from by a resolution in the general meeting passed with the same 



  Soiltech ASA – Prospectus 

76 
 

vote required to amend the articles of association. A deviation of the shareholders' preferential rights in respect of 

bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding Shares. 

The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the articles of association, authorize the 

board of directors to issue new Shares, and to deviate from the preferential rights of shareholders in connection with 

such issuances. Such authorization may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the par value of the Shares 

to be issued may not exceed 50% of the registered par share capital when the authorization is registered with the 

Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 

Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject to approval by 

the Company's shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity and thus the share capital increase 

does not require any payment of a subscription price by the shareholders. Any bonus issues may be affected either 

by an issuance of new shares to the Company's existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the Company's 

outstanding Shares. 

Issuance of new Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States upon the exercise of 

preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration statement in the United States under United States 

securities laws. Should the Company in such a situation decide not to file a registration statement, the Company's 

U.S. shareholders may not be able to exercise their preferential rights. If a U.S. shareholder is ineligible to participate 

in a rights offering, such shareholder would not receive the rights at all and the rights would be sold on the 

shareholder's behalf by the Company. Shareholders in other jurisdictions outside Norway may be similarly affected 

if the rights and the new shares being offered have not been registered with, or approved by, the relevant authorities 

in such jurisdiction. The Company has not filed a registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act in connection 

with the Listing or sought approvals under the laws of any other jurisdiction outside Norway in respect of any pre-

emptive rights or the Shares, does not intend to do so and doing so in the future may be impractical and costly. To 

the extent that the Company's shareholders are not able to exercise their rights to subscribe for new shares, the 

value of their subscription rights will be lost and such shareholders' proportional ownership interests in the Company 

will be reduced.

13.14.3.1 Minority rights 

Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, including, but not 

limited to, those described in this paragraph and the description of general meetings as set out above. Any of the 

Company's shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the board of directors or the Company's 

shareholders made at the general meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favors certain 

shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. The Company's 

shareholders may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to the extent 

particularly strong reasons are considered by the court to make necessary dissolution of the Company. 

Minority shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand in writing that the 

Board of Directors convenes an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In addition, 

any of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an item on the agenda for any 

general meeting as long as the Company is notified within seven days before the deadline for convening the general 

meeting. If the notice has been issued when such a written demand is presented, a renewed notice must be issued 

if the deadline for issuing notice of the relevant general meeting has not expired. 

13.14.3.2 Rights of redemption and repurchase of shares 

The share capital of the Company may be decreased by reducing the par value of the Shares or by cancelling Shares. 

Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at least two-

thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting. Redemption of individual Shares requires the consent 

of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed. 

The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an authorization 

to do so by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at 

least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate par value of treasury shares so 

acquired, and held by the Company must not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital, and treasury shares may 

only be acquired if the Company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet, exceeds the 

consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorization by the general meeting of the Company's shareholders 

cannot be granted for a period exceeding two years. The Company may not subscribe for its own Shares. 

13.14.3.3 Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations 

A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution by 

the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share 

capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan, or demerger plan signed by the board of directors along 

with certain other required documentation, would have to be sent to all the Company's shareholders, or if the articles 
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of association stipulate that, made available to the shareholders on the Company's website, at least one month prior 

to the general meeting to pass upon the matter. 

13.14.3.4 Liability of board members 

Board members owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires that the 

board members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and exercise a general duty 

of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests of the Company. 

Board members may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or willfully cause the Company. Norwegian 

law permits the general meeting to discharge any such person from liability, but such discharge is not binding on 

the Company if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at the general meeting passing 

upon the matter. If a resolution to discharge the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against such 

a person has been passed by a general meeting with a smaller majority than that required to amend the Articles of 

Association, shareholders representing more than 10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100 

shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may pursue the claim on the Company's behalf and in its name. 

The cost of any such action is not the Company's responsibility but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company 

receives as a result of the action. If the decision to discharge any of the Board Members from liability or not to 

pursue claims against the Board Members is made by such a majority as is necessary to amend the Articles of 

Association, the minority shareholders of the Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name. 

13.14.3.5 Civil proceedings against the Company in jurisdictions other than Norway 

Furthermore, investors shall note that they may be unable to recover losses in civil proceedings in jurisdictions other 

than Norway. The Company is a public limited liability company organized under the laws of Norway. The Board 

Members and the members of the Management reside in Norway, Denmark and Austria. As a result, it may not be 

possible for investors to effect service of process in other jurisdictions upon such persons or the Company, to enforce 

against such persons or the Company judgments obtained in courts outside of Norway, Denmark or Austria, to 

enforce judgments on such persons or the Company in other jurisdictions. 

13.14.3.6 Indemnification of board members 

Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contains any provision concerning indemnification by the 

Company of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase insurance for the Board Members against 

certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such. 

13.14.3.7 Distribution of assets on liquidation 

Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders at the general 

meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital 

represented at that meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital. 

 Shareholder agreements 

The Company is not aware of any shareholders' agreements related to the Shares which will be in force upon Listing. 
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14 TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS  

 General 

The Shares may, in certain jurisdictions, be subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be 

transferred or sold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations. Investors should be aware 

that they may be required to bear the financial risk of the investment for an indefinite period of time. Any failure to 

comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.  

Receipt of this Prospectus shall not constitute an offer for Shares and this Prospectus is for information only and 

should not be copied or redistributed. Accordingly, if an existing shareholder receives a copy of this Prospectus, the 

existing shareholder should not distribute or send the same or transfer the Shares to any person in or into any 

jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local securities laws or regulations. If an existing shareholder 

forwards this Prospectus into any such territories (whether under a contractual or obligation or otherwise), the 

existing shareholder should direct the recipient's attention to the contents of this Section 14 "Transfer restrictions".  

The Shares may not be transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, any jurisdiction in which it would 

not be permissible to transfer the Shares, and this Prospectus shall not be accessed by any person in any jurisdiction 

it would not be permissible to transfer the Shares.  

The information in this Section 14 "Transfer restrictions" is intended as a general guide only. If any recipient is in 

any doubt of any of the contents of these restrictions, or whether any of these restrictions apply to that recipient, 

the recipient should obtain independent professional advice without delay.  

 United States 

The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory 

authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except: (i) within 

the United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another exemption from the registration 

requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S, and in 

each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the United States or any other 

jurisdiction. Terms defined in Rule 144A or Regulation S shall have the same meaning when used in this section. 

Each purchaser of the Shares outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S will be deemed to have 

acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such other information as 

it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable 

laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. 

Securities Act, or with any securities’ regulatory authority or any state of the United States, subject to 

certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States. 

• The purchaser is, and the person, if any, for whose account or benefit the purchaser is acquiring the Shares, 

was located outside the United States at the time the buy order for the Shares was originated and continues 

to be located outside the United States and has not purchased the Shares for the account or benefit of any 

person in the United States or entered into any arrangement for the transfer of the Shares or any economic 

interest therein to any person in the United States. 

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate and is not in 

the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from 

the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Shares pursuant to Regulation S 

described in this Prospectus. 

• The Shares have not been offered to it by means of any "directed selling efforts" as defined in Regulation 

S. 

• The Company shall not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares made other than in 

compliance with the above restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is acquiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the 

purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it 

has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements in behalf of each 

such account. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company, the Listing Advisor and their respective advisers will rely 

upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements. 

Each purchaser of the Shares within the United States purchasing pursuant to Rule 144A or another available 

exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act will be 
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deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such other 

information as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable 

laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. 

Securities Act or with any securities’ regulatory authority of any state of the United States and are subject 

to significant restrictions to transfer. 

• The purchaser (i) is a QIB (as defined in Rule 144A), (ii) is aware that the sale to it is being made in reliance 

on Rule 144A and (iii) is acquiring such Shares for its own account or for the account of a QIB, in each case 

for investment and not with a view to any resale or distribution to the Shares, as the case may be. 

• The purchaser is aware that the Shares are being offered in the United States in a transaction not involving 

any public offering in the United States within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act. 

• If, in the future, the purchaser decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Shares, or any 

economic interest therein, as the case may be, such Shares or any economic interest therein may be 

offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred only (i) to a person whom the beneficial owner and/or any 

person acting on its behalf reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 

144A, (ii) outside the United States in a transaction meeting the requirements of Regulation S, (iii) in 

accordance with Rule 144 (if available), (iv) pursuant to any other exemption from the registration 

requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, subject to the receipt by the Company of an opinion of counsel or 

such other evidence that the Company may reasonably require that such sale or transfer is in compliance 

with the U.S. Securities Act or (v) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the U.S. Securities 

Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the United 

States or any other jurisdiction. 

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate and is not in 

the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from 

the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser will not deposit or cause to be deposited such Shares into any depositary receipt facility 

established or maintained by a depository bank other than a Rule 144A restricted depository receipt facility, 

so long as such Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) under the U.S. 

Securities Act. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) 

(3) and no representation is made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for resales 

of any Shares, as the case may be. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company shall not recognize any offer, sale pledge or other transfer 

of the Shares made other than in compliance with the above-stated restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is requiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the 

purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it 

has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of 

each such account. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that these representations and undertakings are required in connection with 

the securities laws of the United States and that Company, the Listing Advisor and its respective advisers 

will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements. 

 European Economic Area 

Each person in a Relevant Member State who receives any communication in respect of, or who acquires any Shares 

under, the offers contemplated in this Prospectus will be deemed to have represented, warranted and agreed to and 

with the Listing Advisor and the Company that: 

• it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and 

 

• in the case of any Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 1 of the 

EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Shares acquired by it in an offer have not been acquired on behalf of, nor 

have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in any Relevant Member State other 

than qualified investors, as that term is defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation, or in circumstances in 

which the prior consent of the Listing Advisor has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii) where Shares 

have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified investors, 

the offer of those Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus Regulation as having been made to 

such persons. 

For the purpose of this representation, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares in any Relevant 

Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient information 

on terms of an offering and the Shares to be offered, so as to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Shares. 
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15 SECURITIES TRADING IN NORWAY 

Set out below is a summary of certain aspects of securities trading in Norway and the possible implications of owning 

tradable Shares on the Euronext Expand. The summary is based on the rules and regulations in force in Norway as 

of the date of this Prospectus, which may be subject to changes occurring after such date. This summary does not 

purport to be a comprehensive description of securities trading in Norway. Investors who wish to clarify aspects of 

securities trading in Norway should consult with and rely upon their own advisors. 

 Introduction 

Oslo Børs is 100% owned by Euronext Nordics Holding AS, a holding company established by Euronext N.V following 

its acquisition of Oslo Børs VPS Holding ASA in June 2019. Euronext owns seven regulated markets across Europe, 

including Amsterdam, Brussels, Dublin, Lisbon, London, Oslo and Paris. 

Oslo Børs has three separate listing alternatives for companies; Euronext Oslo Børs; Euronext Expand; and Euronext 

Growth. Euronext Oslo Børs and Euronext Expand are regulated exchanges, while Euronext Growth is a multilateral 

trading facility (MTF).   

 Market value of the Shares 

The market value of shares listed on Euronext Expand, including the Shares, may fluctuate significantly, which could 

cause investors to lose a significant part of their investment. The market value could fluctuate significantly in 

response to a number of factors beyond the respective issuer's control, including quarterly variations in operating 

results, adverse business developments, changes in financial estimates and investment recommendations or ratings 

by securities analysts, announcements by the respective issuer or its competitors of new product and service 

offerings, significant contracts, acquisitions or strategic relationships, publicity about the issuer, its products and 

services or its competitors, lawsuits against the issuer, unforeseen liabilities, changes in management, changes to 

the regulatory environment in which the issuer operates or general market conditions. 

Furthermore, issuances of shares or other securities may dilute the holdings of shareholders and could materially 

affect the price of the Shares. Any issuer, including the Company, may in the future decide to offer additional shares 

or other securities to finance new capital-intensive projects, in connection with unanticipated liabilities or expenses 

or for any other purposes, including for refinancing purposes. There are no assurances that any of the issuers on 

Euronext Expand will not decide to conduct further offerings of securities in the future. Depending on the structure 

of any future offering, certain existing shareholders may not have the ability to purchase additional equity securities. 

If a listed company raises additional funds by an issuance of additional equity securities, the holdings and voting 

interests of existing shareholders could be diluted, and thereby affect share price. 

 Trading and settlement 

As of the date of this Prospectus, trading of equities on the Euronext Expand is carried out in the electronic Euronext 

in-house developed trading system, Optiq™. 

Official trading on Euronext Expand takes place between 09:00 CET/CEST and 16:20 CET/CEST each trading day, 

with pre-trade period between 08:15 CET/CEST and 09:00 CET/CEST, a closing auction from 16:20 CET/CEST to 

16:25 CET/CEST and a trading at last period from 16:25 CET/CEST to 16:30 CET/CEST. Reporting of Off-Book On 

Exchange trades can be done from 07:15 CET/CEST to 18.00 CET/CEST. 

The settlement period for trading on Euronext Expand is two trading days (T+2). This means that securities will be 

settled on the investor's account with the VPS two trading days after the transaction, and that the seller will receive 

payment after two trading days. 

Euronext Expand offers an interoperability model for clearing and counterparty services for equity trading through 

LCH Limited, EuroCCP and Six X-Clear. 

Investment services in Norway may only be provided by Norwegian investment firms holding a license under the 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act, branches of investment firms from an EEA member state or investment firms from 

outside the EEA that have been licensed to operate in Norway. Investment firms in an EEA member state may also 

provide cross-border investment services into Norway. 

It is possible for investment firms to undertake market-making activities in shares listed in Norway if they have a 

license to this effect under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or in the case of investment firms in an EEA 

member state, a license to carry out market-making activities in their home jurisdiction. Such market-making 

activities will be governed by the regulations of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act relating to brokers' trading for 

their own account. However, such market-making activities do not as such require notification to the Norwegian FSA 

or Oslo Børs except for the general obligation of investment firms that are members of Oslo Børs to report all trades 

in stock exchange listed securities. 
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 Information, control and surveillance 

Under Norwegian law, Oslo Børs is required to perform a number of surveillance and control functions. The 

Surveillance and Corporate Control unit of Oslo Børs monitors all market activity on a continuous basis. Market 

surveillance systems are largely automated, promptly warning department personnel of abnormal market 

developments. 

The Norwegian FSA controls the issuance of securities in both the equity and bond markets in Norway and evaluates 

whether the issuance documentation contains the required information and whether it would otherwise be unlawful 

to carry out the issuance. 

Under Norwegian law, a company that is listed on a Norwegian regulated market, or has applied for listing on such 

market, must promptly release any inside information directly concerning the company (inside information means 

precise information about financial instruments, the issuer thereof or other matters which are likely to have a 

significant effect on the price of the relevant financial instruments or related financial instruments, and which are 

not publicly available or commonly known in the market). A company may, however, delay the release of such 

information in order not to prejudice its legitimate interests, provided that it is able to ensure the confidentiality of 

the information and that the delayed release would not be likely to mislead the public. Oslo Børs may levy fines on 

companies violating these requirements. 

 The VPS (Euronext Securities Oslo) and transfer of Shares 

The Company's principal share register is operated through the VPS. The VPS is the Norwegian paperless centralized 

securities register. It is a computerized book-keeping system in which the ownership of, and all transactions relating 

to, Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. The VPS and Oslo Børs ASA are both 100% owned by Euronext 

Nordics Holding AS. 

All transactions relating to securities registered with the VPS are made through computerized book entries. No 

physical share certificates are, or may be, issued. The VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the 

registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership. To give effect to such entries, the individual 

shareholder must establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent. Norwegian banks, Norges Bank (being, 

the central bank of Norway), authorized securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions 

established within the EEA are allowed to act as account agents. 

As a matter of Norwegian law, the entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the legal 

rights of parties as against the issuing company or any third party claiming an interest in the given security. A 

transferee or assignee of shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares unless 

such transferee or assignee has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of such share 

acquisition, and the acquisition is not prevented by law, the relevant company's articles of association or otherwise. 

The VPS is liable for any loss suffered as a result of faulty registration or an amendment to, or deletion of, rights in 

respect of registered securities unless the error is caused by matters outside the VPS' control which the VPS could 

not reasonably be expected to avoid or overcome the consequences of. Damages payable by the VPS may, however, 

be reduced in the event of contributory negligence by the aggrieved party. 

The VPS must provide information to the Norwegian FSA on an ongoing basis, as well as any information that the 

Norwegian FSA requests. Further, Norwegian tax authorities may require certain information from the VPS regarding 

any individual's holdings of securities, including information about dividends and interest payments. 

 Shareholder register 

Under Norwegian law, shares are registered with the VPS in the name of the beneficial owner of the shares. Beneficial 

owners of the Shares that hold their shares through a nominee (such as banks, brokers, dealers or other third 

parties) are able to vote for such Shares at the general meeting in their own name provided that the Company has 

received notification of such attendance two days prior to the date of the relevant general meeting (unless the board 

of directors prior to sending the notice for the general meeting has decided on a shorter notification deadline). As a 

general rule, there are no arrangements for nominee registration and Norwegian shareholders are not allowed to 

register their shares in the VPS through a nominee. However, foreign shareholders may register their shares in the 

VPS in the name of a nominee (bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian FSA. An approved and registered 

nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about beneficial shareholders to the company and to the 

Norwegian authorities. In case of registration by nominees, the registration in the VPS must show that the registered 

owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends and other distributions but cannot vote 

in general meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. There is no assurance that beneficial owners of the Shares 

will receive the notice of any general meeting in time to instruct their nominees or others to vote for their Shares in 

the manner desired by such beneficial owners or notify the Company of its own attendance. See Section 13.14.2 

"Certain aspects of Norwegian law" for more information on nominee accounts. 
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 Foreign investment in shares listed in Norway 

Foreign investors may trade in shares listed on Euronext Expand through any broker that is a member of Oslo Børs, 

whether Norwegian or foreign.

Foreign investors should note that the rights of holders of shares listed on Euronext Expand and issued by Norwegian 

incorporated companies are governed by Norwegian law and by the respective company's articles of association. 

These rights may differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian law limits the 

circumstances under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. For instance, under 

Norwegian law, any action brought by a company in respect of wrongful acts committed against such company will 

be prioritized over actions brought by shareholders claiming compensation in respect of such acts. In addition, it 

may be difficult to prevail in a claim against the company under, or to enforce liabilities predicated upon, securities 

laws in other jurisdictions. See Section 13.14.2 "Certain aspects of Norwegian law" for more information. 

 Disclosure obligations 

If a person's, entity's or consolidated group's proportion of the total issued share capital, voting rights to shares, 

and/or rights to issued shares of a company listed on a regulated market with Norway as its home state (which will 

be the case for the Company) reaches, exceeds or falls below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 

25%, 1/3, 50%, 2/3 or 90% of the share capital or the voting rights of that company, the person, entity or group 

in question has an obligation under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act to notify Oslo Børs and the issuer 

immediately, subject to certain exceptions. The same applies if the disclosure thresholds are passed due to other 

circumstances, such as a change in the company's share capital, or the granting of a proxy to vote for shares at the 

Company's general meetings without voting instructions. For the purpose of disclosure of shareholdings, share 

lending and re-delivery of shares are considered disposal and acquisition of shares pursuant to the relevant 

provisions in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. 

 Insider trading 

According to Norwegian law, subscription for, purchase, sale, exchange or other acquisitions or disposals of financial 

instruments that are listed, or subject to the application for listing, on a Norwegian regulated market, or incitement 

to such dispositions, must not be undertaken by anyone who has inside information, as defined in Article 7 of 

Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse, and 

as implemented in Norway in accordance with section 3-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The same applies 

to the entry into, purchase, sale or exchange of options or futures/forward contracts or equivalent rights whose 

value or price either depends on or has an effect on the price or value of such financial instruments or incitement to 

such dispositions. 

 Mandatory offer requirement 

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act requires any person, entity or consolidated group that becomes the owner of 

shares representing more than one-third (or more than 40% or 50%) of the voting rights of a company listed on a 

Norwegian regulated market (with the exception of certain foreign companies) to, within four weeks, make an 

unconditional general offer for the purchase of the remaining shares of that company. A mandatory offer obligation 

may also be triggered where a party acquires the right to become the owner of shares that, together with the party's 

own shareholding, represent more than one-third of the voting rights in the company and Oslo Børs decides that 

this is regarded as an effective acquisition of the shares in question. 

The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the 

shares that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation 

was triggered.

When a mandatory offer obligation is triggered, the person subject to the obligation is required to immediately notify 

Oslo Børs and the company in question accordingly. The notification is required to state whether an offer will be 

made to acquire the remaining shares of the company or whether a sale will take place. As a rule, a notification to 

the effect that an offer will be made cannot be retracted. The offer and the offer document required are subject to 

approval by Oslo Børs before the offer is submitted to the shareholders or made public. 

The offer price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed by the offeror for the shares 

in the six months' period prior to the date the threshold was exceeded. If the acquirer acquires or agrees to acquire 

additional shares at a higher price prior to the expiration of the mandatory offer period, the acquirer is obliged to 

restate its offer at such higher price. A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative at least 

equivalent to any other consideration offered. 

In case of failure to make a mandatory offer or to sell the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold 

within four weeks, Oslo Børs may force the acquirer to sell the shares exceeding the threshold by public auction. 

Moreover, a shareholder who fails to make an offer may not, as long as the mandatory offer obligation remains in 
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force, exercise rights in the company, such as voting in a general meeting, without the consent of a majority of the 

remaining shareholders. The shareholder may, however, exercise his/her/its rights to dividends and pre-emption 

rights in the event of a share capital increase. If the shareholder neglects his/her/its duty to make a mandatory 

offer, Oslo Børs may impose a cumulative daily fine that runs until the circumstance has been rectified. 

Any person, entity or consolidated group that owns shares representing more than one-third of the votes in a 

company listed on a Norwegian regulated market (with the exception of certain foreign companies) is obliged to 

make an offer to purchase the remaining shares of the company (repeated offer obligation) if the person, entity or 

consolidated group through acquisition becomes the owner of shares representing 40% or more of the votes in the 

company. The same applies correspondingly if the person, entity or consolidated group through acquisition becomes 

the owner of shares representing 50% or more of the votes in the company. The mandatory offer obligation ceases 

to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the shares which exceeds the relevant 

threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered. 

Any person, entity or consolidated group that has passed any of the above mentioned thresholds in such a way as 

not to trigger the mandatory bid obligation, and has therefore not previously made an offer for the remaining shares 

of the company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to make a mandatory offer 

in the event of a subsequent acquisition of shares of the company. 

 Compulsory acquisition 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Companies Act and the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a shareholder who, 

directly or through subsidiaries, acquires shares representing 90% or more of the total number of issued shares of 

a Norwegian public limited liability company, as well as 90% or more of the total voting rights, has a right, and each 

remaining minority shareholder of the company has a right to require such majority shareholder, to effect a 

compulsory acquisition for cash of the shares not already owned by such majority shareholder. Through such 

compulsory acquisition the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the remaining shares with immediate effect. 

If a shareholder acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total number of issued shares, as well as more 

than 90% of the total voting rights, through a voluntary offer in accordance with the Norwegian Securities Trading 

Act, a compulsory acquisition can, subject to the following conditions, be carried out without such shareholder being 

obliged to make a mandatory offer: (i) the compulsory acquisition is commenced no later than four weeks after the 

acquisition of shares through the voluntary offer, (ii) the price offered per share is equal to or higher than what the 

offer price would have been in a mandatory offer, and (iii) the settlement is guaranteed by a financial institution 

authorized to provide such guarantees in Norway. 

A majority shareholder who effects a compulsory acquisition is required to offer the minority shareholders a specific 

price per share, the determination of which is at the discretion of the majority shareholder. However, where the 

offeror, after making a mandatory or voluntary offer, has acquired more than 90% of the voting shares of a company 

and a corresponding proportion of the votes that can be cast at the general meeting, and the offeror pursuant to 

section 4-25 of the Norwegian Public Companies Act completes a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares 

within three months after the expiry of the offer period, it follows from the Norwegian Securities Trading Act that 

the redemption price shall be determined on the basis of the offer price for the mandatory/voluntary offer unless 

specific reasons indicate another price. 

Should any minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such minority shareholder may, within a specified 

deadline of not less than two months, request that the price be set by a Norwegian court. The cost of such court 

procedure will, as a general rule, be the responsibility of the majority shareholder, and the relevant court will have 

full discretion in determining the consideration to be paid to the minority shareholder as a result of the compulsory 

acquisition. 

Absent a request for a Norwegian court to set the price or any other objection to the price being offered, the minority 

shareholders would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiry of the specified deadline. 

 Foreign exchange controls 

There are currently no foreign exchange control restrictions in Norway that would potentially restrict the payment 

of dividends to a shareholder outside Norway, and there are currently no restrictions that would affect the right of 

shareholders of a company that has its shares registered with the VPS who are not residents in Norway to dispose 

of their shares and receive the proceeds from a disposal outside Norway. There is no maximum transferable amount 

either to or from Norway, although transferring banks are required to submit reports on foreign currency exchange 

transactions into and out of Norway into a central data register maintained by the Norwegian customs and excise 

authorities. The Norwegian police, tax authorities, customs and excise authorities, the National Insurance 

Administration and the Norwegian FSA have electronic access to the data in this register. 
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16 NORWEGIAN TAXATION  

The following is a brief summary of certain Norwegian tax considerations relevant to the acquisition, ownership and 

disposition of Shares by holders that are residents of Norway for purposes of Norwegian taxation ("resident or 

Norwegian shareholders") and holders that are not residents of Norway for such purposes ("non-resident or 

foreign shareholders").  

The summary is based on applicable Norwegian laws, rules and regulations as at the date of this Prospectus. Such 

laws, rules and regulations may be subject to changes after this date, possibly on a retroactive basis for the same 

tax year. The summary is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax 

considerations that may be relevant and does not address taxation in any other jurisdiction than Norway. 

The summary does not concern tax issues for the Company and the summary only focuses on the shareholder 

categories explicitly mentioned below. Special rules may apply to shareholders who are considered transparent 

entities for tax purposes, for shareholders holding shares through a Norwegian permanent establishment and for 

shareholders that have ceased or cease to be resident in Norway for tax purposes.  

Each shareholder, and specifically non-resident shareholders, should consult with and rely upon their own tax 

advisers to determine their particular tax consequences. 

 Taxation of dividends 

 Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Dividends received by shareholders who are natural persons resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian 

Personal Shareholders") are taxable as ordinary income currently at a rate of 22%, to the extent the dividends 

exceed a statutory tax-free allowance (Nw. skjermingsfradrag). With effect from the fiscal year 2024 the taxable 

amount is multiplied by a factor of 1.72, resulting in an effective tax rate of 37.84 (22% x 1.72). 

The tax-free allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each Share is equal to the cost 

price of the Share multiplied by a determined risk-free interest rate based on the effective rate of interest on treasury 

bills (Nw. statskasseveksler) with three months' maturity plus 0.5 percentage points, after tax. The allowance is 

calculated for each calendar year and is allocated solely to Norwegian Personal Shareholders holding Shares at the 

expiration of the relevant calendar year. The risk-free interest rate is published in January in the year following the 

income year. The risk-free interest rate for 2023 was 3.2%. 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders who transfer Shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated tax-free 

allowance related to the year of the transfer when determining the taxable amount in the year of transfer. Any part 

of the calculated tax-free allowance one year that exceeds the dividend distributed on a Share ("Excess 

Allowance") may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, or gains upon realization of, 

the same Share. 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders may hold the Shares through a Norwegian share saving account (Nw. 

Aksjesparekonto). Dividends received on Shares held through a share saving account will not be taxed with 

immediate effect. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account exceeding the paid in deposit will be 

regarded as taxable income, regardless of whether the funds are derived from gains or dividends related to the 

Shares held in the account. Such income will be taxed with an effective tax rate of 37.84, cf. the description above 

concerning taxation of dividends. 

The tax-free allowance is, when investing through share saving accounts, calculated based on the lowest paid in 

deposit in the account during the income year, plus any unused tax-free allowance from previous years. The tax-

free allowance can only be deducted in order to reduce taxable income and cannot increase or produce a deductible 

loss. Any Excess Allowance may be carried forward and set off against future withdrawals from the account. 

 Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) resident in Norway for tax purposes 

("Norwegian Corporate Shareholders") are largely exempt from tax on dividends distributed from the Company, 

pursuant to the Norwegian participation exemption method (Nw. fritaksmetoden). However, unless the Norwegian 

Corporate Shareholder holds more than 90% of the Shares and the voting rights of the company, 3% of the dividend 

income distributed to the Norwegian Corporate Shareholder is taxable as ordinary income at a rate of 22% resulting 

in an effective tax rate of 0.66% (22% x 3%). 

 Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are natural persons not resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Non-

Norwegian Personal Shareholders") are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The 

withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which the 
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shareholder is resident. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends, and the 

Company assumes this obligation. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes may apply individually to Norwegian 

tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the calculated tax-free allowance on each individual Share 

(please see Section 16.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders"). However, the tax-free allowance deduction does 

not apply in the event that the withholding tax rate, pursuant to an applicable tax treaty, leads to a lower taxation 

on the dividends than the withholding tax rate of 25% less the tax-free allowance. 

If a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder carries out business activities in or managed from Norway and the Shares 

are, in effect, connected to such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a 

Norwegian Personal Shareholder, as described above. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders who have been imposed with a higher withholding tax than set out in an 

applicable tax treaty, may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted, 

if certain documentation requirements are met. Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders should consult their own 

advisers regarding the availability of treaty benefits in respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of 

effectively claiming a refund of withholding tax. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders, who are resident in an EEA country may hold the Shares through a Norwegian 

share saving account (Nw. Aksjesparekonto) to the same extent as Norwegian shareholders. Please refer to Section 

16.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above for a description of taxation of shares held on a share saving 

account.  

 Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) not resident in 

Norway for tax purposes ("Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders") are as a general rule subject to withholding 

tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and 

the country in which the shareholder is resident. 

Dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes are 

exempted from Norwegian withholding tax, provided that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the Shares and 

is considered to be "genuinely established and performs genuine economic activity" in the relevant EEA jurisdiction 

for Norwegian tax purposes. 

If a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder carries out business activities in or managed from Norway and the Shares 

are, in effect, connected to such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholder, as described above. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable 

tax treaty, may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted. The 

same will apply to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered withholding tax although qualifying 

for the Norwegian participation exemption method. 

All Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders must document their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by 

either (i) presenting an approved withholding tax refund application or (ii) present an approval from the Norwegian 

tax authorities confirming that the recipient is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate. In addition, certain other 

documentation requirements must be met, and the relevant documentation must be provided to either the nominee 

or the account operator registered with the VPS. Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders should consult their own 

advisers regarding the possibility of effectively obtaining a reduced withholding tax rate pursuant to either an 

applicable tax treaty or the participation exemption method. 

 Taxation upon realization of shares 

 Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Sale, redemption or other disposal of Shares is considered a realization for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital gain 

or loss generated by a Norwegian Personal Shareholder through a disposal of Shares is taxable or tax deductible in 

Norway. Such capital gain or loss is included in or deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's ordinary 

income in the year of disposal. Ordinary income is in 2024 taxable at a rate of 22%. However, with effect from the 

fiscal year 2024, the taxable capital gain (after the tax-free allowance reduction, cf. below) or tax-deductible loss 

shall be adjusted by a factor of 1.72, resulting in a marginal effective tax rate of 37.84. 

The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the number 

of Shares disposed of. 
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The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per Share as the difference between the consideration for the Share 

and the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's cost price of the Share, including costs incurred in relation to the 

acquisition or realizations of the Share. Norwegian Personal Shareholders are entitled to deduct a statutory tax-free 

allowance from any capital gain, provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend 

income. Please refer to Section 16.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above for a description of the calculation 

of the tax-free allowance. The allowance may only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable gain, and cannot increase 

or produce a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realization of a Share 

will be annulled. 

If the Norwegian Personal Shareholder owns Shares acquired at different points in time, the Shares that were 

acquired first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis. 

Gains derived upon the realization of Shares held through a share saving account will be exempt from immediate 

Norwegian taxation and losses will not be tax deductible. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account 

exceeding the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's paid in deposit, will be regarded as taxable income, subject to tax 

at an effective tax rate of 37.84% (please see Section 16.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above for more 

information regarding share saving accounts). 

 Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are generally exempt from tax on capital gains derived from the realization of 

Shares, pursuant to the Norwegian participation exemption method. Correspondingly, losses upon the realization 

and costs incurred in connection with the purchase and realization of such Shares are not deductible for tax purposes.  

 Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Gains from the sale or other disposal of Shares by a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder will not be subject to 

taxation in Norway unless the Shares held by the Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder are, in effect, connected to 

business activities carried out in or managed from Norway, or the Shares are held by a Non-Norwegian Personal 

Shareholder who has been a resident of Norway for tax purposes with unsettled/postponed exit tax calculated on 

the Shares at the time of cessation of Norwegian tax residency. 

Please refer to Section 16.2.3 "Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above for a description of the availability of 

a Norwegian share saving account for Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders. Please refer to Section 16.2.1 

"Norwegian Personal Shareholders" for a description of the taxation of dividends on Shares held on a share saving 

account. 

 Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Capital gains derived from the sale or other realization of Shares by Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not 

subject to taxation in Norway unless the Shares held by the Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder are, in effect, 

connected with business activities carried out in or managed from Norway. 

 Net wealth tax 

The value of Shares is included in the basis for the computation of net wealth tax imposed on Norwegian Personal 

Shareholders. With effect from the fiscal year 2024, the marginal net wealth tax rate is 1% of the tax assessment 

value of total net assets exceeding NOK 1.7 million (NOK 3.4 million jointly for married couples), increased to 1.1% 

of the tax assessment value of total net assets exceeding NOK 20 million. The value for assessment purposes for 

listed Shares is, with effect from the fiscal year 2024, equal to 80% of the listed value as of 1 January in the year 

of assessment (i.e., the year following the relevant fiscal year).  

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax. 

Shareholders not resident in Norway for tax purposes are not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax. Non-Norwegian 

Personal Shareholders may, however, be liable for Norwegian net wealth tax if the shareholding is, in effect, 

connected to business activities carried out in or managed from Norway. 

 Stamp duty / transfer tax 

Norway does not impose any stamp duty or transfer tax on the transfer or issuance of Shares. 

Norway does not impose any inheritance tax. However, the heir continues the giver's tax positions, including the 

input values, based on principles of continuity. 

 The Company's responsibility for the withholding of taxes  
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The Company is responsible for and shall deduct, report and pay any applicable withholding tax to the Norwegian 

tax authorities.  

 Cautionary note 

Potential investors should be aware that the tax legislation of the investor's Member State and of the Company's 

country of incorporation may have an impact on the income received from the securities.   
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17 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

 Independent auditor 

The Company's independent auditor is PwC, with registration number 987 009 713 and business address at Dronning 

Eufemias gate 71, 0194 Oslo, Norway. PwC is a member of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (Nw.: Den 

Norske Revisorforeningen). PwC has been the Company's auditor since 20 June 2022. Revisjon Ryfylke was the 

Company's independent auditor up until this point. The change of auditor was primarily due to Revisjon Ryfylke's 

own procedures, according to which it does not audit listed companies.  

The consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been audited 

by PwC and the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been audited 

by Revisjon Ryfylke, as set forth in their report included herein. 

PwC and Revisjon Ryfylke have not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information provided in 

this Prospectus. 

 Advisors 

Fearnley Securities AS (address: Dronning Eufemias gate 8, 0191 Oslo,Norway) acted as financial advisor and Listing 

Advisor in relation to the Merger and Listing. 

Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS (address: Ruseløkkveien 14-16, N-0251 Oslo, Norway) functions as the Company's 

Norwegian legal counsel in relation to the Merger and the Listing. 

In relation to the Listing, Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS (address: Ruseløkkveien 38, 0251 Oslo) and CMS Kluge 

Advokatfirma AS (address: Olav Kyrres Gate 21, 4005 Stavanger) has carried out a limited legal due diligence.  

 Documents on display 

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the Company's offices at Koppholen 25, 4313 

Sandnes, Norway, during normal business hours from Monday to Friday each week (except public holidays) for a 

period of twelve months from the date of this Prospectus: 

• the Company's certificate of incorporation and Articles of Association; 

• all reports, letters, and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements 

prepared by any expert at the Company's request any part of which is included or referred to in this 

Prospectus; and 

• this Prospectus.  

 

The documents are also available at the Company's website www.soiltech.no. The content of www.soiltech.no is not 

incorporated by reference into, or otherwise form part of, this Prospectus. 
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18 DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY  

The following definitions and glossary apply in this Prospectus unless otherwise dictated by the context, including 

the foregoing pages of this Prospectus: 

Table 49 – Definitions and glossary 

Defined terms Meanings 

2022 NGAAP Financial Statements 
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 
2022, in accordance with NGAAP. 

2021 NGAAP Financial Statements 
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 

2021, in accordance with NGAAP. 

Annual Financial Statements 
The IFRS Financial Statements, 2022 NGAAP Financial Statements and the 2021 NGAAP Financial 

Statements together. 

Articles of Association The articles of association of the Company 

Board Members or Board of Directors  The members of the board of directors of the Company 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

Companies Act Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act of 1997 No. 45 

Company or Soiltech Soiltech ASA 

COO Chief operating officer 

Corporate Governance Code Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, dated 14 October 2021 

CTT The Group's Cuttings Treatment Technology 

EEA The European Economic Area 

ESMA The European Securities and Markets Authority 

EU The European Union 

EU Prospectus Regulation 

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the 

prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a 

regulated market, and as implemented in Norway in accordance with Section 7-1 of the Norwegian 

Securities Trading Act 

EUR 
The single currency of the participating member states in the EU participating in the European 

Monetary Union having adopted euro as its lawful currency 

Euronext Expand A stock exchange operated by Euronext Oslo Børs 

Euronext NOTC An unregulated over-the-counter marketplace for unlisted shares operated by Oslo Børs ASA 

Excess Allowance 
Any part of the calculated tax-free allowance one year that exceeds the dividend distributed on a 

Share 

Forward-looking statements 
All statements other than historic facts or present facts, typically indicated by words such as 
"believe," "may," "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate," "intend," "expect," and similar 

Financial Statements The Annual Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements 

GDPR The General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 

GoM US Gulf of Mexico 

Group The Company together with its consolidated subsidiaries 

IAS34 International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting", as adopted by the EU 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU 

IFRS Financial Statements 
The Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 

2023, in accordance with IFRS. 

Interim Financial Statements 
The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six-month period ended 30 June 2024 with 
comparative figures for the same period in 2023, prepared in accordance with IAS 34 

ISIN Securities number with the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS) 
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Listing Listing of the Company's Shares on Oslo Børs 

Listing Advisor Fearnley Securities AS 

Loan Facility The Group's loan facility with Rogaland Sparebank 

Merger 
The staturory merger with Oceanteam ASA in accordance with the provisions set out in chapter 13 

of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act 

NGAAP Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

NOK Norwegian Kroner, the lawful currency of Norway 

Non-resident or foreign shareholders Shareholders who are not resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Non-Norwegian Corporate 

Shareholders 

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) not resident in Norway 

for tax purposes 

Non-Norwegian Personal 

Shareholders 
Shareholders who are natural persons not resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 
Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) resident in Norway for 

tax purposes 

Norwegian FSA Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet) 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders Shareholders who are natural persons resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act 
Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no. 45 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75, as amended 

Oceanteam Oceanteam ASA 

Oslo Børs  Oslo Børs ASA 

P&A Plug & abandonment  

PPE Personal protective equipment  

Ppm Parts per million 

Prospectus This Prospectus dated 10 September 2024 

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 

Resident or Norwegian shareholders Shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Revisjon Ryfylke Revisjon Ryfylke AS 

Share(s) The Company's outstanding shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.13 

Sorbwater Sorbwater Technology AS 

Schjødt Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS 

SG&A Selling, general and administrative expenses 

STT Slop Treatment Technology® 

U.S. or United States The United States of America 

USD United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States 

VPS The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Nw: Verdipapirsentralen) 

VPS Registrar DNB Markets, a part of DNB Bank ASA 
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APPENDIX A: 

Articles of Association 
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  UNOFFICIAL OFFICE TRANSLATION – IN CASE OF 

DISCREPANCY THE NORWEGIAN VERSION SHALL PREVAIL: 

VEDTEKTER FOR  

SOILTECH ASA 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION FOR  

SOILTECH ASA 

Org.nr. 996 819 884 Reg.no. 996 819 884 

(Vedtatt i generalforsamling den 28. august 2024) (Resolved in the general meeting held 28 August 2024) 

§ 1 Selskapets foretaksnavn § 1 Company name 

 Selskapets foretaksnavn er Soiltech ASA. 

Selskapet er et allmennaksjeselskap. 

 The Company’s name is Soiltech ASA. The 

Company is a public limited liability company. 

§ 2 Forretningskommune § 2 Place of business 

 Selskapets forretningskommune er i Sandnes.   The Company’s place of business is in the 

Sandnes municipality. 

§ 3 Selskapets virksomhet § 3 The Company’s business 

 Selskapets virksomhet er leveranse av 

cleantech løsninger for behandling, 

resirkulering og ansvarlig håndtering av 

forurenset vann og industriavfall. 

 The Company’s business is provision of 

cleantech solutions for treating, recycling and to 

responsibly handle contaminated water and 

industrial waste streams. 

§ 4 Selskapets aksjekapital § 4 The Company’s share capital 

 Selskapets aksjekapital er NOK 1 031 339,01, 

fordelt på 7 933 377 aksjer hver pålydende 

NOK 0,13. 

 The Company's share capital is 

NOK 1,031,339.01, divided into 7,933,377 

shares each with a par value of NOK 0.13. 

§ 5 Aksjenes omsettelighet § 5 Trading in the Company’s shares 

 Aksjene i selskapet er fritt omsettelige.   The shares of the Company are freely tradeable. 

§ 6 Generalforsamling § 6 General meeting 

 På den ordinære generalforsamling skal 

følgende saker behandles: 

1. Godkjennelse av årsregnskapet og 
årsberetningen, herunder utdeling av 
utbytte. 

2. Valg av styremedlemmer og revisor 

(dersom disse er på valg). 

3. Andre saker som etter loven eller 
vedtektene hører under 
generalforsamlingen. 

 The annual general meeting shall deal with the 

following matters: 

1. Approval of the annual accounts and 

report of the board of directors, including 

distribution of dividend. 

2. Election of board members and auditors 

(if these are to be elected). 

3. Any other matters which shall be dealt 

with according to law or the articles of 

association. 

 Når dokumenter som gjelder saker skal 

behandles på generalforsamlingen er gjort 

tilgjengelige for aksjeeierne på selskapets 

internettsider gjelder ikke allmennaksjelovens 

 When documents regarding matters which are to 

be dealt with at the general meeting have been 

made available on the internet site of the 

Company, the requirements in the Norwegian 



 

13132089.2 

krav om at dokumentene skal sendes til 

aksjeeierne. Dette gjelder også dokumenter 

som etter lov skal inntas i eller vedlegges 

innkallingen til generalforsamlingen. 

Public Limited Liability Companies Act which 

state that these documents shall be sent to the 

shareholders, shall not apply. This exemption is 

also applicable with regards to documents which 

according to statutory law shall be included in or 

attached to the notice of the general meeting. 

 Styret kan beslutte at aksjeeiere kan avgi 

skriftlig forhåndsstemme i saker som skal 

behandles på generalforsamlinger i selskapet. 

Slike stemmer kan også avgis ved elektronisk 

kommunikasjon. Adgangen til å avgi 

forhåndsstemme er betinget av at det foreligger 

en betryggende metode for autentisering av 

avsender. Styret avgjør om det foreligger en 

slik metode i forkant av den enkelte 

generalforsamling. Styret kan fastsette 

nærmere retningslinjer for skriftlige 

forhåndsstemmer. Det skal fremgå av 

innkallingen til generalforsamlingen om det er 

gitt adgang til forhåndsstemming og hvilke 

retningslinjer som eventuelt er fastsatt for slik 

stemmegivning. 

 The board may decide that shareholders may 

cast written votes in advance on matters that are 

to be considered at general meetings of the 

company. Such votes may also be cast by use of 

electronic communication. The possibility to vote 

in advance is conditional upon a satisfactory 

method for authenticating each user being 

available. The board decides whether such a 

method is available in advance of each general 

meeting. The board may determine further 

guidelines for voting in advance. The notice for 

the general meeting shall state whether it is 

permitted to vote in advance and the guidelines, 

if any, that apply to such voting. 

§ 7 Elektronisk kommunikasjon § 7 Electronic communication 

 Selskapet kan bruke elektronisk 

kommunikasjon når det skal gi meldinger, 

varsler, informasjon, dokumenter, 

underretninger ol. etter allmennaksjeloven til 

aksjeeierne. 

 The Company may utilize electronic 

communication when it is to provide messages, 

notices, information, documents etc. pursuant to 

the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 

Companies Act to the shareholders. 

§ 8 Registrering i Verdipapirsentralen (VPS) § 8 Registration in the Central Securities 
Depository 

 Selskapets aksjer skal være registrert i 
Verdipapirsentralen (VPS). 

 The Company’s shares shall be registered in the 

Central Securities Depository 

(Verdipapirsentralen). 

§ 9 Styre § 9 Board of directors 

 Selskapets styre skal bestå av fra 3 til 7 
medlemmer. 

 The company's board of directors shall consist of 

from 3 to 7 members. 

§ 10 Nominasjonskomité § 10 Nomination committee 

 Selskapet skal ha en nominasjonskomité som 
skal bestå av mellom to og fire medlemmer. 

 The company shall have a nomination committee 

which shall consist of between two and four 

members. 



 

13132089.2 

 Nominasjonskomitéen fremmer forslag til 
generalforsamlingen om (i) valg av styrets 
leder, styremedlemmer og eventuelle 
varamedlemmer, og (ii) valg av medlemmer til 
nominasjonskomitéen. Nominasjonskomitéen 
fremmer videre forslag til generalforsamlingen 
om honorar til styret og nominasjonskomitéen, 
som fastsettes av generalforsamlingen. 
Generalforsamlingen skal fastsette instruks for 
nominasjonskomitéen. 

 The nomination committee shall present 

proposals to the general meeting regarding (i) 

election of the chair of the board, board members 

and any deputy members, and (ii) election of 

members of the nomination committee. The 

nomination committee shall also present 

proposals to the general meeting for 

remuneration of the board and the nomination 

committee, which is to be determined by the 

general meeting. The general meeting shall 

adopt instructions for the nomination committee. 
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APPENDIX B: 

The Company's unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the six-month period ended 

30 June 2024 with comparative figures for the same period in 2023 (IAS 34) 
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 “Soiltech continue to gain market shares, both 
in Norway and internationally. The market’s 
response to our technology offering has been 
fantastic. This is all due to our innovative 
approach and the expertise and service 
attitude of the Soiltech team.” 

Jan Erik Tveteraas, Soiltech CEO  

 

           
       

        
       
      

      

       



REPORT SECOND QUARTER 2024 - SOILTECH    

Page | 1  
 

SECOND QUARTER 2024 

(Numbers in brackets refer to corresponding period in 2023) 

Soiltech had record high revenue in the second 
quarter with revenues amounting to MNOK 
69.7. Adjusted EBITDA was MNOK 14.2 
whereas profit before tax came to MNOK 2.7.  

The high activity was due to an increased 
demand for Soiltech’s sustainable waste 
treatment and recycling services across our 
technology portfolio, as the decarbonization of 
the energy sector continue to gain momentum 
and discharge regulations are tightening.   

The revenues in the first six months of 2024 
amounted to MOK 125.7 (MNOK 104.9), 
adjusted EBITDA came to MNOK 24 (MNOK 
21.9) whereas profit before tax came to MNOK 
5.8 (MNOK 9.3).   
 
KEY POINTS 
• Record high revenue for a quarter 
• Several new contracts signed 
• Full commercial uptime across all 

operations  
• Start-up of some projects delayed due to 

reasons on the client’s side 
• Merger between Soiltech and Oceanteam 

approved by the general meetings  
 

NEW CONTRACTS  
• Contract with Petrogas E&P for treatment 

of contaminated water (STT) on Noble 
Resolute in the Netherlands with startup 
in Q2 2024 

• Contract with Equinor for treatment of 
contaminated water (STT) on the FSU 
Njord Bravo in Norway, with expected 
startup in Q3 2024 

• Contract with Tullow Oil for treatment of 
contaminated water (STT) on Island 
Innovator offshore Mauritania, with 
expected startup in Q3 2024 

• Contract with Odfjell Drilling for 
treatment of contaminated water (STT) on 
Deepsea Stavanger in Norway, with 
startup in Q2 2024 

 
Post quarter contract awards 
• Contract with Transocean for treatment of 

contaminated water on Transocean 
Enabler in Norway, with startup in Q3 
2024. This is a substantial contract 

• Contract with COSL Drilling for treating 
contaminated water on COSL Promoter in 
Norway, with startup in Q3 2024. This is a 
substantial contract  

 
Contract sizes 
As from July 2024, Soiltech defines contract 
awards according to size. A sizable contract has 
an estimated value of NOK 3 – 10 million, a 
substantial contract has an estimated value of 
NOK 10 – 25 million, and a large contract has 
an estimated value above NOK 25 million 
 
MERGER WITH OCEANTEAM AND UPLISTING 
The merger plan between Soiltech AS and 
Oceanteam ASA was approved by the general 
meetings of the companies on 4th of July 2024. 
Completion of the merger remains conditional 
upon a six-week creditor period.  
 
Subject to an approved listing application by 
Oslo Børs, it is anticipated that Soiltech ASA 
will be listed and commence trading on 
Euronext Oslo Børs or Euronext Expand around 
the end of third quarter 2024. Until then, 
Soiltech and Oceanteam will trade as normal 
on the NOTC list and Euronext Oslo Børs, 
respectively. 
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RESULTS 
In Q2 2024, Soiltech’s revenues reached MNOK 
69.7, an increase from MNOK 64.5 in the same 
period last year. This increase is mainly due to 
a new contract for onshore treatment of 
waste. Adjusted EBITDA was MNOK 14.2 
(MNOK 14.0), with an Adjusted EBITDA margin 
of 20%. Profit before tax amounted to MNOK 
2.7 (MNOK 7.7). The decrease is mainly due to 
increased interest cost and cost related to the 
IPO process. 
 
For the first six months of 2024, Soiltech’s 
revenues amounted to MOK 125.7 (MNOK 
104.9), whereas Adjusted EBITDA was MNOK 
24.0 (MNOK 21.9), and profit before tax came 
to MNOK 5.8 (MNOK 9.3).   
Of the total revenues, Treatment of 
contaminated water amounted to 61% (71%), 
Cuttings handling 24% (16%), Cleaning services 
10% (7%) and Associated services 5% (5%). 
Norway stood for 73% (77%) of the revenues 
and international 27% (23%). 
 
OPERATIONS 
Soiltech’s activity during the quarter was high. 
Start-up of some projects has been delayed 
due to reasons on the client’s side. In the 
quarter, Soiltech had operations in Norway, 
UK, the Netherlands, and Denmark. We 
achieved 100% commercial uptime across all 
projects, with no incidents or spills. 

 
INVESTMENTS AND FINANCING 
In the second quarter, the loan facility with 
Sandnes Sparebank was increased by NOK 30 
million, to finance investments in new 
equipment. As of 30 June 2024, Soiltech’s net-
interest bearing debt amounted to MNOK 
166.5, reflecting an increase from MNOK 111.2 
as of year-end 2023.  
 
As of 30 June 2024, the cash flow from 
operating activities reached MOK 7.2, while 

cash flow from investing activities was MNOK   
-27.5, due to our capacity expansion initiatives.  

Following a net contribution of MNOK 19.0 
from financing activities, the net cash flow for 
the quarter stood at MNOK -1.3. The cash 
position on June 30, 2024, was MNOK 25.5. 
The book equity ratio was 43%. 

 
OUTLOOK 
The demand for sustainable waste 
management services continue to grow, both 
in Norway and internationally. Soiltech is well 
positioned to increase our market shares, 
across the full technology portfolio. 

The Board emphasizes that any forward-
looking statements contained in this report 
could depend on factors beyond its control and 
are subject to risks and uncertainties. 
Accordingly, actual results may differ 
materially. 

 
ABOUT SOILTECH 
Soiltech is an innovative technology company 
specializing in the treatment, recycling and 
sustainable handling of contaminated water 
and solid waste at site. Our technologies 
enable cost savings and lower CO2 emissions 
through waste reduction, waste recovery and 
reuse. The Company operates world-wide, with 
its head-office at Forus in Sandnes, Norway.  

Learn more: www.soiltech.no 

 

 
Sandnes, 13 August 2024 
 
Soiltech AS 
 
The Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.soiltech.no/
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KEY FIGURES 
 

 
 
*Adjustments are non-cash cost related to share incentive scheme and other non-recurring costs. 
 
Information on Alternative Performance measures (APM) can be found in appendix at the end of the report. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INCOME STATEMENT
(NOK 1,000)
Revenues 69 688              64 470                125 715           104 887               
Operating cost (43 460)           (39 475)             (77 507)           (62 380)              
Gross profit 26 228              24 995                48 208             42 506                 
Gross profit margin 38 % 39 % 38 % 41 %
SG&A (12 051)           (10 955)             (24 163)           (20 625)              
Adjusted EBITDA 14 177              14 040                24 045             21 882                 
Adjusted EBITDA margin 20 % 22 % 19 % 21 %
Adjustments* (2 138)             31                       (2 628)             (1 096)                
EBITDA 12 039              14 072                21 417             20 786                 
Depreciation (5 265)             (4 662)               (9 936)             (8 744)                
Operating profit 6 774                9 409                  11 481             12 042                 
Operating profit margin 10 % 15 % 9 % 11 %
Net financial items (4 060)             (1 752)               (5 688)             (2 783)                
Profit before tax 2 713                7 657                  5 794               9 260                   
Profit before tax margin 4 % 12 % 5 % 9 %

Q2 2024 Q2 2023 YTD 2024 YTD 2023

BALANCE SHEET
(NOK 1,000)
Total assets 411 914           350 681               
Total equity 175 890           170 565               
Equity ratio % 43 % 49 %

30.06.2024 31.12.2023

Cash flow
(NOK 1,000)
Profit before tax 5 794               9 260                   
Net cashflow from operating activities 7 221               5 128                   
Net cashflow from investing activities (27 508)           (28 754)              
Net cashflow from financing activities 18 981             204                      

Total net cash flow -1 306              -23 422                
Cash at beginning of period 26 783             38 832                 
Cash at end of period 30.06 25 477             15 410                 

YTD 2024 YTD 2023
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Quarterly revenue 2022 – Q2 2024 (MNOK) 
 

 
 
 
Quarterly Adjusted EBITDA 2022 – Q2 2024 (MNOK) 
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Condensed consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Profit or loss Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(amounts in NOK 1000) Note 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue 3 69 667         64 149             125 662          104 524          
Other operating income 3 21                 321                  53                    363                  

Total operating income 3 69 688         64 470             125 715          104 887          

Cost of materials (14 648)      (16 324)          (20 314)          (23 780)         
Personnel expenses (33 136)      (27 830)          (66 558)          (49 853)         
Depreciation and amortisation (5 265)        (4 663)            (9 936)            (8 744)            
Other operating expenses (9 865)        (6 250)            (17 426)          (10 473)         

Total operating expenses (62 914)      (55 067)          (114 233)        (92 850)         

Operating profit 6 774           9 403               11 482             12 037            

Net foreign exchange gains (losses) (423)            138                  772                  946                  
Financial income 17                 112                  -                       262                  
Financial expenses (3 655)        (1 998)            (6 460)            (3 985)            

Net financial items (4 061)        (1 748)            (5 688)            (2 777)            

Profit before tax 2 713           7 655               5 794               9 260              

Income tax expense 4 (326)            (2 037)            (1 058)            (2 037)            

Profit for the period 2 388           5 618               4 735               7 222              

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences -                    -                       -                       -                       
Income tax relating to these items -                    -                       -                       -                       
Net other comprehensive income -                    -                       -                       -                       

Total comprehensive income for the period 2 388           5 618               4 735               7 222              

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:

Owners of Soiltech AS 2 388           5 618               4 735               7 222              

TRANSFERS

Transfers to other equity 2 388           5 618               4 735               7 222              

Total allocations 2 388           5 618               4 735               7 222              

Earnings per share (NOK)

Basic earnings per share 9                  0.32             0.76                0.64                0.98                
Diluted earnings per share 9                  0.31             0.71                0.61                0.91                
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (UNAUDITED) 
 
 

 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000)

ASSETS Note 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assets 4 10 325 10 403
Intangible assets 2 412 1 811
Property, plant & equipment 199 880 181 117
Right-of-use assets 98 431 71 140
Investments in subsidiaries 0 0
Other non-current assets 797 762

Total non-current assets 311 844 265 234

Current assets
Inventories 159 159
Trade receivables 6 56 764 44 195
Cash and cash equivalents 5 25 477 26 783
Other current assets 17 670 14 310

Total current assets 100 070 85 447

TOTAL ASSETS 411 914 350 681

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Equity
Share capital 741 741
Other paid-in equity 83 948 83 948
Other reserves 2 416 1 826
Retained earnings 88 786 84 050

Total equity 175 890 170 565

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 5,6 94 822 68 913
Lease liabilities 7,8 61 168 41 847
Other non-current liabilities 616 669

Total non-current liabilities 156 606 111 429

Current liabilities
Trade payables 7 20 271 13 153
Borrowings 5,6 23 298 16 860
Lease liabilities 7,8 12 676 10 409
Tax payable 4 0 0
Other current liabilities 7 23 172 28 265

Total current liabilities 79 417 68 687

Total liabilities 236 023 180 116

Total equity and liabilities 411 914 350 681



REPORT SECOND QUARTER 2024 - SOILTECH    

Page | 8  
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (UNAUDITED) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000) YTD YTD
Note 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 5 794           9 260        
Income taxes paid 4 (980)            -                
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 9 936           8 744        
Interest expense 5 5 883           3 013        
Changes in trade receivables, contract 
assets/liabilities (12 725)       (15 872)    
Changes in trade payables 13 203         6 523        
Changes in other accruals and prepayments (13 889)       (6 540)      

Net cash flow from operating activities 7 221           5 128        

Cash flows from investment activities
Purchase of property, plant & equipment & 
Intangible assets (27 508)       (28 754)    

Net cash flow from investment activities (27 508)       (28 754)    

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new borrowings 39 700         15 200      
Repayments on borrowings 5 (8 105)         (6 649)      
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 5 (7 487)         (5 306)      
Interest paid 5 (5 131)         (3 041)      
Net cash flow from financing activities 18 981         204           

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE PERIOD (1 306)         (23 422)    

Cash and cash equivalent 01.01 26 783         38 832      

Cash and Cash equivalents 25 477         15 410      
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Share 
capital

Other paid-
in equity

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

2024
Balance at 31 December 2023 741 83 948 1 826 84 051 170 566
Balance at 31 December 2023 741 83 948 1 826 84 051 170 566

Profit for the period 0 0 0 4 735 4 735
Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 4 735 4 735

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment 0 0 590 0 590
Balance at 30 June 2024 741 83 948 2 416 88 785 175 890

2023
Balance at 31 December 2022 741 83 948 1 132 56 631 142 451
Balance at 1 January 2023 741 83 948 1 132 56 631 142 451

Profit for the period 0 0 0 7 222 7 222
Total comprehensive income 0 0 0 7 222 7 222

Transactions with owners
Share-based payment 0 0 176 0 176
Balance at 30 June 2023 741 83 948 1 308 63 853 149 850
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Notes to the Consolidated interim financial statements 

Note 1 – General information 

Soiltech AS (the 'Company') is a limited company domiciled in Norway. The registered office of the 
Company is Koppholen 25, 4313, Sandnes, Norway. 

The Company is an innovative technology company specializing in the treatment, recycling and 
sustainable handling of contaminated water and solid industrial waste streams on site. The Company 
is listed on the NOTC in Oslo with ticker code 'SOIL'. The consolidated financial statements comprise 
the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 'Group' or 
'Soiltech'). 

The interim consolidated financial statements have not been subject to external audit. 

Note 2 – Summary of general accounting policies 

The Group has applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation in its interim 
consolidated financial statements as in its 2023 annual financial statements. Specific accounting 
policies related to the individual areas in the interim consolidated financial statements are described 
in the relevant notes. 

Basis for preparation 

These interim consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 34 Interim 
Financial Reporting. They were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 13 August 2024. 
They do not include all disclosures that would otherwise be required in a complete set of financial 
statements and should be read in conjunction with the 2023 IFRS financial statement issued by the 
company on the 15 of March 2024. 

The interim consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK) and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. As a result of rounding adjustments, 
amounts and percentages may not add up to the total. 

Accounting estimates and judgements 

Items in the financial statements are to a varying degree affected by estimates and assumptions 
made by management, reference is made to the relevant notes for the affected items. 

Estimates with a material impact on the interim financial statements, combined with a significant 
estimation uncertainty, consists of recognition of deferred tax asset (note 4) 
 

Segment information  

Given the uniform nature of the Group's services and the centralized management from its head 
office in Norway, the entire Group is considered as a single operating segment for internal reporting 
purposes. 
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New and amended IFRS standards 

Of new standards and interpretations that are not mandatory for the current reporting period, none 
are expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and 
on foreseeable future transactions. 

Share - based payments transactions 

There were allocated 165 000 new share options to key employee and board member. 

Per 30.06.2024, there were 1 434 700 options outstanding. 

Note 3 – Revenues 

Revenues by product category 

 

Revenues by geography 

 

 

Revenues from major customers 

 

 

 

 

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(amounts in NOK 1000) 2024 2023 2024 2023

42 469 44 281 76 137 74 629
Cuttings handling 17 351 10 103 29 748 14 950
Cleaning services 6 924 1 429 12 626 2 386
Associated services 2 943 8 657 7 205 12 922

69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887

Treatment of contaminated water

Total

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(amounts in NOK 1000) 2024 2023 2024 2023

56 050 49 100 91 275 80 944
Europe (Excl. Norway) 13 298 12 094 33 671 19 193
Rest of the world 340 3 276 769 4 750

69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887

Norway

Total

YTD YTD
(amounts in NOK 1000) 2024 2023

35 457 32 688
Customer 2 18 261 21 069

14 367 12 177
Customer 4 12 674 9 480
Customer 5 10 839 8 285

91 599 83 699
Other (less than 10% each) 34 116 21 188

125 715 104 887

Customer 1

Customer 3

Total from major customers

Total



REPORT SECOND QUARTER 2024 - SOILTECH    

Page | 12  
 

Note 4 – Income tax 
Accounting policies 

The Group consists of companies subject to ordinary corporate taxation in Norway, and within the 
same tax group with respect to offsetting of deferred tax. Income tax is therefore recognized on the 
basis of a general application of IAS 12 without the need for further judgments or policies of 
significance. 

Basis for recognition of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that the company will have a sufficient profit 
for tax purposes in subsequent periods to utilize the tax asset. The Group recognize previously 
unrecognized deferred tax assets to the extent it has become probable that the Group can utilize the 
deferred tax asset. Similarly, the Group will reduce a deferred tax asset to the extent that the Group 
no longer regards it as probable that it can utilize the deferred tax asset. Deferred tax and deferred 
tax assets are measured on the basis of the expected future tax rates applicable to the companies in 
the Group where temporary differences have arisen based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax and deferred tax 
assets are recognized at their nominal value and classified as non-current asset (non-current 
liabilities) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Basis for tax expense in interim periods  
Due to materiality tax expense in interim periods is measured by multiplying profit before tax by 
nominal tax rate of 22%. A difference between the estimated tax cost for 2023 and tax returns of 
TNOK 216 is recognized as part of the 1H 2024 tax expense.  
 
Note 5 – Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mostly ordinary bank deposits. The statement of cash flows is 
prepared using the indirect method. Interest income and expenses are presented as investing and 
financing activities, respectively. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Restricted cash
(amounts in NOK 1000) 30.06.2024 31.12.2023

1 904 3 520Payroll withholding tax account
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Reconciliation of cash flows from financing activities  
 

 

Note 6 – Borrowings 

Accounting policies 
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable to 
the transaction, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. There has not been any material 
transaction cost during the year.  
 
Covenants  
The loan facility with Sandnes Sparebank entered in 2023 has the following covenants: 
-Net-interest bearing debt (NIBD)/Earnings before interest taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) 12 month rolling < 4 
-Book equity > 30% 
-Approval from bank if dividend/group contribution 
 
The company is not in breach with any of the covenants above.  
 
Specification of borrowings – 30.06.2024 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000) Lease liabilities Borrowings Total
52 256                    85 773                    138 029                  

Cash flows
39 700                    39 700                    

Repayment of principal borrowings (8 105)                   (8 105)                   
(7 487)                   (7 487)                   

Interest paid (2 164)                   (2 967)                   (5 131)                   
Interest expenses 2 164                      3 719                      5 883                      

29 075                    -                              29 075                    
73 844                    118 120                  191 964                  

Non-current 61 168                    94 822                    
12 676                    23 298                    

Repayment of principal portion of lease liability

Carrying amount 31.12.2023

Proceeds from new borrowings

Additions lease
Carrying amount 30.06.2024

Current

(amounts in NOK 1000)

Nominal interest 
rate

Nominal amount Capitalized 
financing fees

Carrying amount

Innovasjon Norge 7,7% 2 583 0 2 583
3 m.Nibor+2.5% 115 537 0 115 537

Carrying amount as per 30.06.2024 118 120 118 120
94 822

Current borrowings 23 298

Sandnes Sparebank

Non-current borrowings
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Specification of borrowings – 31.12.2023 
 

 
 
Contractual payments on borrowings – 30.06.2024 

 
 
Contractual payments on borrowings – 31.12.2023 

 
 
For loans with floating interest rates, the amounts above are calculated using the current interest 
rate per the relevant year end. 
 
Carrying amount of assets pledged as security 
 

 

Note 7 – Financial assets and liabilities 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000)

Nominal interest 
rate

Nominal amount Capitalized 
financing fees

Carrying amount

Innovasjon Norge 7,7% 3 875 0 3 875
3 m.Nibor+2.5% 81 898 0 81 898

Carrying amount as per 31.12.2023 85 773 0 85 773
68 913

Current borrowings 16 860

Sandnes Sparebank

Non-current borrowings

(amounts in NOK 1000)

Next year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 
years

Innovasjon Norge 2 763 0 0 0
26 211 24 833 66 235 20 568

Total 28 974 24 833 66 235 20 568
Sandnes Sparebank

(amounts in NOK 1000)
Next year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 

years
Innovasjon Norge 2 813 1 330 0 0

18 580 17 612 47 024 14 453
Total 21 393 18 942 47 024 14 453
Sandnes Sparebank

(amounts in NOK 1000) 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Property, plant & equipment 199 880 180 954

56 764 44 171
Total 256 644 225 124
Trade receivables

(amounts in NOK 1000) 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade receivables 56 764 44 195
Other assets 17 670 14 310
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents 25 477 26 783
Carrying amount as at 30.06 99 911 85 288



REPORT SECOND QUARTER 2024 - SOILTECH    

Page | 15  
 

 
Financial liabilities per category 

 

 
Fair value 
For items measured at amortized cost, carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation to fair value. 
 
Note 8 – Financial risk and capital management 
 
The Group’s policies for management of capital and financial risk aim to support the current strategy 
and target of maintaining a high rate of growth and developing prospective business opportunities. 
The Group’s capital structure shall be robust enough to maintain the desired freedom of action and 
utilize growth opportunities, based on strict assessments relating to the allocation of capital. The 
Group debt financing consist of bank and leasing financing. The loan covenants to which the Group is 
subject play a key role in how capital is managed and allocated, to maintain a low financing risk and 
financial flexibility. See note 6 borrowings for further details on the Group’s financing. 

Market risk 
The Group's exposure to financial market risk is mainly related to interest rates on external financing 
and various forms of currency risks. The Group has a diversified client list and evaluates changes in 
pricing structure contract by contract, as part of its mitigation process to cover for increased interest 
cost. The Group has not entered into any interest swap agreements. 
 
Currency risk  
The Group has Norwegian kroner (NOK) as its base currency. However, through its operations 
outside Norway, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in certain exchange rates, mainly Euro (EUR), 
British Pound (GBP) and American dollar (USD). The Group also has currency risks linked to both 
balance sheet monetary items and investments in foreign countries.  
 
Interest rate risk  
The Company loan and leasing agreements have floating interest rates based on NIBOR according to 
the financial strategy, see Note 6 borrowings, and is thereby influenced by changes in the interest 
market. A change of increase of 1 percentage point in NIBOR means a change in yearly net interest 
expenses of approximately MNOK 1.7. 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000)

Current Non-current Current Non-current
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings 23 298 94 822 16 860 68 913
Lease liabilities 12 676 61 168 10 409 41 847
Trade payables 20 271 13 153 0
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Currency forward contracts 2 810 0 3 672 0
Carrying amount as at 30.06 59 055 155 990 44 094 110 760

31.12.202330.06.2024
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Credit risk 
Assets that may give rise to credit risk comprise mainly trade receivables and bank deposits. For the 
latter, the counterparties are mainly banks established in the Nordic countries, which indicates that 
the credit risk should be regarded as negligible. Trade receivables are characterized by a 
concentration in the customer base, in terms of country and industry. The customers, however, are 
primarily large companies with high credit ratings, and the agreed payment terms in the contracts 
typically ensure that any overdue amounts are kept at low level. Thus, credit losses have historically 
been insignificant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
As at year-end, the Group's portfolio of loans and loan facilities is well diversified both with regards 
to maturity profile and lenders. In June 2024 the Company entered a 7-year loan facility of MNOK 30 
with Sandnes Sparebank. Together with existing loan facility of MNOK 148 with Sandnes Sparebank,   
the facilities total MNOK 178.  
The unused portion of the credit facilities was MNOK 45.6 as at 30.06.2024. 
 
Summary of contractual maturities 30.06.2024 
 

 

Note 9 – Earnings per share 
 

 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000)
Next year 1-2 years 2-5 years More than 5 

years
18 067 18 050 36 861 23 478

Borrowings 28 974 24 833 66 235 20 568
20 271 0 0 0

Total non-derivative 67 311 42 884 103 096 44 046
Currency forward contracts 2 810 0 0 0
Total derivative 2 810 0 0 0

70 121 42 884 103 096 44 046

Trade payables

Total

Lease liabilities

Earnings per share Q2 Q2 YTD YTD 
(amounts in NOK 1000) 2024 2023 2024 2023

0.32                       0.76                       0.64                       0.98                       
Diluted earnings per share 0.31                       0.71                       0.61                       0.91                       

Earnings
(amounts in NOK 1000)

2 388 5 618 4 735                     7 222

Shares used as the denominator
(amounts in 1000)

7 405                     7 405                     7 405                     7 405

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share
353                        544                        353                        544                        

Weighted average number of 
shares and potential shares 7 758                     7 949                     7 758                     7 949

Options

Basic earnings per share

Profit (loss) for the period

Weighted average number of shares
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Note 10 – Share capital and shareholder information 
 
Share capital and ownership structure 
The share capital of the parent company, Soiltech AS, amounts to NOK 740 543 as of 30 June 2024, 
and consists of a total of 7,405,430 ordinary shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.1. 
 
 
Shareholders as of 30.06.2024 

 
 
 
Note 11 – Events after the reporting period 
 
After the balance sheet date there are only events in the ordinary course of business and no events 
of an adjusting or non-adjusting nature.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shareholders Number of shares
Ownership 

interest
Hildr AS 798 650 10.8%
Wellex AS by Glenn Åsland 745 930 10.1%
Knatten I AS by Jan Erik Tveteraas 700 325 9.5%
Carnegie Investment Bank AB 560 980 7.6%
SKAGENKAIEN INVESTERING AS 541 380 7.3%
TVETERAAS INVEST AS 521 710 7.0%
DNB BANK ASA 345 790 4.7%
PIMA AS 202 830 2.7%
HAVNEBASE EIENDOM AS 193 470 2.6%
FEARNLEY SECURITIES AS 192 000 2.6%
PARETO SECURITIES ASA 184 820 2.5%
Banque Pictet & Cie SA 181 000 2.4%
BNP Paribas 176 000 2.4%
Carnegie Investment Bank AB 164 000 2.2%
ZETLITZ CAPITAL AS 102 030 1.4%
TUCAN HOLDING AS 100 560 1.4%
CAMPO EIENDOM AS 83 000 1.1%
KRISTIANRO AS 82 000 1.1%
FORTE TRØNDER 79 800 1.1%
RYDER 78 000 1.1%
Top 20 shareholders 6 034 275 80 %
Other 1 371 155 20 %
Total 7 405 430 100 %
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Alternative Performance Measures 
 
The Group presents certain alternative measures of financial performance, financial position and 
cash flows that are not defined or specified in IFRS Accounting Standards. The Group considers these 
measures to provide valuable supplementary information for Management, Board of Directors and 
investors, as they provide useful additional information regarding the Group's financial performance 
and position. As not all companies define and calculate these measures in the same way, they are not 
always directly comparable with those used by other companies. These measures should not be 
regarded as replacing measures that are defined or specified in IFRS Accounting Standards but should 
be considered as supplemental financial information. In this Prospectus, the Alternative Performance 
Measures used by the Group are defined, explained and reconciled to the most directly reconcilable 
line item, subtotal or total presented in the financial statements of the corresponding period. 
 
The APMs used by the Group are set out below: 
 
Operating cost 
 
Operating cost is defined as the total of cost of materials, personnel expenses and other operating 
expenses less expenses related to onshore personnel and other onshore operating expenses, share 
incentive program, severance payment, legal cost related to IPO and other items defined by the 
Management to not relate to offshore operations. Management defines that Operating cost 
illustrates the expenses directly related to offshore activities. This measure provides additional 
information for Management, Board of Directors and investors in order to evaluate underlying 
profitability of offshore operating activities and their ability to generate cash.  
 
SG&A  
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) is defined as the sum of Cost of materials, 
Personnel expenses and other operating expenses less operating costs (as defined above), share 
incentive program, severance payment, legal cost related to IPO and other items defined by 
management that impact comparability between periods. Management defines that SG&A illustrates 
the expenses directly related to onshore support activities. This measure provides additional 
information for management, board and investors, in order to evaluate underlying profitability and 
their ability to generate cash. 
 
Gross Profit and Gross profit margin 
 
Gross Profit is defined as total operating income less Operating cost (as defined above). Gross profit 
margin is defined as gross profit divided by total operating income. Gross profit and Gross profit 
margin provide additional information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to evaluate 
the underlying profitability generated from offshore operating activities. 
 
EBITDA and EBITDA margin 
 
EBITDA is defined as Operating profit before other gains, impairment, depreciation and amortization. 
EBITDA is defined as EBITDA divided by total operating income. These measures provide additional 
information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to evaluate underlying profitability of 
operating activities and their ability to generate cash before investments in fixed assets and service 
of debt.   
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin 
 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA (as defined above) adjusted for items affecting comparability 
such as expenses related to share incentive programs, severance payment, legal cost related to IPO 
and other items defined by Management that impact comparability. Adjusted EBITDA margin is 
defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by total operating income. These measures provide additional 
information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to evaluate underlying profitability of 
operating activities and their ability to generate cash before investments in fixed assets and service 
of debt.   
 
Net interest-bearing debt  
 
Net interest-bearing debt is defined as the total of non-current borrowings, non-current lease 
liabilities, current borrowings and current lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. This 
measure provides additional information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to assess 
the Group's financial indebtedness and as an input to assess its capacity to meet its financial 
commitments. 
 
Equity ratio 
 
Equity ratio is defined as total equity divided by total assets. This measure provides additional 
information for Management, Board of Directors and investors to assess the Group's financial 
position and capital structure. 
 
Reconciliation of the APMs 
 
Operating cost 

 
 
SG&A 

 
 

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of materials 14 648 16 324 20 314 23 780
Personnel expenses 33 136 27 830 66 558 49 853
Other operating expenses 9 865 6 250 17 426 10 473
Less: 
Onshore expenses 12 051 10 960 24 163 20 629
Share incentive program (1 380)       (31)             (1 340)       1 096          
Legal costs - IPO 3 518 0 3 968 0
Operating cost 43 460 39 475 77 507 62 380

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of materials 14 648 16 324 20 314 23 780
Personnel expenses 33 136 27 830 66 558 49 853
Other operating expenses 9 865 6 250 17 426 10 473
Less: 
Operating cost 43 460 39 475 77 507 62 380
Share incentive program (1 380)       (31)             (1 340)       1 096          
Legal cost IPO 3 518 0 3 968 0
SG&A 12 051 10 955 24 163 20 625
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Gross profit and Gross profit margin  

 
 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 

 
 
Net interest-bearing debt 
 

 
 
 
Equity ratio 
 

 
 
 
 

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 2024 2023 2024 2023
(a) Total operating income 69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887
Operating cost 43 460 39 475 77 507 62 380
(b) Gross profit 26 228 24 995 48 208 42 506
(b/a) Gross profit margin 38 % 39 % 38 % 41 %

Q2 Q2 YTD YTD
(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Operating profit 6 774 9 409 11 481 12 042
Depreciation and amortization 5 265 4 662 9 936 8 744
(a) EBITDA 12 039       14 072       21 417       20 786       
Adjusted for:
Share incentive program (1 380)       (31)             (1 340)       1 096          
Legal cost - IPO 3 518 0 3 968 0
(b) Adjusted EBITDA 14 177 14 040 24 045 21 882
(c) Total operating income 69 688 64 470 125 715 104 887
(a/c) EBITDA margin 17 % 22 % 17 % 20 %
(b/c) Adjusted EBITDA Margin 20 % 22 % 19 % 21 %

(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
Non-current Borrowings 94 822        68 913        
Non-current Lease liabilities 61 168        41 847        
Current Borrowings 23 298        16 860        
Current Lease liabilities 12 676        10 409        
Cash and cash equivalents (25 477)     (26 783)     
Net interest-bearing debt 166 487 111 246

(Amounts in NOK 1 000) 30.06.2024 31.12.2023
(a) Total equity 175 890 170 565
(b) Total assets 411 914 350 681
(a/b) Equity ratio 43 % 49 %
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The Company's audited consolidated financial statement for 2023 with comparative figures for the 

year 2022 (IFRS) 
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This is Soiltech 
 
Soiltech is an innovative technology company specializing in 
the treatment, recycling and responsible handling of 
contaminated water and solid industrial waste streams at 
site. Our technologies enable cost savings and lower CO2 
emissions through waste reduction, waste recovery and 
reuse. Soiltech operates world-wide, with its head office at 
Forus in Sandnes, Norway. 
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A Word from the CEO 

Soiltech is on a fantastic journey, and I am proud to 
be part of it.  We develop and operate innovative 
technologies needed for sustainable treatment, 
handling, treatment, and recycling of waste. Our 
solutions contribute to reduced carbon emissions - 
in a world with growing energy demands. 
 
We see an increased demand across our full 
technology portfolio, due to the dedicated Soiltech 
team and focus on delivering innovative solutions 
and strong operations. I am very pleased that we 
once again can deliver good safety results with no 
lost time incidents in 2023. We are getting great 
feedback from our clients when it comes to our 
operational performance, thanks to our committed 
personnel on location and onshore support team. 
This positive feedback is important for Soiltech as 
operational excellence is a key factor for our 
continued success. 
 
We reached a milestone in 2023 with revenues 
exceeding 200 million kroner for the first time. It 
took us ten years to get to the first 100 million and 
only two years to double that.  During last year, the 
number of employees increased from 72 to 125, 
addin
Fortunately, our recruitment campaigns attract huge 
interest from qualified personnel. We continue to 
focus on continuous improvement, with training, 

competence enhancement, and technology 
innovation as key areas.  
 
Our international operations are growing, while the 
North Sea market continue to be very strong for 
Soiltech. In 2023, international operations 
accounted for 27% of our revenues compared to 
16% in 2022. Going forward, I expect that our 
international activities will continue to increase, as 
we see tightening regulations for discharging water 
to sea and further demands for decarbonization. 

and effective technologies, and we will leverage off 
our strong position in the North Sea to gain market 
share globally. There are about 500 mobile rigs 
worldwide, constituting the market for Soiltech. We 
are currently on 25 of these rigs, so there is a big 
untapped potential. 
 
Financially, we are running a solid business. With 
growing investments in equipment and personnel, 
capital discipline and a good finance structure is 
important. I am glad to say that we feel strong 
support from our banks and owners, which have 
provided us with the required capital to finance our 
growth. At some point a listing of Soiltech on Oslo 
Stock Exchange will be a natural step in order to 
secure additional equity financing and provide a 
marketplace for trading of the Soiltech share. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Jan Erik Tveteraas, CEO 
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Board of Directors report 2023 

Nature of business and location 
Established in 2011, Soiltech is an innovative technology company specializing in the treatment, recycling and 
responsible handling of contaminated water and solid waste at site. Our technologies enable cost savings and 
lower CO2 emissions through waste reduction, waste recovery and reuse.  
 
Soiltech (the Group) consists of the Parent Company Soiltech AS (the Company) and the subsidiaries Soiltech 
Offshore Services AS and Sorbwater Technology AS.  
 
In 2023, the Group had operations in Norway, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Mexico, Colombia, 
Mauritania, Lebanon, Cyprus, Denmark and Abu Dhabi. The Groups
Norway. 
 
Highlights in 2023 

 January: Soiltech AS and Well Expertise AS entered into a frame agreement for the provision of drilling 
waste management on drilling projects managed by Well Expertise AS. The contract has a duration of 5 
years.   

 February: Soiltech was awarded a long-term frame contract with Equinor for the provision of offshore 
waste services. The contract was effective from end 2022. Including extension options the contract has a 
duration until 2034  

 February: Soiltech was awarded its first contract in Mexico for the treatment of contaminated water 
onboard a drilling vessel for a leading operator  

 May: Soiltech was awarded its first contract treating fluid from pipe cleaning on an oil refinery in Europe. 
It is a new and interesting application of our technologies which could have great potential. 

 June: Soiltech was awarded its first contract in Lebanon with Transocean for providing slop treatment and 
cuttings handling services onboard the semi-submersible rig Transocean Barents.  

 In addition, Soiltech secured several contract extensions   
 Significant investments were made throughout the year to build capacity for meeting the anticipated 

increase in drilling activity and demand for the  technologies 
 
 
Events after year-end  

 Contract with Equinor for cuttings handling services on Oseberg Sør, with estimated startup in Q1 2024. 
 Contract with Well Expertise for treating contaminated water (STT) on a mobile rig in the North Sea, with 

estimated startup in Q2 2024. 
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Financial performance and financing  
 

 
 
The Group  
As from 2023 the Group has changed its financial reporting from NGAAP to IFRS. The change has been 
implemented retrospectively using 01.01.2022 as the date of transition. The effects of the transition are limited 
and are not considered to have a material impact on the figures presented in the annual report, see note 26 in 
the consolidated financial statement. 
 
The activity has been high throughout the year and the success can be attributed to an increasing demand for the 
Group
their carbon emissions. The revenue growth year on year was 28.5%. The gross margin was 41% and EBITDA from 
operations was MNOK 51 in 2023, compared to MNOK 45 in 2022. 
 
Profit before tax was MNOK 32.  As of 31.12.23, the basis for a contingent liability assumed in connection with the 
Sorbwater transaction was not fulfilled. Therefore, a gain of MNOK 15 was recognized and goodwill of MNOK 5.1 
was impaired, resulting in a net gain of MNOK 9.9. The net profit of MNOK 27 is transferred to other equity. Total 
assets at year-end amounted to MNOK 351 (MNOK 270).   
 
The cash flow from operating activities reached MNOK 37, while cash flow from investing activities was MNOK -64 
due to our capacity expansion initiatives. Following a net contribution of MNOK 15 from financing activities, the 
net cash flow for the full year of 2023 stood at MNOK -12. The cash position on December 31, 2023 was MNOK 27 
and the equity ratio remained solid at 49% (53%). In the middle of 2023 Soiltech entered a long-term loan facility 
with Sandnes Sparebank. The 7-year loan facility is MNOK 73 and comes in addition to the existing facility of 
MNOK 75.  
 
Parent Company  
Net profit of MNOK 26 is transferred to other equity. Total assets at year-end amounted to MNOK 358 (MNOK 
277). The equity ratio remained solid at 48% (52%). 
 
Operations  
The Group saw an increase in operations in 2023, with higher activity across the full technology portfolio. During 
the year, we had up to 25 slop treatment operations and two cutting handling projects ongoing. In addition, the 
Group performed cleaning and swarf removal jobs.  International operations are increasing. During 2023, the 
Group had operations in 10 countries and international revenues accounted for 27% of total revenues.  
There were no operational or commercial downtime in 2023.  
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Risk management and internal control
The Group categorizes its primary risks into commercial, operational, compliance and legal, financial and IT- and 
cyber related risks. The Group has evaluated the overall climate risk to be low. Climate related matters are not 
expected to critically effect assets, provisions, or future cash flows. Further details can also be found in note 18 
and 19 in the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Commercial risks include such risks as macro indicators, suppliers, partners, competitors, and technology. 
Operational risks include technical and operational status and performance of its equipment as well as HSEQ.  
Compliance and legal risks include the management system, certifications as well as contractual, legal, and 
regulatory understanding and compliance. Financial risk includes quality in continuous reporting and internal 
controls, proper financing and financing sources, forecasting and liquidity management as well as financial risk 
management related to interest rates, foreign exchange, credit risks and tax risks. IT and cyber risks include the 
Group  
 
The Group
reviews, reporting, forecasting and other mitigating measures. While the Company operates in a cyclical industry, 
its client base however consists of solid and credit-worthy energy and drilling companies. During the year, the 
Group has focused on continuous improvement in training and competence requirements, technical and 
operational safety as well as planning and forecasting.  
 
The Group has a solid balance sheet and had no trade losses in 2023. A new bank facility was secured during the 
year and a solid cash position was maintained.  
 
Climate risk  
Climate risk is defined as the measure of vulnerability to climate-related impacts that may have financial 
consequences, or that may affect various aspects of financial performance. Those consequences could be 

reducing the uncertainty of that outcome is business critical.  
 
The  overall focus regarding the external environment is to provide knowledge to the market about our 
technologies, which help the customer reducing their emissions. Overall, this will result in a reduction in 
emissions that benefits the society. A main Soiltech focus area is to reduce the number of trucks to lower the 

mobilizations and load the truck as full as possible.  
 
The Group ies are energy efficient technologies that contribute to waste reduction, waste recovery 
and reuse. As such we are contributing to responsible resource management and reduced emissions through the 
energy transition. As emissions and discharge regulations are tightened globally, the Group  technologies may 
play an increasingly important role in the oil & gas industry.  
 
Liability Insurance (Directors and Officers) 
The Company has in place a Directors & Officers liability insurance that covers Directors of the Board and 
executive management. The limit of the coverage is MNOK 50.  
 
Research & Development  
The Group has a strong focus on innovations but does not undertake specific research & development activities 
as such. However, the Group is continuously focusing on improving existing technologies and developing new 
solutions, based on experience from operations and market needs.  

Human Resources, Diversity and Governance  
The Group had 125 employees at end 2023 compared to 94 end 2022. The board perceives that the working 
environment and the general well-being in the workplace as good. This was confirmed in the 2023 organizational 
survey.  
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The Group diversity is exemplified by the fact that its employees come from multiple countries.  The 
field personnel consist of men. The Group has incorporated guidelines aiming to ensure that there is no 
discrimination based on gender or nationality. The Group works systematically with recruitment, salary and 
working conditions, and promotion and development opportunities. The management team consist of 3 women 
and 4 men. The board has five members, all of whom are men. One board member is employed as COO in the 
Company. The Company is in process of making necessary changes to the board to meet the gender requirements 
by end of 2024. 
 
HSEQ  
A fit for purpose management system and robust HSEQ performance is fundamental to the Group. The Company 
is recertified according to ISO 9001 (Quality), ISO 14001 (Environment) and ISO 45001 (Working Environment). 
The Group requests and receives continuous feedback from its clients, in an effort to measure quality and 
continuous improvement. A high degree of repeat clients is an additional quality parameter that is monitored.  
The Group had a sick leave of 2.4% in 2023. The board perceives the working environment and the general well-
being in the workplace as good.  
 
Soiltech has a zero-accident philosophy when it comes to incidents and spills and strives on a continuous basis to 
reduce the impact of its activities on the external environment. The HSE performance in 2023 was good, with no 
lost time incidents (LTIs). Internal control in Soiltech is ensured in accordance with our policies and procedures, 
and reinforced based on the organizational structure, competence, and authority matrix as well as segregation of 
duties.   
 
Sustainability (ESG) 
The Group will listen to stakeholders and continue to shape our business in a sustainable direction. We 

within the Group to further develop our technologies, towards a greener future. We will conduct our business in 
a socially responsible manner consistent with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and the 
Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact.  
 
We respect all internationally recognized human rights, including those embedded in the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights, the UN Convention on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the UN Convention on Civil and 
Political Rights and the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work. These rights include, but 
are not limited to, the freedom of association and the right to bargain, and the right to freedom from forced 
labor, child labor or discrimination in working life. We also respect current standards in International 
Humanitarian Law including the Transparency Act which aims to reduce the risk of human rights violations, avoid 
modern slavery, and ensure decent working conditions. Statement of Transparency act can be found on 
www.soiltech.no.  
 
 
Outlook 
The outlook is positive. Soiltech's market-leading technologies for waste reduction, recovery, and reuse continue 
to gain momentum and market share. The total market for waste treatment is growing, as environmental 
restrictions for discharging contaminated water tighten world-wide. Going into 2024, Q1 typically has a lower 
activity due to the winter season. For 2024 as a whole, we foresee a continued strengthening in the market, 
which is also expected for 2025.  
 
The Board emphasizes that any forward-looking statements contained in this report could depend on factors 
beyond its control and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results may differ materially. 

Going concern assumption 

have been prepared on the basis of going concern assumption ref. IAS 1. 
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Shareholders and share capital 
At the end of 2023 Soiltech had 87 shareholders. The 10 largest shareholders owned 75.5% of the company. 
Foreign ownership was 32.4%. As at end 2023, Soiltech had an issued share capital of NOK 740 543 and 7 405 430 
outstanding shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.10 and carrying equal voting rights. 

Dividend
Soiltech has not paid any dividend to date and the Board does not propose to pay dividend for 2023. Soiltech is a 
growth company, and we are aiming at a continued growth, based on a solid financial position. Our plan is to take 
advantage of market opportunities and reinvest the generated cash in profitable projects and enhanced service 
capacity. Any future dividend will be evaluated on this basis.

Events after year-end
As far as the Board is aware, there have been no significant events since year-end which would impact the 
financial position and profits of the Group other than those mentioned under Events after year-end above.

Sandnes, March 15, 2024

The board of directors of Soiltech AS

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Gunnar Winther Eliassen 
Chairman of the Board

Olaf Skrivervik 
Member of the Board

Eirik Flatebø
Member of the Board

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Carsten Brückner

Member of the Board
Glenn Åsland 

Member of the Board                                                                                      
Jan Erik Tveteraas

Chief Executive Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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Sandnes, March 15, 2024

The board of directors of Soiltech AS

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Gunnar Winther Eliassen 
Chairman of the Board

Olaf Skrivervik 
Member of the Board

Eirik Flatebø
Member of the Board

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Carsten Brückner

Member of the Board
Glenn Åsland 

Member of the Board                                                                                      
Jan Erik Tveteraas

Chief Executive Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Note 1  General information 
 
Soiltech AS (the 'Company') is a limited company domiciled in Norway. The registered office of the Company is 
Koppholen 25, 4313, Sandnes, Norway. 
 
The Company is an innovative technology company specializing in the treatment, recycling and responsible 
handling of contaminated water and solid industrial waste streams on site. The Company is listed on the NOTC in 
Oslo with ticker code 'SOIL'. The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 'Group'). 
 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 were approved and authorized for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on 19th of March 2024. 
 
The Group presents consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS® Accounting Standard*  for the 
first time. In previous years, the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Norwegian 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (NGAAP). Date of transition to IFRS is 1 January 2022 and all 
comparative figures have been restated accordingly. Reference is made to note 26 for details on the effects of the 
transition. 
 
 
Note 2  Summary of general accounting policies 
 
The general accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. Specific accounting policies related to the individual areas in the financial statements are described in the 
relevant notes. 
 
Basis for preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the (EU) 
and additional disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting Act as effective of 31 December 2023. The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK) and have been rounded to the 
nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. As a result of rounding adjustments, amounts and percentages may 
not add up to the total. The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Accounting estimates and judgements 
Items in the financial statements are to a varying degree affected by estimates and assumptions made by 
management, reference is made to the relevant notes for the affected items. Estimates with a material impact on 
the financial statements, combined with a significant estimation uncertainty, comprise the following: 
- Recognition of deferred tax asset (note 8). 
 
Segment information  
Given the uniform nature of the Group's services and the centralized management from its head office in Norway, 
the entire Group is considered as a single operating segment for internal reporting purposes. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
The companies within the Group primarily use NOK as their functional currency. For consolidation purposes, the 

translated using the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated using the yearly average exchange rate. 
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New and amended IFRS standards not yet adopted 
Of new standards and interpretations that are not mandatory for the current reporting period, none are expected 
to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future 
transactions. 
 
Note 3  Revenues 
 
Overall description of contracts with customers 
The Group's revenue mainly derives from the sale of services related to treatment of contaminated water (i.e. 
slop), cuttings handling, cleaning services and other related services, for customers within the oil & gas industry. 
The key element of the service deliveries is the deployment and supervision of treatment and handling 
equipment at the customer's site, to meet the specific purification targets defined in the contracts  
 
The contract consideration is composed mainly of agreed daily rates for equipment and personnel, respectively, 
and reimbursement of costs plus a markup. Rates vary depending on whether the equipment is in active use 
during ongoing operations or in standby, for example when the equipment is on location but not in Operation.  
Typically, the contract deliveries follow the operation on the rig. However, all contracts can be terminated by the 
customer without cause on a short notice, with only completion of existing work order.  
 
Costs of mobilization and demobilization of equipment and personnel are normally recovered through the agreed 
daily rates, except for some contracts, where they are reimbursed separately. Such reimbursement is, however, 
generally not material in relation to the total contract consideration. Consideration is normally invoiced monthly, 
based on actual deliveries. 
 
Accounting policies 
The contracts are considered to consist of only one performance obligation, which is satisfied over time. Progress 
is measured on the basis of the time the Slop treatment unit (STT) is available to service the customer. In practice, 
revenue based on daily rates are thus recognized with the amount that the Company has a right to invoice. As a 
practical simplification based on materiality, any fees associated with mobilization and demobilization are 
recognized linearly over the period of the related contract. 
 
Cost of mobilization is considered to be cost to fulfil a contract and are recognized as an asset when incurred. The 
asset is subsequently amortized over the contract period, as cost of materials and personnel expenses. 
 
Revenues by product category 

 

*Other revenue is revenue from cuttings handling, cleaning services, swarf handling and associated services.  
 
Revenues by geography 
 

 
 
*International revenue comes mainly from UK, Netherlands, Abu Dhabi and other countries.  
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Revenues from major customers 
 

 
 
 
Costs to fulfil the customer contracts 
 

 
 
 
Note 4  Personnel expenses 
 
Accounting policies 
Personnel costs are expensed as the employees earn the right to the payment of wages for hours worked. 
Payments to defined contribution pension plan are expensed over the period in which the employees earn the 
right to the deposit. 
 
Pensions 
The Group 
follow the stipulations in the Norwegian Mandatory Occupational Pensions Act. The Group's pension scheme 
adheres to the requirements, as set in the Act. 
 
Specification of personnel expenses 
 

 
 
*Other personnel expenses include expenses relating share-based payment transactions. Refer to note 24 for 
further details. 
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Number of employees 

 
 
Note 5  Depreciation and amortisation 
 
Specification of depreciation and amortisation 

 
 
Note 6  Other operating expenses 
 
Specification of other operating expenses 
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Note 7  Financial items 

 

 
 
 
Note 8  Income tax 
 
Accounting policies 
The Group consists of companies subject to ordinary corporate taxation in Norway, and within the same tax 
group with respect to offsetting of deferred tax. Income tax is therefore recognized on the basis of a general 
application of IAS 12 without the need for further judgments or policies of significance. 
 
Basis for recognition of deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that the Group will have a sufficient profit for tax purposes 
in subsequent periods to utilize the tax asset. The Group recognize previously unrecognized deferred tax assets to 
the extent it has become probable that the Group can utilize the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the Group will 
reduce a deferred tax asset to the extent that the Group no longer regards it as probable that it can utilize the 
deferred tax asset. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured based on the expected future tax rates 
applicable to the companies in the Group where temporary differences have arisen based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax and 
deferred tax assets are recognized at their nominal value and classified as non-current asset (non-current 
liabilities) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
 
Specification of income tax expense 
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Reconciliation of tax expense with tax calculated at nominal rate 

 
 
Permanent differences come mainly from reversal of contingent liability MNOK 15 and impairment of goodwill 
MNOK -5, with a net impact MNOK 10 and a tax impact of MNOK 2.2. For further information see note 9.  
 
Specification of deferred tax liabilities and assets  2023 
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Specification of deferred tax liabilities and assets  2022 

 
 
Tax losses carried forward are from operations in Norway and can be carried forward indefinitely. See note 22 for 
further details on the business combination with Sorbwater.  
 
 
Note 9  Intangible assets 
 
Accounting policies 
Intangible assets mainly comprise goodwill originating from previous acquisitions. Goodwill is not depreciated but 
is instead subject to annual impairment testing. Other intangible assets include patents and software which are 
recognised in accordance with the cost method and depreciated over their expected economic lifetime. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000) 01/01/2022 Profit  or loss OCI

 Business 
comb- 
ination Other 31/12/2022

Fixed assets -11 710 -3 817 0 -1 537 0 -17 064
Customer contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 -173 0 0 0 -173
Total deferred tax liabilities -11 710 -3 990 0 -1 537 0 -17 237

6 012 3 964 0 1 537 5 898 17 412
Non-recognized deferred tax assets -200 25 0 0 0 -175
Net deferred tax liabilities -5 899 0 0 0 5 898 0

Fixed assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Tax losses carried forward 0 -1 759 0 25 770 0 24 011
Other 6 012 1 578 0 1 083 0 8 673
Total deferred tax assets 6 012 -181 0 26 853 0 32 684

-6 012 -3 964 0 -1 537 -5 898 -17 411
Non-recognized deferred tax assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net deferred tax assets 0 -4 145 0 25 316 -5 898 15 272        

Reclass between deferred tax 
liabilities and assets

Reclass between deferred tax 
liabilities and assets
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Specification of intangible assets 
 

 
 
Impairment testing 
A goodwill of MNOK 5.0 was recognized in connection with the acquisition of Sorbwater in 2022. See note 22 for 
further details. However, the expected synergies from the Sorbwater patented biodegradable chemicals are 
delayed and the business plan has therefore been revised. Since the timing of the realization of such synergies is 
uncertain, the goodwill has been impaired in full. The delay in synergies also resulted in certain thresholds under 
the SPA are uncertain to be met. Consequently, the contingent consideration of MNOK 15 that was recognized as 
part of the consideration has been reversed and recognized as other gain in 2023.  
 
 
Note 10  Property, plant & equipment 
 
Accounting policies 
Property, plant & equipment consists of slop treatment units, equipment for cuttings handling, cleaning services 
and swarf removal, skips and various other equipment. Property, plant & equipment are recognized in 
accordance with the cost method and depreciated over their expected economic lifetime. 
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Specification of property, plant & equipment 

 
 
Note 11  Leases 
 
Accounting policies 
The Group is primarily involved in lease agreements as a lessee. All lease agreements are recognized in 
accordance with IFRS 16, with the exception of: 
- Lease agreements with a shorter duration than 12 months 
- Leases of assets with a cost price below NOK 50 000 
Payments relating to such leases are recognized as operating expenses when due. The Group does however not 
have many such agreements and the annual expense is therefore immaterial.  
Right-of-use assets are recognized in accordance with the cost method and depreciated over the lease term, or 
expected economic lifetime, depending on whether a purchase option is expected to be exercised. 
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Overall description of the leases of the Group
The Group primarily leases premises and slop treatment units (STT). For premises, the lease term is usually 
between 3 and 10 years, while for slop treatment units between 4 and 7 years. For STT units it is expected that 
the purchase option is exercised and as such the asset is depreciated over the expected economic lifetime.  
 
 
Assumptions and judgments applicable to new leases 
In 2023, the Group entered into a new lease agreement for its head office in Sandnes. The lease period is 5 years 
with 5 years option to extend. The lease liability is calculated based on the lease term including the option period.  
A new lease agreement was also entered into for the Group  premises in Bergen, with a lease period of 3 years. 
The discount rate used in the new lease calculation is 7,24%.  
 
The Group has leased additional STT units to be delivered in Q2 2024. The present value of the lease liability will 
be recognised on commencement of the lease.  
 
Specification of right-of-use assets 

 
 
Specification of lease liabilities 
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Contractual payments on leases
 

 
 
 
Note 12  Other assets and liabilities 
 
Other non-current assets 

 
 
Other current assets 

 

 

 
 
Other current liabilities 
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Note 13  Trade receivables 
 
Accounting policies 
Trade receivables are recognized at an amount equal to the transaction price, less provisions for expected credit 
losses. The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. 
 
 
Specification of trade receivables 

 
 
Specification of credit loss recognized in profit or loss 

 
 
Note 14  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Accounting policies 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise mostly ordinary bank deposits. The statement of cash flows is prepared using 
the indirect method. Interest income and expenses are presented as investing and financing activities, 
respectively. 
 
 
Restricted cash 
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Reconciliation of cash flows from financing activities

 
 

 
 
Note 15  Borrowings 
 
Accounting policies 
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable to the 
transaction, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. There has not been any material transaction cost 
during the year.  
 
Covenants  
The loan facility with Sandnes Sparebank entered in 2023 has the following covenants: 
- NIBD/EBITDA < 4 
- Book equity > 30% 
- Approval from bank if dividend/group contribution 
 
The company is not in breach with any of the covenants above.  
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Specification of borrowings  31.12.2023 

 
 
 
Specification of borrowings  31.12.2022 

 
 
 
 
Contractual payments on borrowings  31.12.2023 

 
 
Contractual payments on borrowings  31.12.2022 

 
 
For loans with floating interest rates, the amounts above are calculated using the current interest rate per the 
relevant year end. 
 
Carrying amount of assets pledged as security 

 
 
 
Note 16  Financial derivatives 
 
Accounting policies 
Financial derivatives consist of currency forward contracts. Although the contracts are held for hedging purposes, 
the Group does not apply hedge accounting. The forward contracts are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. Gains and losses are presented as financial income or expense, respectively. Currency forward contracts are 
measured at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, as the present value of future cash flows is based on the forward 
exchange rates at the balance sheet date. 
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Currency forward contracts 
A currency forward contract of MUSD 0.74 was entered into in relation to the sale of certain equipment to Kuwait 
in 2014, in the Group
subject to significant uncertainty. The forward contract has been rolled forward multiple times pending a final 
outcome, and the current contract matures at 04.03.2024. At year end the liability was MNOK 3.7. This is included 
in the statement of financial position under Other current liabilities.  
 
Note 17  Financial instruments 
 
Current Financial assets per category 

 
 
 
Financial liabilities per category 

 
 
Fair value 
For items measured at amortized cost, carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair 
value. 
 
Note 18  Financial risk and capital management 
 
The  policies for management of capital and financial risk aim to support the current strategy and target 
of maintaining a high rate of growth and developing prospective business opportunities. The Group
structure shall be robust enough to maintain the desired freedom of action and utilize growth opportunities, 
based on strict assessments relating to the allocation of capital. The Group debt financing consist of bank and 
leasing financing. The loan covenants to which the Group is subject play a key role in how capital is managed and 
allocated, to maintain a low financing risk and financial flexibility. See note 15 borrowings for further details on 

 
 
Market risk 
The Group's exposure to financial market risk is mainly related to interest rates on external financing and various 
forms of currency risks. The Group has a diversified client list and evaluates changes in pricing structure contract 
by contract, as part of its mitigation process to cover for increased interest cost. The Group has not entered into 
any interest swap agreements. 
 
Currency risk  
The Group has Norwegian kroner (NOK) as its base currency. However, through its operations outside Norway, 
the Group is exposed to fluctuations in certain exchange rates, mainly Euro (EUR), British Pound (GBP) and 
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American dollar (USD). The Group also has currency risks linked to both balance sheet monetary items and 
investments in foreign countries. The tables below show -
end. As the Group does not apply hedge accounting, the impact on profit/loss and equity will be the same 
regardless of the direction of the exchange rate change.  
 
Currency exposure  31.12.2023 

 
 
Currency exposure  31.12.2022 

 
 
 
Interest rate risk  
The Company loan and leasing agreements have floating interest rates based on NIBOR according to the financial 
strategy, see Note 15 borrowings, and is thereby influenced by changes in the interest market. A change of 
increase of 1 percentage point in NIBOR means a change in yearly net interest expenses of approximately MNOK 
1.5. 
 
 
Credit risk 
Assets that may give rise to credit risk comprise mainly trade receivables and bank deposits. For the latter, the 
counterparties are mainly banks established in the Nordic countries, which indicates that the credit risk should be 
regarded as negligible. Trade receivables are characterized by a concentration in the customer base, in terms of 
country and industry. The customers, however, are primarily large companies with high credit ratings, and the 
agreed payment terms in the contracts typically ensure that any overdue amounts are kept at low level. Thus, 
credit losses have historically been insignificant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
As at year-end, the Group's portfolio of loans and loan facilities is well diversified both with regards to maturity 
profile and lenders. In June 2023 the Company entered a 7-year loan facility of MNOK 73 with Sandnes 
Sparebank. Together with an existing loan facility of MNOK 75 with Sandnes Sparebank, the facilities total MNOK 
148.  The unused portion of the credit facilities was MNOK 55.3 as at 31.12.2023. 
 
Summary of contractual maturities 31.12.2023 
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Note 19  Climate risk 
The Group has evaluated the overall climate risk to be low. Climate related matters are not expected to critically 
effect assets, provisions, or future cash flows. The analysis is based on the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) framework. The Group has evaluated the physical risk, the risk associated with transition into a 
low carbon community and the liability risk towards the Group. The opportunities are considered to exceed the 
risks identified for the Group. 
 
 
Soiltech s 
 

 
 
Note 20  Share capital and shareholder information 
 
Share capital and ownership structure 
The share capital of the parent company, Soiltech AS, amounts to NOK 740 543 as of 31 December 2023, and 
consists of a total of 7,405,430 ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.1. 
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Shareholders as of 31.12.2023 

 
 
Included in Other shareholders are 5 000 shares owned by board member Olaf Skrivervik.  
Foreign ownership was 32,4% at year-end 2023 (2022: 32,4%) 
 
Note 21  Earnings per share 
 

 
* More information on options in note 24 
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Note 22  Group composition and subsidiaries 
 
Accounting policies 
The consolidated financial statements comprise of all subsidiaries controlled by the parent entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Likewise, they are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases. 
 
Changes in the composition of the Group 
The subsidiary Sorbwater Technology AS was acquired by Soiltech AS on 2 September 2022, and were 
consolidated from this date forward (ref. further details below). The composition of the Group is otherwise 
unchanged in the periods presented in these financial statements. 
 
Subsidiaries as of 31.12.2023 

 
 
Acquisition of Sorbwater Technology AS in 2022 
 
On 2nd of September 2022 the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Sorbwater Technology AS. Sorbwater has 
industry leading expertise within bio-degradable chemistry. The deferred tax asset is recognized in full as it is 
probable that the Group will have sufficient future taxable profits to realize carryforward unused tax losses, 
through group contributions between the Group companies. A part of the consideration for Sorbwater, 
amounting to MNOK 15, was contingent on meeting certain sales targets in the future. At the time of acquisition, 
the Company assessed meeting these sales targets as highly probable. The entire contingent consideration was 
therefore recognized as a liability and presented as other non-current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position. With reference to note 9, the expected synergies from the Sorbwater patented, biodegradable 
chemicals are delayed, and the business plan has therefore been revised. Consequently, the contingent part of 
the consideration has been recognized as other gain in 2023. 
 
Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired purchase consideration and goodwill are as 
follows:  
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Note 23  Remuneration to senior executives and Board of Directors 

 
 
The previous CEO Stig H. Christiansen resigned from his position in April 2023. No severance payment was made.  
At the same time, Jan Erik Tveteraas was appointed as new CEO. If the Company terminates the CEO  
employment, the Executive shall be entitled to severance pay for a period of 12 months after the expiry of the 
agreed notice period. 
 

 
 
Gunnar Winther Eliassen was elected as new Chairman of the board in December 2023.  The previous executive 
chairman Jan Erik Tveteraas resigned from the board in December 2023, continuing in his role as CEO. Robert 
Hvide MacLeod resigned from the board in December 2023. No remuneration has been paid to the general 
manager and directors in subsidiaries. The Company has not provided loans or collateral to executives or 
members of the board. 
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Granted options to senior executives and Board of Directors 

 
 
*Robert Hvide MacLeod resigned from the board in December 2023. 
 
Note 24  Share-based payment transactions 
 
Accounting policies 
The Group has a long-term share-based incentive plan for key personnel and board members. The term of the 
plan implies that it is recognised as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction in accordance with IFRS 2. 
Associated obligations to pay social security tax are recognised as cash-settled share-based payment transactions. 
 
Long-term share-based incentive plan 
The strike price of the options is set at the market price at grant date. Granted options are distributed over three 
equal tranches with vesting period of 1-3 years. All outstanding options must be exercised within 5 years from the 
grant date. Granted options are measured at fair value at the grant date, which is determined using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model. Company uses a third-party company for this calculation. 
 
Summary of granted options in the period 

 
 
 

2023 2022
3,70                       2,17                       
0,10                       0,10                       
5,00                       5,00                       

80-82 45-75
80                           65                           

Movement in outstanding share options

2023 2022 2023 2022
80,00                     66,00                     1 249 700              829 700                 

170 000                 425 000                 
-                         5 000-                     

150 000-                 -                         
-                         -                         

1 269 700              1 249 700              
871 367                 615 553                 

Historical volatility

Share price

Risk free interest rate

Expected lifetime of the option (years)

Average exercise price Number of options

As at 1 January

Exercised during the year

Expired during the year

Vested and exercisable at 31 December

Granted during the year

Forfeited during the year

As at 31 December

Average option value (NOK)
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Note 25  Events after the reporting period 
There are no events other than business activities in the ordinary course of business after the balance sheet date 
of an adjusting or non-adjusting nature.  
 
Note 26  Transition from NGAAP to IFRS 
In connection with the transition to IFRS, the management has carried out a thorough review of the Group's 
business and its accounting policies currently applied under NGAAP. Although the transition requires changes in 
the treatment of operating leases and goodwill, the overall conclusion has been that the transition has a limited 
impact on the financial reporting of the Group. Further details of the most significant changes per transition date 
and year-end 2022 are explained in notes to the reconciliations below. 
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Effect of transition on statement of financial position per 1 January 2022
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Effect of transition on statement of financial position per 31 December 2022

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000) Note NGAAP Adjust-ments Reclassi-fications IFRS
Assets
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assets C 15 133                   139                        -                         15 272                   

C 6 835                     40-                           -                         6 795                     
Property, plant & equipment 130 300                 -                         -                         130 300                 

B 47 126                   5 668                     12 442-                   40 352                   
Other non-current assets 738                        -                         -                         738                        

200 132                 5 767                     12 442-                   193 457                 

Current assets
238                        -                         -                         238                        

Trade receivables A 22 288                   -                         6 956                     29 244                   
38 832                   -                         -                         38 832                   

Other current assets A 15 003                   -                         6 956-                     8 047                     
76 360                   -                         -                         76 361                   

Total assets 276 492                 5 767                     12 442-                   269 818                 

Equity and liabilities
Equity

741                        -                         -                         741                        
Other paid-in equity 83 948                   -                         -                         83 948                   

1 132                     -                         -                         1 132                     
Retained earnings C 57 132                   493-                        -                         56 639                   

142 953                 493-                        -                         142 460                 

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

61 795                   -                         22 903-                   38 892                   
Lease liabilities B -                         4 652                     12 090                   16 742                   

-                         -                         -                         -                         
Provisions 796                        -                         796-                        -                         

18 081                   -                         2 285-                     15 796                   
80 672                   4 652                     13 894-                   71 430                   

Current liabilities
A 9 178                     -                         724                        9 902                     

Borrowings 21 254                   -                         7 928-                     13 326                   
B -                         1 609                     6 327                     7 935                     

Tax payable -                         -                         -                         -                         
A 22 437                   -                         2 329                     24 766                   

52 869                   1 609                     1 452                     55 929                   

Total liabilities 133 539                 6 260                     12 442-                   127 359                 

Total equity and liabilities 276 492                 5 767                     12 442-                   269 819                 

Trade payables

Lease liabilities

Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Total equity

Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Share capital

Other reserves

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Total non-current assets

Inventories
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Effect of transition on statement of comprehensive income for 2022 

 
 
Note 26 A - D 
 
Note 26 A  Trade receivables and trade payables 
In order to achieve a more correct classification in the balance sheet, the Group has decided to reclassify 
receivables relating to earned, not invoiced revenue from other current assets to trade receivables. 
Correspondingly, the provision for trade payables for which no invoice has been received has also been 
reclassified from other current liabilities to trade payables. 
 
Note 26 B  Leasing 
For operating leases, the lease payments have been expensed continuously under NGAAP. As IFRS does not 
distinguish between operating and financial leases, all leases are recognized in the balance sheet as right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities. The transition adjustments relate exclusively to the rental of office premises. For these 
leases, the Group has decided to recognize the right-of-use assets with a carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been 
applied since commencement date. A discount rate of 4,6% has been applied when calculating the liability for the 
office leases. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(amounts in NOK 1000) Note NGAAP Adjust-ments Reclassi-fications IFRS
Revenue 177 073                 -                         -                                           177 073 
Other operating income 1 097                     -                         -                                               1 097 
Total operating income 178 170                 -                         -                         178 170                 

Cost of materials 35 220                   -                         -                                             35 220 
Personnel expenses 88 383                   -                         -                                             88 383 
Depreciation and amortisation A, B 14 799                   1 232                     -                                             16 032 
Other operating expenses A, B 17 372                   1 515-                     -                                             15 857 
Total operating expenses 155 775                 283-                        -                         155 492                 

Operating profit (loss) 22 396                   283                        -                         22 678                   

Net foreign exchange gains (losses) -                         -                         -                                                     -   
Financial income 1 214                     -                         -                                               1 214 
Financial expenses A 4 819-                     272-                        -                         -                     5 091 
Net financial items 3 605-                     272-                        -                         3 877-                     

Profit (loss) before tax 18 791                   11                           -                         18 802                   

Income tax expense 4 143                     2                             -                                               4 145 

Profit (loss) for the period 14 648                   9                             -                         14 656                   

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences -                         -                         -                                                     -   
Income tax relating to these items -                         -                         -                         -                         
Net other comprehensive income -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total comprehensive income for the period 14 648                   -                         -                         14 656                   
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Summary of adjustments for office leases 

 
 
Note 26 C  Reclassifications relating to finance leases 
In previous reporting under NGAAP, the Group's liabilities relating to financial leases have been presented 
together with ordinary bank loans in the balance sheet. Starting from the transition to IFRS, these are presented 
separately as lease liabilities in the balance sheet. 
 
As of end 2022, the Group had entered into several lease agreements for the lease of STT units under 
construction, but not yet handed over to the Group. Previous balance sheets prepared under NGAAP, included 
assets and liabilities corresponding to the accrued payments from the bank to the manufacturer of the 
equipment. An adjustment of MNOK 12,4 is therefore made to both right-of-use assets and lease liabilities since 
IFRS does not permit recognition of these items until the date of commencement of the lease. 
 
Note 26 D  Acquisition of Sorbwater Technology AS in 2022 
In September 2022, the Company acquired Sorbwater Technology AS. Prior to this; the Company has not been 
involved in any business combinations that could be eligible for a retrospective application of IFRS 3. When 
accounting for the acquisition of Sorbwater Technology AS under NGAAP, all assessments and assumptions were 
made in light of a possible future transition to IFRS. As a result, the differences were limited to those areas where 
NGAAP prohibits the use of IFRS solutions. These areas comprise amortization of goodwill under NGAAP, as well 
as the treatment of transaction costs. While transaction costs are always recognized as expenses under IFRS, they 
are treated as part of the consideration under NGAAP, which in practice leads to increased goodwill. 
 
Summary of adjustment for goodwill 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PARENT COMPANY 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS 
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BALANCE SHEET

 

(amounts in NOK 1000)

ASSETS Note 2023 2022
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 1 136 1 070
Property, plant & equipment 11 180 954 127 230
Right-of-use assets 12 53 027 34 684
Investments in subsidiaries 7 37 434 37 682
Other non-current assets 13 762 738

Total non-current assets 273 312 201 403

Receivables
Trade receivables 14 44 171 29 338
Cash and cash equivalents 15 23 586 36 098
Other current assets 13 16 829 7 933

Total current assets 84 585 73 368

TOTAL ASSETS 357 897 274 772

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2023 2022
Equity
Share capital 17 741 741
Other paid-in equity 83 948 83 948
Other reserves 1 826 1 132
Retained earnings 83 825 57 738

Total equity 170 340 143 558

LIABILITIES
Borrowings 16 68 913 38 892
Lease liabilities 12 24 800 12 090
Deferred tax liabilities 9 11 699 8 499
Other non-current liabilities 13 669 15 796

Total non-current liabilities 106 081 75 277

Current liabilities
Trade payables 29 866 21 146
Borrowings 16 16 860 13 325
Lease liabilities 12 8 800 7 211
Tax payable 9 0 0
Other current liabilities 13 25 950 14 254

Total current liabilities 81 477 55 936

Total liabilities 187 558 131 214

Total equity and liabilities 357 897 274 772
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Sandnes, March 15, 2024

The board of directors of Soiltech AS

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Gunnar Winther Eliassen 
Chairman of the Board

Olaf Skrivervik 
Member of the Board

Eirik Flatebø
Member of the Board

____________________ ____________________ ____________________
Carsten Brückner

Member of the Board
Glenn Åsland 

Member of the Board                                                                                      
Jan Erik Tveteraas

Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

48 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
Note 1  General information 
Soiltech AS (the 'Company') is a limited company domiciled in Norway. The registered office of the Company is 
Koppholen 25, 4313, Sandnes, Norway. The Company is an innovative technology company specializing in the 
treatment, recycling and responsible handling of contaminated water and solid industrial waste streams at site. 
The Company is listed on the NOTC in Oslo with ticker code 'SOIL'. The financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2023 were approved and authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors 
on 19th of March 2024. 
 
Note 2  Summary of general accounting policies 
The general accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. Specific 
accounting policies related to the individual areas in the financial statements are described in the relevant notes. 
 
Basis for preparation 
The financial statement has been prepared in accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and associated 
regulations, as well as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in Norway. The financial statement is 
presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK) and have been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. 
As a result of rounding adjustments, amounts and percentages may not add up to the total. 
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
Currency 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate applicable on the transaction date. Monetary items in 
a foreign currency are translated into NOK using the closing rate at the balance sheet date. 
 
The cash flow analysis 
The cash flow analysis has been prepared according to the indirect method. 
 
Note 3  Revenues 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Overall description of contracts with customers 
The Group's revenue mainly derive from the sale of services related to treatment of contaminated water (i.e. 
slop), cuttings handling, cleaning services and other related services, for customers within the oil & gas industry. 
The key element of the service deliveries is the deployment and supervision of treatment and handling 
equipment at the customer's site. The contract consideration is composed mainly of agreed daily rates for 
equipment and personnel, respectively, and reimbursement of costs plus a markup. Rates vary depending on 
whether the equipment is in active use during ongoing operations or in standby, for example when the 
equipment is on location but not in operation. Costs of mobilization and demobilization of equipment and 
personnel are normally recovered through the agreed daily rates, except for some contracts, where they are 
reimbursed separately. Such reimbursement are, however, generally not material in relation to the total contract 
consideration. Consideration is normally invoiced monthly, based on actual deliveries. 
 
 
Accounting policies 
The contracts are considered to consist of only one performance obligation, which is satisfied over time. Progress 
is measured on the basis of the time the STT unit is available to service the customer. In practice, revenue based 
on daily rates are thus recognized with the amount that the Company has a right to invoice. As a practical 
simplification based on materiality, any fees associated with mobilization and demobilization are recognized 
linearly over the period of the contract they relate to. Cost of mobilization is considered to be cost to fulfil a 
contract and are recognized as an asset when incurred. The asset is subsequently amortized over the contract 
period, as cost of materials and personnel expenses. 
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Revenues by product category

 
 
Revenues by geography 

 
 
Revenues from major customers 

 
 
Costs to fulfil the customer contracts 

 
 
Note 4  Personnel expense & remuneration to senior executives and board of directors 
 
Accounting policies 
Personnel costs are expensed as the employees earn the right to the payment of wages for hours worked. 
Payments to defined contribution pension are expensed over the period in which the employees earn the right to 
the deposit. 
 
Pensions 

follow the stipulations in the Norwegian Mandatory Occupational Pensions Act. The Group's pension scheme 
adheres to the requirements, as set in the Act. 
 
 
Specification of personnel expenses 
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*Other personnel expenses include expenses related to share-based payment transactions. Please refer to notes 
for Consolidation financial statement for further details. 
 
Number of employees 

 
 
Remuneration to senior executives and board of directors 

 
 
The previous CEO Stig H. Christiansen resigned from his position April 2023. No severance payment was made. 
The new CEO Jan Erik Tveteraas started in April 2023. 
 

 
 
Gunnar Winther Eliassen was elected as new Chairman of the board in December 2023. The previous Chairman of 
the board Jan Erik Tveteraas continues as CEO. Director Robert Hvide MacLeod resigned from board in December 
2023. 
 
Note 5  Depreciation and amortisation 
 
Specification of depreciation and amortisation 
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Note 6  Other operating expenses 
 
Specification of other operating expenses 

 
 
 
Specification of auditors  remuneration 

 
 
 
Note 7  Related parties 
 
Accounting policies 
In the Parent company, the subsidiaries and investments in any associated company are valued at cost. The 
investment is valued at the cost of the shares, less any impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognized if the 
impairment is not considered temporary, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
Impairment losses are reversed if the reason for the impairment loss is rectified in a later period.  
 
Dividends, Group contributions and other distributions from subsidiaries are recognized in the same year as they 
are recognized in the financial statement of the provider. If dividends / group contribution exceeds withheld 
profits after the acquisition date, the excess amount represents repayment of invested capital, and the 
distribution will be deducted from the recorded value of the acquisition in the balance sheet for the parent 
company. 
 
Subsidiaries 

 
 
 
The expected synergies from the Sorbwater patented biodegradable chemicals are delayed and the business plan 
has therefore been revised. The delay in synergies has resulted in certain thresholds under the SPA are uncertain 
to be met. Consequently, the contingent consideration of MNOK 15 that was recognized as part of the 
consideration has been reversed and recognized as other gain in 2023.  As a consequence of this, a write down of 
the investment in Sorbwater Technology AS of MNOK 9.2 has been made. This write down is reflected under 
financial expenses. 
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Transactions with related parties  

 
 
 
Outstanding balances with group companies 

 
 
Note 8  Financial items 

 
 
Note 9  Income tax 
 
Accounting policies 
The tax expense consists of the tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax/tax assets are calculated on 
all differences between the book value and tax value of assets and liabilities, with the exception of: temporary 
differences linked to goodwill that are not tax deductible. Temporary differences, both positive and negative, 
which will or are likely to reverse in the same period, are recorded as a net amount. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that the company will have a sufficient profit for tax 
purposes in subsequent periods to utilize the tax asset. The companies recognize previously unrecognized 
deferred tax assets to the extent it has become probable that the company can utilize the deferred tax asset. 
Similarly, the company will reduce a deferred tax asset to the extent that the company no longer regards it as 
probable that it can utilize the deferred tax asset. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured on the basis 
of the expected future tax rates applicable to the companies in the Group where temporary differences have 
arisen based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are recognized at their nominal value and classified as non-
current asset investments (non-current liabilities) in the balance sheet. 
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Specification of income tax expense 

 
 
Temporary differences related to: 

 
 
A group contribution is given to subsidiary company Sorbwater Technology AS that will utilize this against its loss 
carry forward.  
 
 
Note 10  Intangible assets 
Accounting policies 
Intangible assets mainly comprise goodwill originating from previous acquisitions. Goodwill is not depreciated but 
is instead subject to annual impairment testing. Other intangible assets include patents and software which are 
recognised in accordance with the cost method and depreciated over their expected economic lifetime. 
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Specification of intangible assets 

 
 
 
Note 11  Property, plant & equipment 
 
Accounting policies 
Property, plant & equipment consists of slop treatment units, equipment for cuttings handling and swarf removal, 
skips and various other equipment. Property, plant & equipment are recognized in accordance with the cost 
method and depreciated over their expected economic lifetime. 
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Specification of property, plant & equipment 

 
 
Note 12  Leases 
 
Accounting policies 
The Company leases certain operating equipment which in turn is leased to our customers. The Company has 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the leases are classified as financial leases. Financial 
leases are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present 
value of the future minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the corresponding 
financial lease liability and finance charges to achieve a constant rate on the liability outstanding. 
 

the Statement of Profit and Loss. The depreciation policy for assets held under financial leases is consistent with 
that for owned assets and is depreciated over estimated economic life.  
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Overall description of the leases of the parent company 
The parent company primarily leases slop treatment units (STT). For slop treatment units (STT), the lease term is 
usually between 4 and 7 years. 
 
 
Specification of right-of-use assets 

 
 
Specification of lease liabilities 

 
 
 
Contractual payments on leases 
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Note 13  Other assets and liabilities 
 
Accounting policies 
Non-current assets are assets intended for long-term ownership or use. All other assets are current assets. 
Receivables that fall due for payment within one year shall not be classified as non-current assets. Similar criteria 
apply to liabilities. 
Other current assets are recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value less provisions for expected credit losses.  
 
 
Other non-current assets 

 
 
Other current assets 

 
 
Other non-current liabilities 

 
 

 

 
 
Note 14  Trade receivables 
 
Accounting policies 
Trade receivables are recognized at an amount equal to the transaction price, less provisions for expected credit 
losses. The Group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. 
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Specification of trade receivables

 
Note 15  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Accounting policies 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise mostly ordinary bank deposits. The statement of cash flows is prepared using 
the indirect method. Interest income and expenses are presented as investing and financing activities, 
respectively. 
 
Restricted cash 

 
 
Note 16  Borrowings 
 
Accounting policies 
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable to the 
transaction, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
 
Covenants  
The loan facility with Sandnes Sparebank entered in 2023 has the following covenants: 
- NIBD/EBITDA > 4 
- Book equity > 30% 
- Approval from bank if dividend/group contribution 
 
Specification of borrowings  31.12.2023 

 
 
Specification of borrowings  31.12.2022 

 
 
Contractual payments on borrowings  31.12.2023 
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Contractual payments on borrowings 31.12.2022

 
 
For loans with floating interest rates, the amounts above are calculated using the current interest rate per the 
relevant year end. 
 
Carrying amount of assets pledged as security 

 
 
Note 17  Share capital and shareholder information 
 
Share capital and ownership structure 
The share capital of the parent company, Soiltech AS, amounts to NOK 740 543 as of 31 December 2023, and 
consists of a total of 7,405,430 ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.1. 
 
Shareholders as of 31.12.2023 

 
 
Included in Other shareholders are 5 000 shares owned by board member Olaf Skrivervik. Foreign ownership was 
32,4% at year-end 2023 (2022: 32,4%) 
 
Note 18  Financial risk and capital management 
See information in consolidated financial statement. 
 

Shareholders Number of shares
Ownership 

interest
Winthershall DEA Technology Ventures GmbH 1 067 820 14,4%
Hildr AS 747 430 10,1%
Wellex AS by Glenn Åsland 747 430 10,1%
Knatten I AS by Jan Erik Tveteraas 700 325 9,5%
Carnegie Investment Bank AB 560 980 7,6%
Skagenkaien Investering AS 541 380 7,3%
Tveteraas Invest AS 521 710 7,0%
DNB Bank ASA 345 790 4,7%
Pima AS by Eirik Flatebø 202 830 2,7%
Havnebase Eiendom AS 158 470 2,1%
Zetlitz Capital AS 102 030 1,4%
Tucan Holding AS 100 560 1,4%
Campo Eiendom AS 83 000 1,1%
Forte Trønder 79 800 1,1%
Ryder 78 000 1,1%
Top 15 shareholders 6 037 555 82%
Other 1 367 875 18%
Total 7 405 430 100%
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Note 19 Climate risk
See information in consolidated financial statement. 
 
Note 20  Remuneration to senior executives and Board of Directors 
See information in consolidated financial statement. 
 
Note 21  Share-based payment transactions 
See information in consolidated financial statement. 
 
Note 22  Events after the reporting period 
There are no events other than business activity in the ordinary course of business after the balance sheet date of 
an adjusting or non-adjusting nature.  
 
 

 







PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Kanalsletta 8, Postboks 8017, NO-4068 Stavanger
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no
Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap

To the General Meeting of Soiltech AS 

Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Soiltech AS, which comprise:

the financial statements of the parent company Soiltech AS (the Company), which comprise the 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2023, the statement of profit and loss, the statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and
the consolidated financial statements of Soiltech AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion

the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements,
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU.

 

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by 
relevant laws and regulations in Norway and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information in the 
Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The other 
information comprises information in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the information in the 
Board of Directors’ report nor the other information accompanying the financial statements.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of Directors’ 
report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to consider if there 
is material inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying 
the financial statements and the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the 
Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements otherwise 
appear to be materially misstated. We are required to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board 
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of Directors’ report or the other information accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report

is consistent with the financial statements and
contains the information required by applicable statutory requirements.

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Company that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. 
Management is responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 
The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the Group use the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
reference is made to: https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

 
Stavanger, 15 March 2024
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS
 
Roy Henrik Heggelund
State Authorised Public Accountant
(This document is signed electronically) 
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APPENDIX D: 

The Company's audited consolidated financial statements for 2022 (NGAAP) 
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��

�������
���
���!
�� QU��SQV���������������������� U QSV����������������������� QRYV�������������������� QQ�QSUV�����������������
�����
������
���
 ��f����!
��	 �f���!
��	¦~��~���}�|������ §��~�� §��~�� §��~��
|̈}��©ª«¬­�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������®̈{«̄ ° ­�|�~�}±²�­���}�����³́£��µ~�} ­�}~�}�¶|}¡~����}������~����~}�{~·�£���� ©||�·���

����	�����

����������� QQY�RRQ������������������� [�STR������������������� S�UTQ������������������ U QS[�SQU��������������"��
��	
����������
�!
�� S��XTW���������������������� Q��YQT����������������� TSQ��������������������� U [���UU���������������������
��
�h

���
h�����	�""#� [�STR������������������������ [�STRV������������������� U U Ug��
����������
�!
�� STRV��������������������������� U U U STRV�����������������������|�}�����~����������� ��������������������������������������������������������������� U 3̀E�̂b4���������������

������
���
��

���������������������������������� [U�WTWV���������������������� U Q�XQSV������������������ U [Q�RYXV�����������������

������
��h���
f��h�	����������� W�XTRV������������������������ U QUUV��������������������� U W�TTRV������������������ �����~��¡~~}�¢��£~��������������� ��������������������������������������������������������������� U 34̂�4__��������������¥
��

�������
���
���!
�� QU�YXUV���������������������� U QSV����������������������� U QU�YTSV�����������������
�����
������
���
 ��f����!
��	¦~��~���}�|������ §��~�� §��~��
­��~�}��|µ���±����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������®̈{«̄ ° ­�|�~�}±²�­���}�����³́£��µ~�} {~·�£���� ­�}~�}�¶|}¡~����}������~����~}� |̈}��©||�·���

��"���
��!̧�"����������¹����
���
��	�	�����	������
���
�������	̧��������	�
¹����
��̧�	h�����
��c���
¹����
��̧�	e��	�����c�����	����
��
¹����
����&
h�����	��	�
¹����
������
��
��	���
����������	���������!�g�������	������������	�
¹����
����º���h���������
�º������

����	��	����
	�������g����

�»	��
¹��	������������¼������
�	���
	����g���h��
���

�������
	��g������������



����

�������	�
��������
����������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������� ��� ���!"��#�������$��%&�%&�'%'' ()�))*����������������������#���+���������������� ,-�)./����������������������0����1234��5676878988 :;�:<<����������������������=$$��������������$�����������������>������?&�&'�'%'' ,)�@./A����������������������B�C�D4���E����F�CG��127�5676878988 HI�J<K����������������������L����$�������$�������M��� @�/-.A������������������������N$�����$�����O����� %P&'�M����Q�12�43��3�D�1C�D 
3D��2
RSTU�V�0WXRS�YZ[TW\R��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������]V�Ŵ _ 
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To the General Meeting of Soiltech AS 

  

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Soiltech AS, which comprise:  

 The financial statements of the parent company Soiltech AS (the Company), which comprise 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, statement of profit and loss and 
statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 

 the consolidated financial statements of Soiltech AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of profit 
and loss and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion 

 the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements, 
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 

31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and 

 the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and 
practices generally accepted in Norway. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by relevant laws and regulations in Norway and the International Ethics Standards 

International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information 

does not include the financial statements and our aud  Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of 

 knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the 
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regard. 

 

 is consistent with the financial statements and 
 contains the information required by applicable statutory requirements. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for asses

concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely 
that the enterprise will cease operations. 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, a
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements reference 
is made to: https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger  

  
Stavanger, 30 March 2023 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
  
  
  
Roy Henrik Heggelund 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
(This document is signed electronically)   
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APPENDIX E: 

The Company's audited consolidated financial statements for 2021 (NGAAP) 
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